University of Alberta

The Regulation of LFA-1-dependent Adhesion by

NK Activating Receptors

by



Mohammed Seif El-Nasr Osman

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in

partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF

PHILOSOPHY

in

IMMUNOLOGY

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY AND

IMMUNOLOGY

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 2007

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-33042-5 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-33042-5

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



Abstract

NK cells play an integral part in host innate responses to tumors and viruses. Mouse Ly-49 receptors regulate NK cell effector responses through either the positive actions of activating receptors, or from negative signals from inhibitory receptors. Both activating and inhibitory Ly-49 family members recognize specific alleles of MHC I, or MHC I-like proteins. MHC I allele specificity is governed, in part, by residues within the β 4- β 5 loop in the Ly-49 ectodomain, although the role of the β 4- β 5 loop has not been previously established for the inhibitory Ly-49G. The CK-1 antibody recognizes amino acid polymorphisms within the ectodomains of C57BL/6 and BALB/c Ly-49G allele products. I identified the epitopes recognized by the Ly-49G specific antibodies CK-1 and Cwy-3. CK-1 and Cwy-3 epitopes mapped within the β 4- β 5 loop and the ß1 strand, respectively, and were non-overlapping. Although both antibodies specifically recognized the Ly-49G^{B6} ectodomain, Cwy-3 was unable to block its interaction with MHC I, while CK-1 significantly inhibited it, supporting the idea that the β 4- β 5 loop plays a key role in MHC I recognition. Ligand recognition by activating Ly-49 receptors on NK cells results in target cell lysis and cytokine production, yet how they mediate such activities is not well understood. I demonstrated that these receptors trigger LFA-1 dependent tight conjugation between NK cells and target cells. I also showed that activating Ly-49 receptor engagement leads to a rapid DAP12-dependent transient up-regulation of NK cell LFA-1 affinity for ICAM-1 that is also dependent on the activities of Syk and Src kinases. In addition, I demonstrated that these receptors can substantially increase

LFA-1-dependent tight adhesion to cell-sized beads immobilized with low ICAM-1 densities. Furthermore, I demonstrated that NKG2D/DAP10, NKRP-1C/FcR- γ and CD16/FcR- γ can also regulate LFA-1-dependent adhesion to ICAM-1, although these receptors were not as potent as activating Ly-49 receptors. I propose that enhanced binding LFA-1 to ICAM-1 mediated by NK activating receptors may be a mechanism employed by NK cells to reduce the threshold required for cell activation and to induce effector responses.

Acknowledgements

Throughout my life, I have been a very blessed person. I have been blessed with good health, a good life, a wonderful family, amazing friends, and now the patience to complete this thesis. Completing this degree has been a long and arduous task. I would have not come near achieving my goal if it wasn't for the help of many role models, mentors, friends and family who I wish to acknowledge below.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Kevin Kane for many things. He has always believed in me, and pushed me forward despite my stubborn nature at times. I have always found motivation and inspiration in him. Kevin was a huge facilitator for me to complete this degree, and for starting medical school. He is by far one of the most decent people I have met, and I value his mentorship. I have grown to view him as my role model in science.

I would also like to thank my co-supervisor Dr. Deborah Burshtyn for all her help. Debby's guidance has taught me to be more critical of my data, and her influence was very important in my maturation as a scientist. Debby is very knowledgeable at the bench, and she has helped me many times to realize my science ideas into tangible results. Most importantly, learning from Kevin and Debby was an amazing privilege as I learned from two world class researchers in NK cell biology.

In addition, I would really like to emphasize how important my committee was to me throughout my graduate studies. I have always enjoyed the long scientific discussions with Dr. Andrew Shaw – a leading expert in lipid rafts, and cell signaling. He has always challenged my mind to think "outside the box". Dr. John Elliott is a tremendous role model for me as he embodies the successful clinician scientist who is very mindful of important issues in the clinic and tries to apply them on the bench. I would especially like to thank John for supporting my decision to pursue the career of a clinician-scientist, and for his guidance throughout my career. Furthermore, I really can't emphasize how instrumental Dr. Larry Guilbert, Anne Giles and Mary-Pat Gibson were in finishing my degree. They have always given me the extra little things that are important to make things happen.

In addition to my supervisors and committee members, I would really like to acknowledge Dr. Catherine Too at Dalhousie University who was first to inspire me to pursue graduate studies. Cathy's inspiration is highlighted by my thirst for reading in science.

Of course, I would have not lasted as long as I did if it wasn't for the help and support of many of my classmates. Sheryl Kirwan and Kerry Lavender were like sisters to me throughout the graduate program. They grounded me, and taught me many skills, such as multitasking, that have been important to me both on and off the bench. Nobody captures competence, and hard work more than Dong-ER Gong. She has taught me many valuable skills in the lab, and things would not have gone as smoothly without her. Finally, Brian Ma and Jay Varghese and all their help and discussions in science have been phenomenal over the years. Brian has always provided me with help with computers and troubleshooting. Both Brian and Jay have provided me with company when I worked many late nights in the Kane Lab.

To me, my family is who I am. I am a very proud Egyptian-Canadian with a strong pharaonic heritage (my unofficial last name is actually not Osman - it is SakouRae which in the language of Kemet (ancient Egypt) means those who seek truth and wisdom, ironically enough). I would like to thank my parents Seif-El Nasr and Hosnia for all their sacrifices and time. They spent countless hours and resources providing my brothers and I with the best resources and education (in life and in school). Of course, I love them and my brothers Jamal, Diaa, Ahmed and Emad with every ounce of my being, and I thank them for being there for me unconditionally over the years. They have always been my reliable rocks, as I wouldn't have finished this degree without them. I would also like to thank my beautiful wife Wassila Semaine who has been very patient and encouraging with me. She has always given me many reasons to smile especially in my most desperate hours. Wassila holds a special place in my heart. Last, but not least, I want to thank the Semaine family and my friends (you know who you are) who have given me hours of laughter, fun, chill time, smoking Cuban cigars, and watching or playing football (soccer to people in North America) - the greatest sport in history!

I dedicate this thesis to my family – Wassila, Seif-El-Nasr, Hosnia, Jamal, Diaa, Ahmed, and Emad.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION	
A. Defining a Natural Killer Cell	1
B. NK Effector Functions	
C. NK Cells and Hybrid Resistance	3
D. Major Histocompatibility Complex	4
E. Missing Self Recognition – The Missing Self Hypothesis	5
Refinement of Missing Self – The Requirement of an Activating Signal	7
F. Mouse NK Development	9
G. The NK Complex	10
H. NK Receptors of MHC I	11
KIR and Ly-49 – different receptors, similar functions	12
Ly-49 Receptors	13
Activating Ly-49	15
I. Non-MHC I Activating Receptors	16
NKG2D – an activating receptor of mouse and man	17
NKRP-1 the prototype for MHC-independent self/non-self discrimination	18
CD16 – linking innate cells to the humoral response	19
J. NK Signaling and Adhesion	19
Tight Adhesion is Important for Cytotoxicity	22
Inside-out Signaling	23
K. Thesis Rationale and Hypotheses	24
L. References	36

CHAPTER 2 - EPITOPE MAPPING OF LY-49G AND G-LIKE RECEPTORS: CK-1 ANTIBODY DEFINES A POLYMORPHIC SITE OF FUNCTIONAL INTERACTION WITH CLASS I LIGAND

A. Introduction	55
B. Materials and Methods	
Antibodies	57
Cell lines	57
Cloning of Ly-49G and site directed mutagenesis	57
Cell Transfection	58
Flow cytometric detection of Ly-49G and related receptors	58
Cytotoxicity Assays	59
C. Results	
Ly-49 receptor specificities of alloantibodies	60
CK-1 and Cwy-3 epitope mapping	61
Differential inhibition of Ly-49G ^{B6} ectodomain functional interaction with its ligand	63
D. Discussion	65
E. Individual Contributions/Acknowledgements	
F. References	

CHAPTER 3 - ACTIVATING LY-49 RECEPTORS REGULATE	LFA
MEDIATED ADHESION BY NK CELLS	
A. Introduction	84
B. Materials and Methods	
Antibodies and Cell lines	86
Flow cytometry	86
Mutagenesis of Ly-49P	87
Immuno-blotting	87
Cytotoxicity Assays	87
Animals	87
Conjugate Assays	88
Plate-bound ICAM-1 adhesion assay	88
C. Results	
Ly-49P dependent lysis requires LFA-1	90
<i>Ly-49P promotes adhesion to susceptible target cells in an LFA-1 dependent manner</i>	90
Ly-49P-mediated adhesion is DAP12 dependent	91
Cross-linking of Ly-49P leads to DAP12 dependent inside-out signals	
regulating LFA-1 binding to mouse ICAM-1	92
Ex vivo NK cells regulate LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 via Ly-49D	92
D. Discussion	94
E. Individual Contributions/Acknowledgments	97
F. References	105

CHAPTER 4 - MULTIPLE NK ACTIVATING RECEPTORS REGULATE LFA-1 ADHESION BY EX VIVO NK CELLS 110

A. Introduction	112
B. Materials and Methods	
Animals and injections	115
NK cell purification, cell lines and antibodies	115
Flow Cytometry	116
Purification of mouse ICAM-1 and the immobilization of ICAM-1 on cell-sized beads	116
Cytotoxicity Assays	117
Conjugate Assays	117
C. Results	
Ex vivo NK cells regulate LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1 via Ly-49D, CD16,NKG2D and NKRP-1C	119
Ly-49D-induced adhesion is more sensitive to ICAM-1	120
Ly-49D/DAP12 triggered binding via LFA-1 is kinetically distinct from that induced by CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C	121
Ly-49D, CD16, and NKRP-1C but not NKG2D receptor complexes can trigger a cytotoxic response against tumor targets using ex vivo NK cells	122
Poly I:C activation of NK cells does not regulate LFA-1-mediated adhesion	122
D. Discussion	124
E. Individual Contributions/Acknowledgements	129
F. References	135

ED 3 - ACTIVATING LY-49 RECEPTORS REGULATE LFA-1

CHAPTER 5 – GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

A. Ly-49 Allele specificity – a role for the β 4- β 5 loop and CK-1	143	
B. CK-1 and Cwy-3 are useful for studying Ly-49 receptors in vitro	143	
and in vivo		
C. Activating Ly-49s lower the threshold for ex vivo NK activation by regulating LFA-1-dependent adhesion		
D. Non-DAP12 associated NK receptors regulate increased LFA-1	150	
binding to ICAM-1 – a unique role for activating Ly-49 or DAP12?		
E. Future Directions		
Activating NK Receptors and the Regulation of LFA-1 Adhesion	153	
Signaling Adapters and their roles in regulating LFA-1 through inside-out signaling	154	
Role of palmitoylation in Ly-49 Activating receptor promotion of LFA-1 inside-out signaling	155	
F. Conclusions	157	
G. References		
Appendix		
Appendix 1. Ly49A disrupts adhesion between NK cells and susceptible target cells its ligand $H-2D^d$.	170	
Appendix 2. Ly-49-mediated lysis requires SFK and Syk kinase activity.		

Appendix 3. Activating KIR increase adhesion of human NK clones to 172 target cells bearing their MHC I ligand.

Appendix 4. Ly-49D crosslinking on *ex vivo* NK cells results in increased 173 LFA-1 affinity and avidity.

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Description	Page
1-1	Mouse and Human MHC genes	27
1-2	NK cells from different strains have a different Ly-49	34
	receptor expression profile	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Description	Page
1-1	NK cells induce contact-dependent cytotoxicity of target cells	26
	through different mechanisms.	
1-2	Structure of MHC I	28
1-3	Missing Self Recognition by NK cells	29
1-4	Licensing vs Disarming of NK cells	30
1-5	Model for NK cell development in the bone marrow	31
1-6	The Human and Mouse NKC	32
1-7	Activating and inhibitory NK receptors	33
1-8	Signaling Pathways from NK receptors	35
2-1	The CK-1 and Cwy-3 antibodies recognize partially overlapping sets of Ly-49 receptors	70
2-2	Amino acid alignment of Ly-49G and Ly-49G-related receptors from different mouse strains	71
2-3	Recognition by Cwy-3 and CK-1 antibodies requires distinct Ly-49G ^{B6} amino acid residues.	72
2-4	CK-1 recognition requires two aspartic acid residues, 249 and 2 of Ly-49G2 ^{B6}	
2-5	CK-1 and Cwy-3 recognize distinct non-overlapping epitopes	74
2-6	Epitope dependence of Ly-49G interaction with ligand	75
2-7	Location of Ly-49G residues that determine CK-1 and Cwy-3 binding and their interaction with H-2D ^d	76
S Fig 2-1 Ly-49G2 ^{NOD} is positive for staining with CK-1 but not Cwy-3		
S. Fig 2	-2 RNK-16 cells are not recognized by 4D11, CK-1 or Cwy-3	78
3-1	Lv-49P and LFA-1 control cytolysis by RNK-P cells.	98
3-2	Ly-49P regulates adhesion of RNK cells to P815 cells in a LFA-1/ICAM-1 dependent manner	99
3-3	DAP12 association with Ly-49P is required for RNK-P cell adhesion to P815 target cells	100
3-4	Cross-linking of Ly-49P leads to DAP12 and Src/Syk kinase	101
	dependent upregulation of LFA-1 binding to isolated ICAM-1	
3-5	Cross-linking of Ly-49D induces <i>ex vivo</i> NK cells to bind ICAM-1 via LFA-1	102
S. Fig 3	-1 Ly49P(R57L) expresses CD8α and CD11a and can perform ADCC	103
S. Fig 3	-2 Increased ICAM-1 binding by Ly-49D requires primary mAb crosslinking by secondary antibodies	104

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure	Description	Page
4-1	Engagement of CD16, NKG2D, NKRP-1C and Ly-49D increases adhesion of NK cells to ICAM-1 in an LFA-1 dependent manner	130
4-2	CD16, NKG2D, NKRP-1C and Ly-49D increase adhesion of NK cells to ICAM-1 in an LFA-1 dependent manner	131
4-3	Ly-49D induces a very rapid but transient and substantial adhesion of NK cells to ICAM-1 beads, while CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C induce a mild but sustained level of adhesion	132
4-4	Ly-49D, CD16, and NKRP-1C can trigger a cytotoxic NK response in <i>ex vivo</i> NK cells	133
4-5	NK priming <i>in vivo</i> does not increase activating receptor-induced adhesion of LFA-1 for ICAM-1	134
5-1	Activating Ly-49 receptors lower the threshold for NK cell activation through the induction of inside-out signaling culminating in the activation of LFA-1	158
5-2	Proposed inside-out signaling mediators in response to Ly-49D induction	159
5-3	Schematic representation of the CD4 chimeric receptors	160
5-4	Schematic representation of the wild type Ly-49P1 receptor, and a mutant receptor with a C39A amino acid substitution	161

List of abbreviations

Ab	antibody
ADCC	antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity
ADAP	adhesion and degranulation promoting adapter protein
APC	allophycocyanin
BCR	B cell receptor
B6	C57BL/6
β2m	β2-microglobulin
Ca ⁺⁺	divalent calcium ions
CD3 ζ	CD3 zeta signaling adapter chain
⁵¹ Cr	Na ⁵¹ CrO ₄
CRD	carbohydrate recognition domain
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DAP12	DNA-X protein of 12 kDa
DAP10	DNA-X protein of 10 kDa
DNAM-1	DNA-X activating molecule-1
E/T ratio	effector to target ratio
FCS	heat inactivated fetal calf serum
FSC	forward scatter
FcR-γ	Fc gamma receptor signaling adapter
Grz	granzyme
GPI	glycerophosphatidyl inositol
gam	goat anti-mouse IgG
gar	goat anti-rat IgG
HC	heavy chain
HCMV	human cytomegalovirus
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
HR	hybrid resistance
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell progenitor
Ig	immunoglobulin
IC	immune complex
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule-1
IFNγ	interferon
IL	interleukin
IL-2Rβ	interleukin 2 receptor beta chain
IL-15	interleukin 15
IL-15Rα	interleukin 15 receptor alpha chain

iNK	immature natural killer cell
i.p.	intraperitoneal
ITAM	immunoreceptor tyrosine based activation motif
ITIM	immunoreceptor tyrosine based inhibitory motifs
IS	immunological synapse
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
kDa	kilo Dalton
KIR	killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor
LAT	linker of activation in T cells
LFA-1	leukocyte function adhesion molecule 1
LRC	leukocyte receptor complex
mAh	monoclonal antibody
MCMV	mouse cytomegalovirus
MFI	mean fluorescence intensity
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
mNK	mature NK cell
NK	natural killer cell
NKG2D-L	long isoform of NKG2D
NKG2D-S	short isoform of NKG2D
NOD	non-obese diabetic
NTAL	non-T cell activation linker
DDD	
PDB	protein database
pDC	plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PI3K	phosphoinositide-3- kinase
PLC-γ	phospholipases C gamma
poly I:C	poly inosinic acid:cytodylic acid
Prp	proline-rich protein
RapL	regulator cell adhesion and cell polarization enriched in lymphoid
tissue	
CUD	
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
SFK SUD 1	SIC-family kinase
SHIP 2	SH2 domain containing phosphatase-1
SHP-2	SH2 domain containing phosphatase-2
	dimoria soluble ICAM 1 Equation metain
SICAWI-1-FC	SH2 domain containing laukagete metain = £7(1)
SLT-/0	side sector
SSU Sult	side scaller
бук	spienocyte tyrosine kinase

TAP TcR TNE-a	transporter of antigen processing T cell receptor tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRAIL	tumor necrosis factor related apoptosis inducing ligand
VLA-2	very late antigen-2
ZAP-70	zeta chain associated protein of 70 kDa

Chapter 1 - Introduction

A. Defining a Natural Killer Cell

The ongoing definition of natural killer (NK) cells has transformed over time from a simple activity, to a diversity of functions coupled with a still evolving repertoire of expressed cell surface markers. NK cells were first functionally identified as cells derived from mouse spleens that can efficiently lyse Moloney leukemia cells without prior sensitization (1, 2). From this observation, they were deemed as "naturally occurring killer cells" or natural killer cells. Although NK cells, like T cells, originate in the bone marrow; they mature in mostly a thymus-independent fashion (3, 4). In fact, unlike T or B cells, NK cells lack the expression of clonally distinct receptors that recognize a particular antigen. Moreover, mice that are deficient in the RAG-1 and RAG-2 recombinase genes do not develop mature B or T cells, as these enzymes are required for the rearrangement of antigen specific clonotypic receptors, whereas the NK cell compartment remains intact (5), (6).

In humans, NK cells are identified as being CD3 negative lymphocytes that express the molecule CD56 on their surface (7). CD56 is an N-linked glycoprotein that is expressed pre-dominantly on the surface of NK cells and some T lymphocytes (8). CD56 is a member of the human neural-cell adhesion molecule (N-CAM) family, and CD56 does not appear to have a clear function on human NK cells (8, 9). Human NK cells can be classified into two major populations based upon the cell-surface density of CD56 (7). Most NK cells in the blood (approximately 90%) have a lower density of CD56 (CD56^{dim}) and are highly cytotoxic, whereas higher expressing cells, or CD56^{bright} cells are less cvtotoxic, but produce large amounts of cytokines following activation (10). In addition, CD56^{bright} cells can differentiate into CD56^{dim} cells. In contrast to human NK cells, CD56 is not a good pan-NK surface marker in mice. Instead, the NK1.1 antigen, recognized by the PK136 antibody antigen now the NKRP-1C receptor, is used to define murine NK cells in mouse strains such as C57BL/6 (B6). However, some mouse strains, such as BALB/c, do not express NKRP-1C on the surface of their NK cells. Consequently, the marker DX5, or CD49b, is employed as a pan-NK marker as it is more widely expressed on mature mouse NK cells and some T cells. DX5 corresponds to the integrin CD49b/VLA-2 (very late antigen-2, α 2-integrin) which is expressed on many cell types, and is known to bind to collagen or laminin, although binding of NK cells to collagen is not blocked by DX5 mAbs (11). In addition, DX5 does not appear to regulate NK cell activation in mouse NK cells (11). Moreoever, unlike CD56, it is not clear whether the levels of cell surface DX5 are indicative of functional differences within NK cell subsets *in vivo*.

NK cells have been shown to play a critical role in controlling viral infections in both mice and humans. For example, an adolescent patient with a germline NK cell deficiency developed a primary life-threatening human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) infection despite normal T and B cell functions (12). Similarly, NK cells play an integral role in regulating mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infections. For example, the beige mouse, which lacks a functional inducible cytolytic NK response, is highly susceptible to MCMV infections (13). Importantly, *in vivo* depletion of NK cells using antibodies against the NK marker NK1.1 in B6 mice results in a marked increase in infection with MCMV (14). From the observation that NK cells specifically destroy tumor cells without prior sensitization, and the important role they play in regulating Herpes viral infections, many subsequent studies have been conducted to shed light on cell recognition and effector functions of NK cells.

B. NK Effector Functions

NK cells provide immunity to viral infections and help minimize the dissemination of tumors by their ability to destroy 'altered' cells following their interaction with activated dendritic cells which 'prime' NK responses through an IL-15 dependent mechanism (1, 2, 15, 16). They eliminate cells through a variety of mechanisms which include the perforin/granzyme pathway, the FasL/Fas or other death receptor interactions, and the release of a plethora of cytokines. Collectively, these mechanisms place NK cells in the forefront for controlling infections and destroying tumors.

NK cells are large granular lymphocytes that are not restricted by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules for recognition (17). NK cells and cytotoxic T cells (CTL) have electron-dense cytotoxic granules within their cytoplasms. These lytic granules contain the protein perforin and a family of proteases known as granzymes, which upon exocytosis induce the destruction of the target cells. The degranulation, or exocytosis, of these granules is a contactdependent mechanism (18, 19). Following target cell recognition, tight adhesion between the NK cell and the target cells leads to the aggregation of a number of receptors, and the formation of an organized structure within the membrane known as the immunological synapse (IS) (20). At the synapse, granules are delivered in a polarized fashion toward the target cell. Perforin promotes the delivery of granzymes into the target cell cytosol which ultimately induce the death of that cell via apoptosis (Fig. 1-1). Alternatively, the apoptotic signal can be delivered via the interaction of FasL or TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) on the surface of the NK cell with their respective ligands present on target cells(21, 22). In addition to promoting the induction of target cell apoptosis, the IS is involved in the release of NK-derived cytokines such as interferon gamma (IFN- γ), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (23). The release of NK-derived IFN-y can induce antigen presenting cells activation and, in turn augment antigen presenting cell phagocytic and MHC antigen processing capacities, thereby modulating the MHC-specific cell mediated response. In addition, the NK cell secretion of TNF- α and chemokines act as proinflammatory stimuli which promote the recruitment and extravasation of inflammatory cells at the site of infection. Together, NK-derived cytokines can skew the immune response to favor the clearance of the viral infection (24, 25).

C. NK Cells and Hybrid Resistance

One of the earliest observations that provided some insight into NK cell recognition was the phenomenon known as hybrid resistance (HR). It referred to the ability of a lethally irradiated F_1 mouse to reject bone marrow grafts from either parent (26). This observation contrasted with the accepted transplantation

paradigm at the time, where solid organ grafts or skin grafts were solely rejected based on non-self determinants on the graft. During the quest to understand the origin of the cells mediating HR, it was determined that cells derived from the bone marrow, or "M cells", were responsible for this phenomenon (27). Subsequently, it was determined that NK cells were the cells responsible for mediating HR as it was still evident in severe combined immuno-deficiency (SCID) mice which have a severely compromised B and T cell compartment (28, 29). The ability of NK cells to mediate HR was not reconciled with classical transplantation until MHC I was determined to regulate NK cell recognition by a concept proposed by Kärre and colleagues in what came to be known as the "Missing Self Hypothesis".

D. Major Histocompatibility Complex

In order to discuss "missing self" and attempt to understand NK cell regulation, it is necessary to understand and review the MHC complex. The MHC gene cluster is located on mouse chromosome 17, or human chromosome 6. In mice, they are known as H-2 genes; while they are referred to as Human Leukocyte Antigens (HLA) in humans (Table 1-1). MHC genes are grouped into three categories: class I, class II or class III where each class represents a different function in immunity. MHC III genes include cytokines (TNF- α and TNF- β), complement proteins (C2 and C4) and some proteins involved in antigen processing (Lmp2, and TAP). MHC I and II proteins, on the other hand, are a group of highly polymorphic genes that present antigens in the form of peptides that can be recognized by CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell subsets, respectively, through their respective TCRs. MHC II proteins are only expressed on the surfaces of antigen presenting cells, whereas almost all nucleated cells express MHC I proteins. MHC II proteins display peptides formed as a result of the phagocytosis and breakdown of pathogenic organisms by antigen presenting cells, and present these peptides to CD4⁺ T cells. On the other hand, MHC I proteins bind to peptides that are derived from the degradation of intracellular cellular and viral proteins which in turn can be recognized by CD8⁺ T cells. In other words, MHC I proteins provide a means for the immune system to monitor intracellular infections, and the overall health of the cell.

MHC I proteins are non-covalently associated heterodimers comprised of an N-linked glycosylated 44-47 kilo Dalton (kDa) polypeptide (heavy chain, HC), and a smaller 12 kDa beta 2 microglobulin (β 2m) light chain (**Fig. 1-2**). Coassociation of the two polypeptides is required for the stable surface expression of mature MHC I. For instance, cells from mice deficient in β 2m do not express surface HC (30). In addition, mutant cell lines lacking β 2m obtain surface MHC I expression upon the ectopic transfection of only the β 2m gene (31). The HC contains three extracellular Immunoglobulin (Ig) domains: α 1, α 2, and α 3; and a single transmembrane region that spans the membrane into the cytosol. β 2m noncovalently associates with the α 3 domain, while the MHC I peptide binding capacity is fulfilled by the α 1 and α 2 domains. The tertiary structure of these two domains forms two alpha helices (one from each domain) making a groove that can bind peptides. The size of this cleft limits the bound peptides to 8-10 amino acid residues in length (32).

E. Missing Self Recognition – The Missing Self Hypothesis

How can NK cells distinguish between normal cells and virally infected, or tumor cells? In fact, how are healthy cells protected from NK autoagression, and why do NK cells reject both parental grafts in an F₁ hybrid mouse? In 1986, Klas Kärre and colleagues proposed an idea suggesting that NK cytotoxicity of altered cells stems from their loss or absence of MHC I, rather than from any other changes to them (33). Kärre used a series of elegant experiments to demonstrate that NK cell cytotoxicity was inversely proportional to the presence of MHC I on target cells. He selected for mutant tumour cells that expressed lower levels of MHC I by eliminating MHC I ^{high} cells using specific antibodies and complement, then injected either the parental or mutant tumor cells into syngeneic mice (33-35). Only the mutant tumor cells did not grow in the mice, suggesting that the absence of self-MHC I on the tumor cells conferred a growth disadvantage *in vivo*. To link this observation to NK cells, he depleted NK cells

by injecting mice with anti-asialo-GM1, which resulted in increased tumor growth. In other words, NK cell recognition was limiting the MHC deficient tumor's spread because it was susceptible to NK-mediated cytolysis, but upon the re-introduction of MHC I, NK control of the tumour was lost, and the tumour could overwhelm its host in the absence of both a T and an NK cell response.

Kärre proposed two models to describe how MHC I was quelling NK cell cytolytic responses: the "target interference", or the "effector inhibition" model (36). In the former model, a large density of MHC I molecules actively hindered an NK activating receptor from engaging its ligand on the target cell, whereas the latter one proposed that MHC I on the target cell delivered a negative signal that inhibited NK cell cytolysis. Direct evidence supporting Kärre's effector inhibition model was first demonstrated with the observation that NK-sensitive target cells expressing the MHC I molecule H-2D^d are completely resistant to IL-2 activated mouse NK cells expressing the inhibitory receptor Ly-49A (37). Later, it was established that $H-2D^d$ was directly recognized by Ly-49A thereby firmly establishing a receptor/ligand relationship between Ly-49A and a MHC I molecule (38). Similarly, the inhibitory receptor, KIR2DL1, was shown to deliver an inhibitory signal on human NK cells following recognition of its HLA-C ligand (39). It is now evident that NK cells in both mouse and humans express a large repertoire of inhibitory receptors which can engage MHC I and deliver an inhibitory signal. Upon the introduction and corroboration of Kärre's hypothesis, HR of bone marrow grafts can be properly explained. According to the Missing Self Hypothesis, NK cells will engage and eliminate cells with a "missing self", or cells originating from either parent. However, NK cells are not uniform in their expression of cell surface receptors. Instead, they are heterogeneous in their expression of inhibitory receptors which have distinct specificities for MHC I alleles. Consequently, NK cells that do not express an inhibitory receptor recognizing one of the parental MHC I molecules will be free to destroy the grafts (Fig. 1-3).

From studies as early as those establishing from HR, it was evident that NK cells have the capacity to destroy normal bone marrow cells. So how can NK

cells remain inert to normal self cells despite the presence of positive NK cell signals? As highlighted by the Missing Self Hypothesis, MHC I plays an integral role in maintaining NK cell protection of 'unaltered' cells (33). MHC I also plays an important role in regulating NK cell tolerance to self. For example, B6 mice expressing a transgenic MHC I H-2D^d allele (normally just H-2^b) no longer accept bone marrow grafts from normal non-transgenic B6 mice, suggesting that NK cells are only tolerant to cells expressing self-MHC I (40).

These observations can be explained using Kärre's effector inhibition model where an inhibitory receptor recognizing self-MHC I prevents NK autoaggression. Thus, MHC I plays a pivotal role in maintaining self tolerance. However, several properties of the MHC I inhibitory receptor system add several layers of complexity to this process. First, MHC I is highly polymorphic with a large amount of allelic variation. In addition, individual NK inhibitory receptors can only recognize certain molecules or groups of MHC I. For example, Ly-49A recognizes the H-2D^d MHC I allele, whereas another inhibitor – Ly-49C recognizes H-2K^b and both receptors are expressed on subsets of NK cells from a B6 mouse (41). Furthermore, a linked genetic mechanism of inheritance is not possible as MHC I genes are inherited independently from inhibitory receptor genes. Moreover, MHC I-specific inhibitory receptors are only expressed by a subset of NK cells, and their expression is mediated by mostly a random process (41). In other words, many NK cells will express inhibitory receptors that will recognize an MHC I allele presented by the host, but some NK cells may not express inhibitory receptors recognizing self-MHC I.

Refinement of Missing Self – The Requirement of an Activating Signal

The lack of recognition by an inhibitory receptor for MHC I is not sufficient to induce an NK cytolytic response - an additional positive signal by an activating or stimulatory receptor is required. In other words, a positive signal generated from an activating receptor can initiate and trigger the cytolytic machinery in the absence of inhibitory receptors signals (see Fig. 1-3) (42). Activating receptors that recognize viral or "altered self" protein products provide this positive signal for cytolysis (42). For example, the triggering receptor Ly-49H substantially augments NK activity by recognizing the MCMV MHC-like m157 gene product on virally infected cells (43). In addition to activating receptors recognizing specific 'altered' self ligands, NK cells express natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCR), such as NKp30, NKp46 and NKp44, which provide them with the means to 'naturally' lyse tumor cells (44). Together, these receptors confer NK cells with natural cytotoxicity capacities because these receptors collectively sense for the expression of altered self ligands, and cumulatively provide NK cells with positive signals that promote cytotoxicity. However, receptors that only provide positive cytotoxic signals in the presence of signals derived from the adaptive immune response (e.g. CD16 engagement of IgG) are not considered to contribute to natural cytotoxicity. Thus, the outcome resulting from the engagement of an NK cell with its target is a direct reflection of the combined input of positive and negative signals from activating, and inhibitory receptors.

Several mechanisms have been proposed by different groups to explain how NK cells maintain a tolerance to self, and none of these mechanisms are mutually exclusive. The 'at least one' model is in line with the Käre's effector inhibition model where it explains NK tolerance to self by suggesting that 'at least one' NK inhibitory receptor recognizing self-MHC I is expressed on the surface of every NK cell. In this process, maturing NK cells sequentially express different inhibitory receptors until the cell expresses one or more inhibitory receptors for self. Indirect evidence for this model was initially provided by the observation that in human NK clones derived from two different donors, each clone expressed an inhibitory receptor specific for the donor's MHC I molecules (45). Other studies suggested that NK cells 'acquire' the expression of inhibitory receptors in an MHC I-dependent manner (46). In contrast, NK cells purified from a β 2m deficient animal were also tolerant to self splenic blasts *in vitro* and in vivo – suggesting that MHC I is not the only player in conferring tolerance (47, 48). Interestingly, the cells derived from this deficient mouse exhibited reduced NK effector responses to tumor cells.

The importance of MHC I in promoting NK cell cytolytic capacity was corroborated from other studies (49, 50). Work from David Raulet's laboratory clearly demonstrated that nearly 10 % of splenic NK cells lacked the expression of all the inhibitory receptors known to interact with self-MHC I in a B6 mouse. It also suggested that this NK cell subset had a reduced capacity to lyse NKsensitive tumor targets, or normal cells lacking the expression of MHC I. These NK cells were also less able to trigger an effective cytokine, or cytolytic response following the crosslinking of several activating receptors, and this difference did not stem from a difference in receptor expression. Similarly, Wayne Yokoyama's group provided more insight into this phenomenon by engineering a mouse that only expressed H-2K^b, the ligand for Ly-49C, or a mouse that only expresses H- $2D^{d}$, the ligand for Ly-49A. Ly-49C⁺ NK cells derived from the H-2K^b mouse were more functionally potent than their Ly-49C⁻ counterparts. Likewise, the Ly- $49A^+$ NK cells from an H-2D^d mouse were also more cytolytic than the Ly-49A⁻ The authors proposed that self-MHC I-specific inhibitory NK cells (49). receptors expressed on the surface of NK provided these NK cells with positive signals that "licensed" their effector functions; however, the nature of these signals remain to be defined (49). Thus, inhibitory receptors' interactions with self MHC I impart NK cells with a higher functional capacity through a mechanism independent from the expression of activating receptor genes, or with proteins required for NK-mediated cytolysis, that involves either 'disarming' NK cells (according to David Raulet), or 'licensing' them for cytotoxicity during their development (according to Wayne Yokoyama) (49, 50) (Fig 1-4).

F. Mouse NK development

NK cell development occurs mostly in the bone marrow and can be separated into three stages (**Fig. 1-5**): the generation of committed immature NK precursors (iNK) from hematopoietic stem cell progenitors (HSC), the acquisition of receptors involved in target cell recognition, and the final development into fully functional mature NK (mNK) cells. In the first phase, HSC commit to produce iNK cells, thereby preventing further differentiation into erythroid or myeloid precursors. At the end of this phase, CD122 (interleukin-2 receptor beta (IL-2R β) is induced. iNKs are non-cytolytic cells expressing the surface markers CD122⁺/NK1.1⁺/CD69⁺/NKG2A^{+high} (51). Although they require several cytokines during their maturation, IL-15 is the only one that is clearly indispensable for the development of mature NK (mNK) cells.

iNK cells express the IL-15 receptor complex comprised of CD122 and CD132 (γ c), and this expression is important for their survival (52, 53). Mice deficient in either receptor, the unique IL-15 receptor α (IL-15R α) expressed by bone marrow stromal cells and antigen presenting cells, or in IL-15 do not develop mature NK cells (54, 55). Unlike other cytokines, IL-15 does not function as a soluble factor. Instead, following its synthesis, it binds to its unique high affinity IL-15R α receptor expressed by the same cell, and engages NK or memory CD8+ T cells expressing its receptor complex (56). Developing iNKs receive IL-15 survival signals from bone marrow stromal cells expressing IL-15R α (57, 58). It is also highly likely that such IL-15 trans-presentation provides peripheral mNK with survival signals (59).

The transition into the final stage of NK development is marked by the uniform expression of DX5 and CD122 (60). During this stage, they acquire their tolerance for self-MHC I and their cytolytic capacities. Functionally, cells expressing uniform levels of these markers have a high cytotoxic capacity and express inhibitory receptors recognizing self-MHC I. Once activated, they can enter the periphery where they can fulfill their roles in immunosurveillance, the release of cytokines, or the 'priming' of the adaptive immune response.

G. The NK Complex

Mice contain a 4 Mb genomic region on the distal portion of chromosome 6 known as the NK complex (NKC) (**Fig. 1-6**). This region encodes genes important for NK cell function, and is highly enriched in DNA sequences corresponding to activating and inhibitory NK C-type lectin receptors (61). These genes are clustered in a region that is flanked by the alpha-2-microglobulin (α 2m) gene, and the proline-rich protein (Prp) gene cluster (62, 63). Human NK cells

also express C-type lectin genes encoded in their NKC found on human chromosome 12 (61).

The importance of the NKC in immune function has been highlighted from mouse genetic studies that have mapped genes responsible for viral immunity, or immune function to regions within the complex. For example, the mouse Cmvl locus confers resistance to MCMV; whereas resistance to ectromelia virus is mapped to a different region in the the NKC (14, 64). Similarly, the *Chok* gene responsible for conferring murine NK cells with the ability to destroy chinese hamster ovary tumor cells was also mapped to that region (65). Later, both the *Cmvl* and the *Chok* loci were identified as members of the Ly-49 receptor family (65, 66).

In addition to the Ly-49 receptor family, two additional NKC gene cluster families are expressed on mouse and human NK cells: the NKRP-1 family from which NKRP-1C or NK1.1 has extensively been used to characterize NK cells from a B6 mouse, and the NKG2(A-H)/CD94 family of hetero- and homodimers. Both of these families encode activating or inhibitory receptors, and are not restricted in expression to NK cells. Inhibitory receptors contain immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIM, consensus sequence I/V/L/SxYxxL/V (42)) within their cytoplasmic tail which trigger a biochemical signaling cascade leading to the suppression of NK cytolysis or cytokine release. Activating receptors lack ITIMs, or intrinsic signaling capacities. Instead, they associate with signaling adapter proteins such as DAP12, DAP10, or $Fc\gamma$ through intramembrane electrostatic interactions. These adapters contain immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAM, consensus sequence D/ExxYxxL(x)₆- $_8YxxL/I$ (42)) or other motifs that trigger NK effector functions (**Fig. 1-7**).

H. NK receptors of MHC I

Because NK cells express many receptors that modulate their activities, only those relevant to this thesis will be introduced. The KIR MHC receptors will be discussed in addition to the mouse NK receptors because some of the conclusions drawn from this thesis will be extended to human NK cells in the *Discussion* chapter.

KIR and Ly-49 – different receptors, similar functions

The killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) and the Ly-49 family of receptors are likely to be examples of convergent evolution. Like the *Ly-49* family, *KIR* is a large multigene family of MHC I receptors expressed on human NK cells, NKT cells, and some $CD8^+$ T cells. Unlike *Ly-49*, *KIR* are not expressed by NK cells in rodents and are not a part of the NKC. Instead, they are found as a cluster of genes in a region known as the leukocyte receptor complex (LRC) present on chromosomes 19q26 or 7 in humans or mice, respectively. Certain *KIR* haplotypes are phenotypically associated with innate or autoimmune responses such as the elimination of tumors, rheumatoid arthritis or psoriasis in humans (67-69).

KIR and Ly-49 are functional orthologues, but are structurally distinct. Ly-49 are C-type lectins that are type II membrane receptors expressed as disulphide-linked homodimers on the cell surface (67). Each monomer of an inhibitory Ly-49 contains a single ITIM within its cytoplasmic tail. KIR, on the other hand, are type I transmembrane receptors with two or three immunoglobulin-like (Ig-like) domains in the extracellular domain, and long (containing two ITIMs) or short cytoplasmic tails, corresponding to inhibitory or activating receptors, respectively. 'Short' KIR are truncated forms of full length receptors, and thereby lack ITIMs, but contain the transmembrane charged residue required for DAP12 association (70). The KIR extracellular Ig domains dictate the HLA allele specificity, while their intracellular domains assign their functional capacities. Importantly, the inheritance of activating KIR genes encoding a similar extracellular domain as an inhibitory receptor gene is believed to stem from gene duplication, followed by recombination events (71). An example of such an event is illustrated by the gene pair KIR2DL1 and KIR2DS1 (where the former has the long tail, and the latter has the shorter one). Studies using the extracellular domain of KIR2DL1 and KIR2DS1 suggest that inhibitory

KIR bind with a higher affinity than activating KIR to their HLA-Cw4 natural ligand (72). Thus, it is possible that activating KIR have evolved to monitor viral infection through minor alterations in HLA structure (73).

Ly-49 Receptors

The Ly-49 gene family, like KIR, are a multigene (Ly-49A-X) receptor family (41, 74) that unlike KIR, are clustered in the most telomeric region in the NKC on mouse chromosome 6 (62). With the exception of Ly49B, all Ly49 genes are organized in tandem within a region 420 kb in length (75). In addition, Southern blot, RT-PCR and flow cytometric analyses from B6, 129/J, BALB/c, and non-obese diabetic (NOD) mouse strains have demonstrated that different inbred mouse strains have different Ly49 gene content and receptor expression profiles (62, 74, 76-78) (**Table 1-2**). In addition to differences in gene content, different strains also encode different alleles of the same gene – also contributing to Ly-49 receptor diversity between mouse strains. For example, NK cells derived from B6 and BALB/c strains both express Ly-49G; however, the two strains express different alleles of this receptor which can be discriminated by different antibodies (79, 80).

Ly-49 are expressed on the surfaces of murine NK cells, NKT cells, CD8⁺ T cells, macrophages (for Ly-49B) and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC, for Ly-49Q) (41, 81, 82). Like KIR, there are two types of Ly-49 – activating and inhibitory. Interestingly, like KIR they act as receptors for MHC I and virally encoded MHC I-like molecules in some cases, although the recognition of MHC-like viral ligands by KIR remains to be defined. NK cell expression of individual Ly-49 receptors is heterogeneous; i.e. an individual NK cell can express several Ly-49 receptors simultaneously on its surface (83-85). In fact, it has been suggested that the frequency of an NK cell expressing different Ly-49 receptors is governed by the "product rule" where the probability for expressing two receptors simultaneously is the product of their respective frequencies. Furthermore, the acquisition of inhibitory Ly-49 expression by NK cells occurs through a stochastic process (86). On the other hand, activating Ly-49 induction is more

tightly regulated. Studies using NK cells derived from a B6 mouse have shown that NK cells expressing the activating receptor Ly-49H preferentially also express Ly-49D (87). Moreover, Ly-49 receptors are expressed mostly in a monoallelic fashion, although a minority of NK cells express a receptor from both alleles (88, 89).

The variegated expression of Ly-49 is primarily controlled at the transcriptional level (90). In fact, a splenic mNK cell can express from zero to five different Ly-49 receptors, with an average of two or three receptors per cell, as determined by single cell RT-PCR. Studies conducted by Saleh and colleagues have provided an exquisite mechanism describing how Ly-49 receptor transcription is regulated (91). The model involves a distal bidirectional promoter, Pro1, proximal to each Ly-49 gene only active in iNK cells, that is followed by two distal promoters active in mNK cells. In the active Ly-49 allele, activation by competing transcription factors at the Pro1 site in the forward direction favors transcription at the other distal Ly-49 promoters, while transcription in the reverse direction at the Pro1 site inhibits the transcriptional activation at the distal Ly-49 promoters. Once forward transcription occurs at the Pro1 site for Ly-49 in an immature NK cell, it is maintained for that Ly-49 throughout development and in the mNK cell. Upon expression, the interactions between Ly-49 and self-MHC I play a critical role in maintaining tolerance to self.

Ly-49 receptors recognize MHC I in an allele specific manner (37, 92, 93). Recognition of MHC I is mediated by the Ly-49 carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) in the extracellular domain (94). Interestingly, Ly-49 stalk regions (~70 aa) are substantially longer than similar regions in other receptors – suggesting that they may recognize MHC I present on the same cell (*cis* recognition) as well as MHC I on different cells (95). In fact, this mechanism of *cis* recognition has been proposed as a method in regulating cellular responses to ligands expressed on other cells (96, 97).

Many of the models developed to explain the mechanism regulating Ly-49 specificity for MHC I have been based on the co-crystal structure proposed by

Tormo and colleagues between the CRD region of the inhibitory Ly-49A and its H-2D^d MHC I ligand (98). In this co-crystal, two potential interaction sites between Ly-49A and H-2D^d were suggested. The first, or 'site 1' interaction, is located at one end of the peptide-binding groove in the $\alpha 2$ domain of the MHC I heavy chain, while the other, or 'site 2', interaction is present under the more conserved peptide-binding region comprising areas in the α 3 region of the heavy chain and residues within β_{2m} . It is now clear that site 2 is the primary interaction site as the mutagenesis of single solvent-exposed residues in this region abrogated Ly-49 recognition (99, 100). So how does Ly-49 maintain its allele specificity when it interacts with a region of MHC I that is highly conserved? Very recently, it has been suggested that Ly-49 receptors have a preference for MHC I supertypes, or groups of MHC I allele products that share a preference for specific amino acid residues within the bound peptide. Remarkably, mouse Ly-49 receptors recognizing specific mouse MHC I alleles also interact with rat MHC I sharing the same supertypes as the mouse MHC I alleles they recognize. These studies suggest that supertype recognition may be a fundamental function of Ly-49 receptors (101).

Activating Ly-49

Activating Ly-49 receptors, like their inhibitory counterparts, recognize MHC I or viral homologues of MHC I. For example, Nakamura and colleagues first demonstrated that Ly-49D, an activating receptor expressed in B6, 129/J and NOD mouse strains, recognizes H-2D^d, but not another MHC I allele H-2D^b (102). Similarly, Ly-49P, another activating receptor expressed in the NOD strain, also recognizes H-2D^d but not H-2D^b and also weakly interacts with H-2D^k (103). Structurally, activating and inhibitory Ly-49 are highly homologous within their extracellular domain – suggesting the presence of paired receptors similar to the KIR receptor system in humans. Consequently, recognition by activating Ly-49 of self MHC I molecules may represent a mechanism, as possibly with activating KIR, for detecting 'altered' self during immunosurveillance.

Activating Ly-49 receptors do not contain ITIMs in their cytoplasmic tails. Instead, they associate with the adapter DAP12 through an electrostatic interaction within the plasma membrane (104). DAP12 is a disulphide-linked homodimer of 12-15 kDa containing a single ITAM within its cytoplasmic tail (70). Upon tyrosine phosphorylation of its ITAM, it preferentially recruits members of the splenocyte tyrosine kinase (Syk) family (105). DAP12 is expressed in NK cells, macrophages, myeloid-derived DCs, granulocytes, mast cells, basophils and osteoclasts (106). The DAP12 association is both important for activating Ly-49 functions and for their surface expression. These relationships are highlighted from studies using DAP12 deficient mice which have reduced levels of cell surface activating Ly-49D and H – the only activating receptors present in the B6 mouse (107). Also, NK cells expressing an ITAM^{null} form of DAP12 do not efficiently lyse P815 cells in a redirected lysis assay following anti-Ly-49D antibody treatment (108).

Activating Ly-49 receptors trigger NK cell cytotoxicity and cytokine release following the engagement of their ligands, in a DAP12-dependent manner. *Cmv1*, the locus conferring resistance to MCMV in certain mouse strains, was originally mapped to the NKC (109). Subsequently, Ly49H was identified as the receptor responsible for immunity from this locus (66, 110). In fact, Ly-49H directly recognizes the MCMV MHC-like m157 gene product (43). Similarly, Ly-49P protects the Ly-49H negative MCMV-resistant Ma/My mouse strain via its interaction with H-2D^k (111). Interestingly, the Ly-49P interaction with H-2D^k only occurs in the context of MCMV infection (111). However, the molecular mechanism of this interaction still remains to be defined (112).

I. Non-MHC I NK Activating Receptors

In addition to the Ly-49/MHC I receptor system, mouse NK cells express a variety of activating receptors not specific for MHC I which also associate non-covalently with signaling adapters. For the purpose of this thesis, only NKG2D, NKRP-1 receptors, and CD16 will be discussed.

NKG2D - an activating receptor of mouse and man

NKG2D is an activating receptor expressed by NK cells of both mice and humans. It acts as an activating receptor on NK cells, and is a co-receptor for activated $CD8^+$ T cells (113). Like activating Ly-49, it is encoded by a gene in the NKC, is a type II membrane receptor of the C-type lectin family, and is a homodimer. In contrast to Ly-49, NKG2D is a single copy receptor that is conserved in both species.

When it was cloned, NKG2D was identified as a receptor that directly recognized the MHC-like MIC family of proteins which are induced by cellular stress (114). NKG2D in human recognizes members of the MHC I-like MIC family (MIC-A, B, C), and members of the UL-16 binding proteins (ULBP) which, as suggested by the name, bind the HCMV UL16 protein (115). In mice, NKG2D recognizes members of the retinoic acid early transcripts (α , β , γ , δ), H60, or the mouse ULBP homologue Mult1 which are acquired in expression as a result of transformation, or cellular activation (116, 117). Interestingly, NKG2D ligand expression is induced on cells upon the induction of the DNA damage response, thus the NKG2D receptor/ligand system can provide positive signals that culminate in the elimination of tumor cells by NK and CD8⁺ T cells (118).

NKG2D is constitutively expressed on the surface of most mouse and human NK cells. It is also expressed on most NKT cells, some γ/δ T cell subsets and is inducible in expression on the surfaces of CD8⁺ T cells in both species. In humans, a single form of NKG2D is present which associates with the adapter DAP10/KAP10 via an electrostatic intra-membrane interaction. Like DAP12, DAP10 is encoded in the LRC in both mice and humans (119). In contrast, DAP10 does not contain an ITAM within its cytoplasmic tail. Instead, it contains a YxNM motif which recruits members of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) family of enzymes following recognition (120).

In mice, NKG2D is present as either a full-length long form (NKG2D-L) or a shorter form (NKG2D-S) as a result of alternate splicing. NKG2D-L is expressed only in unstimulated NK cells, and preferentially associates with DAP10, whereas NKG2D-S is expressed in IFN α/β -activated NK cells and in

activated CD8⁺ T cells (113, 121). NKG2D-S can associate with either DAP10 or DAP12; however, because CD8⁺ T cells do not express DAP12, NKG2D-S expressed in T cells only associates with DAP10 (113, 121). The preferential association with DAP10 stems from an additional 13 amino acid N-terminal sequence in NKG2D-L which prevents NKG2D association with DAP12 (122).

NKRP-1 – the prototype for MHC-independent self/non-self discrimination

As previously indicated, the NKRP-1 family of receptors is also present in the NKC region. NKRP-1 family receptors are C-type lectins that are type II homodimeric membrane glycoproteins. This family includes the activating receptor NKRP-1C (NK1.1) (123) originally identified as a marker for NK and NKT cells in B6 mice (124, 125). Other members include the activating receptor NKRP-1F, which like other activating receptors, contains a positively charged transmembrane residue, and the ITIM-containing inhibitor NKRP-1D.

NKRP-1 family members, like Ly-49 receptors, do not require coordinate binding of calcium for their interactions with their ligands. Known ligands for NKRP-1 family members are not MHC or MHC-like proteins. Instead, NKC encoded C-type lectin related (Clr) B and G are ligands for the inhibitory NKRP-1B and activating NKRP-1F, respectively (126). Very recently, Voigt and colleagues demonstrated that rat CMV evades NK cell destruction of infected cells by encoding a decoy "self" ligand for the inhibitory NKRP-B receptor (127).

The ligand for NKRP-1C has not been clearly defined. However, the mechanism by which it triggers activation resembles other immune-activating receptors, as it associates through an electrostatic interaction with the ITAM containing adapter protein FcR- γ (128). This adapter is very similar in structure and highly homologous in sequence to DAP12, as it contains a single ITAM within its cytoplasmic tail, is expressed as a homodimer, and has a short extracellular domain with a transmembrane domain containing a negative charge. Fc γ is also the adapter employed by the low-affinity IgG receptor CD16 (Fc γ RIII) to trigger NK effector functions such as antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), or cytokine release.

CD16 - linking innate cells to the humoral response

CD16 (FcyRIII) is a member of the Ig-superfamily of receptors that binds antigenantibody immune complexes (IC) with a low affinity ($K_a \ 2 \ x \ 10^7 \ M^{-1}$) (129). Human CD16 is either a transmembrane receptor (FcyRIIIa) that electrostatically associates with FcR- γ and/or CD3 ζ , or is in glycerophosphatidyl inositol (GPI) linked form (FcyRIIIb). Human FcyRIIIa is expressed on macrophages (130), NK cells (131), and γ/δ T cells (132), whereas FcyRIIIb is predominantly expressed in In contrast, mouse FcyRIII is only expressed as a neutrophils (129). transmembrane receptor in NK cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and mast cells (129, 133). Moreover, mouse NK cells do not express CD32, an inhibitory low affinity IC receptor highly homologous to FcyRIII. Following stimulation of NK cells through CD16, NK cells are triggered to mobilize and secrete their cytotoxic granule contents toward the target cell, in a process known as ADCC. Alternatively, the same stimulus can induce NK cells to release IFN- γ (134). Release of intracellular Ca⁺⁺ stores, phosphoinositide turnover and elevated protein kinase activity are signaling events in common in CD16 stimulated ADCC and cytokine secretion by NK cells (134, 135).

J. NK signaling and adhesion

As previously discussed, NK cell responses are governed by a combined input of activating and inhibitory signals. Because NK cells are equipped with an arsenal of cytolytic mechanisms and cytokines, the signals they receive within their microenvironment must be tightly regulated. These signals include the interaction of inhibitory and activating receptors with their ligands. Following ligand recognition by these receptors, a number of biochemical signaling cascades are initiated which either favor NK effector functions, or favor the quelling of these mechanisms.

When challenged with a normal cell, an NK cell maintains its tolerance to self because inhibitory signaling events dominate the outcome within the NK cell. These signaling events require the activity of ITIMs within inhibitory receptors engaging their ligands, and tyrosine phosphatases which extinguish positive signals that would otherwise trigger the NK cell. Upon ligand binding, tyrosine residues are phosphorylated, probably by a Src family kinase (SFK). This promotes the recruitment of SH2 containing phosphatase-1 (SHP-1) or SHP-2 tyrosine phosphatases, or SH2 containing inositol phosphatase (SHIP) phosphatidylinositol phosphatase via their SH2 domain (136). For KIR or Ly-49 receptors, it is established that SHP-1 is recruited to the phosphorylated ITIM as it co-immunoprecipitates with the receptors (137-139). Upon recruitment, SHP-1 acts on membrane proximal targets, dampening the activation cascade. Because these signaling targets are relatively upstream in the activation cascade, the inhibitory signal can terminate activation signals prior to their amplification.

The precise molecular targets recognized by SHP-1 have not been fully defined; however, several studies have implicated SHP-1 in regulating molecules involved in remodeling the actin cytoskeleton, or in tight adhesion between NK cells and their targets. For example, using a chimeric receptor comprised of the extracellular domain of KIR2DL1 and the intracellular domain of the phosphatase catalytic domain for SHP-1, tight adhesion between NK cells expressing this receptor and target cells expressing the ligand for the KIR is disrupted (140). A similar observation was evident when rat NK leukemia cells (RNK-16) stably expressing Ly-49A were incubated with susceptible rat cells expressing mouse H-2D^d (Appendix 1). Subsequently, in an attempt to identify SHP-1 substrates, Chris Stebbins and colleagues modified the KIR-SHP-1 chimeric receptor to introduce a trapping mutation within the catalytic site (141), and identified the guanine exchange factor Vav-1, involved in cytoskeletal remodeling, as a substrate (142). Together, these studies highlight how NK cells regulate their functional responses by controlling mechanisms facilitating cytoskeletal remodeling, and in turn, tight adhesion.

The Vav family of actin modeling proteins, along with many cytosolic enzymes and adapter molecules play an integral role in regulating NK cell adhesion to target cells, and effector functions. Like inhibitory receptor signaling, the instigation of activating receptor biochemical signaling cascade occurs following ligand recognition. As previously discussed, activating NK receptors mediate their effector functions by associating with signaling adapters. The molecules involved in both of these signaling processes are highlighted in **Fig. 1-8**, among them SFKs and Syk kinases are important for ITAM signaling, while PI3K signaling is important for DAP10 signaling (42). Although PI3K activity is directly modulated by the recruitment of the regulatory p85 subunit to DAP10, it is also required for DAP12 signaling through a Syk-dependent mechanism as specific inhibitors for PI3K activity inhibit DAP12-depedent cytotoxicity in NK cells, and NK cytotoxicity inhibited by piceatannol, a specific Syk kinase inhibitor, is restored in the presence of a constitutively active form of PI3K (143).

Following ligand recognition of activating Ly-49, KIR, NKRP-1C, or NKG2C receptors, SFKs (ex. $p56^{Lck}$, $p59^{Fyn}$) phosphorylate tyrosine residues on the ITAM-bearing adapters. SFK activation requires the dephosphorylation of the regulatory C-terminal tyrosine (Tyr⁵⁰⁸ in $p56^{Lck}$) by phosphatases such as CD45 (144). Following the dephosphorylation at this position, an autophosphorylation event occurs to impart maximal enzymatic activity to SFKs (145). In IL-2 activated NK cells, the SFK family members $p56^{Lck}$ and $p59^{Fyn}$ co-immunoprecipitate with the Ly-49D/DAP12 receptor complex, and directly phosphorylate DAP12 (146). Moreover, IL-2 activated cells derived from a CD45 deficient mouse, unlike wild type cells, did not release cytokines (IFN- γ) in response to anti-Ly49D, anti-CD16, anti-NK1.1 or anti-NKG2D treatment, suggesting a role for CD45 in regulating SFK (147). Finally, RNK-16 cells expressing the mouse Ly-49P receptor do not lyse cells expressing its H-2D^d ligand in the presence of the SFK competitive inhibitor PP2, as well as piceatannol (**Appendix 2**, unpublished observation).

A requirement for Syk kinase activity for ITAM-dependent cytolysis highlights its importance in ITAM-mediated signaling. Following the tyrosine phosphorylation of signaling adapters at the ITAM, Syk family kinases (Syk, and ζ -associated protein of 70 kDa (ZAP-70)) are recruited via their SH2 domains and activated (105). The Syk/ZAP-70 enzymes are not required for NK cell development, as mature NK cells form from bone marrow chimeras deficient in these enzymes. However, Syk family kinases are required for Ly-49/CD16-
dependent cytotoxicity and cytokine release, as redirected lysis through Ly-49D or ADCC is severely reduced (148). Upon recruitment, they phosphorylate a number of signaling molecules, including the SH2 domain containing leukocyte protein of 76kDa (SLP-76), linker of activated T cells (LAT), non-T activated linker (NTAL), phospholipases C γ (PLC- γ), Vav and PI3K which increase intracellular Ca⁺⁺ levels, regulate the cytoskeleton, and induce cytokine release or degranulation (42, 149) (**Fig. 1-8, 1-1**).

NKG2D/DAP10 signaling is different from ITAM-mediated signaling as the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K complex is directly recruited to DAP10 following receptor recognition of its ligand. As previously indicated, DAP10 contains a YxNM motif that which was previously shown to recruit the p85 PI3K regulatory subunit with CD28 on T cells (150). The recruited regulatory subunit can attract the catalytic subunit of PI3K, which converts 3'-phosphorylated inositides to PtdIns(3)P, PtdIns(3,4)P₂, PtdIns(3,5)P₂, and PtdIns(3,4,5)P₃, that act as switches, which in turn recruit and activate other enzymes within the cell (151). In fact, the NKG2D/DAP10 complex uses PI3K as its major downstream signaling effector molecule (120, 152). Moreover, the DAP10 YxNM motif acts as a docking site for the Grb-2 adapter molecule which bridges NKG2D signals to molecules such as SLP-76 and PLC- γ , thereby amplifying the signal (153, 154).

Tight adhesion is important for Cytotoxicity

Prior to the polarization and exocytosis of cytolytic granules by an NK cell, it must form tight conjugates with the target cell. The formation of these conjugates promotes the stable association of the two cells which is important for the IS, the polarized delivery of granules, and the release of IFN- γ (20). Numerous studies have implicated the integrin LFA-1 (CD11a/CD18, α_L/β_2) as a key player in the tight association between cytotoxic cells and their targets. Integrins like LFA-1 are heterodimers composed of α and β subunits. LFA-1 binds intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) through ICAM-5, and is expressed on all leukocytes (155-157). NK cells also express lower levels of other integrins (β_1 , CD11b/CD18; CD11c/CD18). LFA-1 is important for NK cell tight

adhesion and cytotoxicity of target cells. For example, NK cells derived from patients deficient in the CD18/ β_2 chain are unable to destroy susceptible targets (158-160). Similarly, IL-2 activated NK cells from mice deficient in CD11a/ α_L are unable to form tight conjugates or eliminate tumor cells (161, 162). Furthermore, anti-LFA-1 antibodies impair human NK clone natural cytotoxicity of tumor cells (163, 164).

Inside-out Signaling

The regulation of integrins, such as LFA-1, by an antigen receptor was first established in T cells by Michael Dustin and Tim Springer (165). Upon the interaction of T cells with APCs expressing the MHC-peptide ternary complex recognized by their TCR, adhesion between the two cells is substantially augmented by upregulating the ability of LFA-1 to engage its ligand ICAM-1. The signaling events which increase the LFA-1 ligand binding capacity, or insideout signals, transiently increase LFA-1 binding of ICAM-1 (165). LFA-1 increased adhesion to ICAM-1 can either occur through increases in the intrinsic affinity of LFA-1 as it adopts a more open conformation, through changes in LFA-1 lateral mobility, or clustering along the membrane, or a combination of Within these processes, regulators of the actin these processes (157). cytoskeleton appear very important. For example, upon the binding and anchoring of LFA-1 to the actin cytoskeleton by the actin binding protein talin, increased LFA-1 ligand binding is evident. Alternatively, LFA-1 initially away from the region of cell contact can be targeted to this region through the activities of the small GTPase Rap1, and the RapL/Mst 1 complex. These molecules target the recycling of internalized LFA-1 to the region of cell contact, thereby increasing the concentration of LFA-1 available to bind ICAM-1 at the site of cell contact and also facilitate the assembly of the IS and the continuation of antigenreceptor signals (157, 166).

In NK cells, LFA-1 clearly contributes signals that are important for cytotoxicity; however, the manner by which activating NK receptors regulate LFA-1 functions is not defined. Eric Long's laboratory (NIH) has provided some

insight into this process. Using insect cells expressing ligands for different human activating receptors and/or human ICAM-1, they demonstrated that LFA-1 is sufficient for generating biochemical signals that polarize cytolytic granules to the site of cell contact in resting human NK cells (167). Interestingly, granule polarization involves the activation of Rac GTPases by Vav – suggesting a role for LFA-1 in activating Vav rearrangement of the cytoskeleton (168). Degranulation, on the other hand, require signals from LFA-1 and the bonafide activating NK receptor CD16 (167). Moreover, resting human NK cells incubated with mouse P815 FcR⁺ cells in a redirected lysis assay only destroyed target cells when stimulated with CD16, but not NKG2D or other activating receptors. In contrast, when multiple NK receptors were co-engaged, cytotoxic signals were induced. Thus, apparently signals from individual NK receptors synergize to lower the threshold required for degranulation (169).

K. Thesis Rationale and Hypotheses

As previously discussed, different mouse strains are heterogenous in their Ly-49 receptor expression, and some strains express different alleles of the same For example, the BALB/c, B6 and NOD mouse strains express receptor. different alleles of the Ly-49G inhibitory receptor. These receptors exhibit a high degree of sequence homology; however, certain polymorphisms are evident within their extracellular domains. I hypothesized that regions of polymorphism in Ly-49G receptors may be important for MHC I allele specific interactions. Furthermore, several activating Ly-49 receptors (ex. Ly-49W and Ly-49M) share a high degree of amino acid identity with inhibitory Ly-49 receptors within their extracellular domains, and also share the same amino acid polymorphisms present in the different Ly-49G receptors. Moreover, the study of individual Ly-49 receptors has been hampered by the lack of serological reagents that can be used for the detection of related receptors and the discrimination between different alleles of the same receptor. Consequently, we generated two monoclonal antibodies (mAbs), Cwy-3 and CK-1, by injecting NK cells from a B6 mouse into BALB/c which encode different alleles of certain Ly-49, including the inhibitory *Ly-49G*, with the prediction that these antibodies would recognize Ly-49 polymorphism(s). I mapped the regions recognized by these two antibodies as two distinct locations on the native Ly-49G molecules. The results from these studies are discussed in chapter two of this thesis from the paper entitled *"Epitope mapping of Ly-49G and G-like receptors: CK-1 antibody defines a polymorphic site of functional interaction with class I ligand"* published in the 2005 May issue in the **Journal of Leukocyte Biology** 77(5):644-651.

Tight adhesion is an important step for the cytotoxic destruction of target cells by NK cells and CTL. In fact, as discussed above, the integrin LFA-1 plays a central role in NK cell cytotoxic mechanisms. Studies in T cells have clearly demonstrated that the TCR can regulate LFA-1 binding of ICAM-1, and also tight adhesion, through biochemical signals generated following recognition. These signals require the CD3 complex which associates with the TCR via an intramembrane electrostatic interaction. The CD3 complex is comprised of several signaling adapters that contain ITAM regions within their cytoplasmic tails. Because activating Ly-49 receptors associate with the ITAM-containing signaling adapter protein, we hypothesized that they too regulate integrin inside-out signaling, but by NK cells. In the third chapter of this thesis, the paper entitled "Activating Ly-49 receptors regulate LFA-1 mediated adhesion by NK cells" published in Feb. 2007 in the **Journal of Immunology** is discussed. This paper demonstrated, for the first time, that an NK activating receptor family (Ly-49 receptors) regulate inside-out activation of LFA-1 in a DAP12 and SFK/Sykdependent manner. Similarly, chapter four of this thesis extends the hypothesis that regulation of inside-out signaling will include activating the NK receptors CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C. Chapter four describes my results testing this hypothesis.

The final chapter highlights these studies in the broader context of our understanding of NK cell biology. It is also followed by a description of some future studies, in addition to a discussion of studies conducted in chapters 2, 3 and 4, along with those summarized in the *Appendix* section.



Adapted from Smyth MJ et. al, Mol Immunol (2005) (170).

Figure 1-1. NK cells induce contact-dependent cytotoxicity of target cells through different mechanisms. The granule exocytosis pathway involves the uptake of granzyme (Grz) into target cells may go through a perforin dependent or independent mechanism. Grz then plays a critical role in triggering apoptotic cell death through the activation of cellular caspases, and/or a caspase-independent pathway. Alternatively, members of the TNF family of cytokines, FasL and TRAIL, are expressed by NK cells and regulated by IFN- γ . These molecules can induce a caspase-dependent target cell apoptosis via their corresponding receptors Fas and TRAIL-R (DR4, DR5), respectively. In addition, NK cells can release a variety of cytokines or chemokines (ex. IFN- γ , TNF- α , MIP-1 α) which can amplify the immune response.

Mouse MHC Complex (chromosome 17)

Mouse H-2							
MHC class	A. A. M. M. M. M. M. M.						
Region							
Gene Product							

Human MHC Complex (chromosome 6)

Human Leukocyte Antigens (HLA)							
MHC class	in se						
Region	DE TINS DIE TRANSPORTER DE LA CARACTERISTA DE LA CA						
Gene Product	DIR 300, 101 66 min Frank and Fr						

Adapted from <u>Kuby Immunology</u> (2000) 4th Edition. Goldsby R, Kindt TJ, and Osborne BA.

Table 1-1. Mouse and Human MHC genes.



Adapted from <u>Kuby Immunology</u> (2000) 4th Edition. Goldsby R, Kindt TJ, and Osborne BA.

Figure 1-2. Structure of MHC I. The $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains form the peptidebinding cleft, whereas the $\alpha 3$ region interacts non-covalently with $\beta 2m$. The proposed "site 1" and "site 2" regions for Ly-49 recognition are also indicated.



Adapted from Vinay Kumar & Megan E. McNerney *Nat Rev Immunol* (2005) (171).

Figure 1-3. Missing Self Recognition by NK cells.

- a) Upon interacting with a normal target cell, an NK cell receiving an activating signal will not destroy the cell because an inhibitory receptor recognizing self-MHC I will inhibit NK cell activation.
- **b)** If the target cell loses expression of MHC class I molecules, as a result of viral infection or transformation, then inhibitory signal is relieved and the NK cell lyses the target.
- c) Similarly, if the NK cell does not express an inhibitory receptor that can recognize the MHC I alleles present on the target cell, as during HR, the NK cell does not receive an inhibitory signal and destroys the target.



Adapted from Raulet DH and Vance RE Nat. Rev Immunol (2006) (172).

Figure 1-4. Licensing vs Disarming of NK cells. A) In the licensing model, maturing NK cells receive positive signals from the interaction of an inhibitory Ly-49 receptor's interaction with stromal cells expressing its MHC I ligand. This interaction is required to induce functional maturation as NK cells that do not receive this interaction remain unlicensed and do not destroy MHC I deficient target cells. B) In the disarming model, NK cells express a variety of stimulatory and inhibitory receptors. By virtue of these receptors, they recognize self cells. However, only maturing NK cells that have balanced inhibitory and activating signals are allowed to retain their responsiveness as cells that do not receive an inhibitory signal have a net positive signal, and are consequently disarmed during development.



Adapted from Di Santo J, Annu Rev. Immunol. (2006) (60).

Figure 1-5. Model for NK cell development in the bone marrow. NK cells develop in three stages: generation of NK precursors (NKP), the generation of iNK cells positive for NK1.1, NKG2A, and CD122, and finally the terminal maturation characterized by Ly-49 receptor acquisition, DX5 expression and cytolytic/cytokine releasing abilities.

Human NKC



Adapted from Lanier LL, Annu. Rev. Immunol. (2005) (42).

Figure 1-6. The Human and Mouse NKC. The mouse and human NKC share many of the same family members (*NKG2*, *NKRP1*, *KLRG*). However, in the most telomeric region, the mouse NKC has a significant number of Ly-49 genes whereas the human one has an Ly-49L pseudogene.



Figure 1-7. Activating and inhibitory NK receptors. Activating receptors signal through their association with ITAM-containing adapter proteins (DAP12, FcR- γ , or CD3 ζ) or the ITAM-free DAP10 (NKG2D only), whereas inhibitory receptors contain ITIMs in their cytoplasmic domains which can directly contribute to signaling.

Strain	CS7BL/c	BALB/c	NOD	1294
MHC haplotype	H-2*	H-2"	H-2K%0*	H-2
Receptor ¹³				
Ly-49A	1	1	1	
Ly-498	1	1	1	
Ly-49C	1	1		
Ly-49D	1		1	
Ly-49E	1		1	1
Ly-49F	1			
Ly-49G	1	1	1	1
Ly-49H	🖌 🖉 🖓			
Ly-49	1			
Ly-49j	1			
Ly-49K				
Ly-49L	•			
Ly-49M	11. *		1	
Ly-49N	•			
Ly-490				1
Ly-49P				1
Ly-49Q	1			
Ly-49R				1
Ly-495				1
Ly-49T				1
Ly-49U				
Ly-49V				1
Ly-49W		144	1 de 1	

Adapted from Kane, KP et. al, (2001) (74).

Table 1-2. NK cells from different strains have a different Ly-49 receptor expression profile. Some strains share alleles of the same Ly-49 receptors. Activating receptors are indicated in bold. In addition to the indicated Ly-49 receptors, Ly-49X has recently been cloned.



Adapted from Vivier E et. al, Science (2004) (136).

Figure 1-8 Signaling Pathways from NK receptors. NK signaling is a balance of positive signals from activating receptors, or negative signals from inhibitory receptors. Dotted arrows indicate inhibition or suppression, while full arrows indicate activation.

L. References

- Kiessling, R., E. Klein, and H. Wigzell. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. *Eur J Immunol* 5:112.
- Kiessling, R., E. Klein, H. Pross, and H. Wigzell. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. II. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Characteristics of the killer cell. *Eur J Immunol 5:117*.
- Herberman, R. B., M. E. Nunn, H. T. Holden, and D. H. Lavrin. 1975. Natural cytotoxic reactivity of mouse lymphoid cells against syngeneic and allogeneic tumors. II. Characterization of effector cells. *Int J Cancer* 16:230.
- Herberman, R. B., M. E. Nunn, and D. H. Lavrin. 1975. Natural cytotoxic reactivity of mouse lymphoid cells against syngeneic acid allogeneic tumors. I. Distribution of reactivity and specificity. *Int J Cancer 16:216*.
- Shinkai, Y., G. Rathbun, K. P. Lam, E. M. Oltz, V. Stewart, M. Mendelsohn, J. Charron, M. Datta, F. Young, A. M. Stall, and et al. 1992. RAG-2-deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. *Cell* 68:855.
- Mombaerts, P., J. Iacomini, R. S. Johnson, K. Herrup, S. Tonegawa, and V. E. Papaioannou. 1992. RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. *Cell 68:869*.
- Cooper, M. A., T. A. Fehniger, and M. A. Caligiuri. 2001. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. *Trends Immunol 22:633*.
- Lanier, L. L., R. Testi, J. Bindl, and J. H. Phillips. 1989. Identity of Leu-19 (CD56) leukocyte differentiation antigen and neural cell adhesion molecule. *J Exp Med 169:2233*.
- Nitta, T., H. Yagita, K. Sato, and K. Okumura. 1989. Involvement of CD56 (NKH-1/Leu-19 antigen) as an adhesion molecule in natural killertarget cell interaction. *J Exp Med* 170:1757.

- Lanier, L. L., A. M. Le, C. I. Civin, M. R. Loken, and J. H. Phillips. 1986. The relationship of CD16 (Leu-11) and Leu-19 (NKH-1) antigen expression on human peripheral blood NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Immunol 136:4480*.
- Arase, H., T. Saito, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 2001. Cutting edge: the mouse NK cell-associated antigen recognized by DX5 monoclonal antibody is CD49b (alpha 2 integrin, very late antigen-2). *J Immunol* 167:1141.
- Biron, C. A., K. S. Byron, and J. L. Sullivan. 1989. Severe herpesvirus infections in an adolescent without natural killer cells. *N Engl J Med* 320:1731.
- Shellam, G. R., J. E. Allan, J. M. Papadimitriou, and G. J. Bancroft. 1981. Increased susceptibility to cytomegalovirus infection in beige mutant mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 78:5104.
- Scalzo, A. A., N. A. Fitzgerald, C. R. Wallace, A. E. Gibbons, Y. C. Smart, R. C. Burton, and G. R. Shellam. 1992. The effect of the Cmv-1 resistance gene, which is linked to the natural killer cell gene complex, is mediated by natural killer cells. *J Immunol 149:581*.
- 15. Long, E. O. 2007. Ready for prime time: NK cell priming by dendritic cells. *Immunity 26:385*.
- Lucas, M., W. Schachterle, K. Oberle, P. Aichele, and A. Diefenbach.
 2007. Dendritic cells prime natural killer cells by trans-presenting interleukin 15. *Immunity 26:503*.
- Lanier, L. L., T. J. Kipps, and J. H. Phillips. 1985. Functional properties of a unique subset of cytotoxic CD3+ T lymphocytes that express Fc receptors for IgG (CD16/Leu-11 antigen). *J Exp Med 162:2089*.
- Stinchcombe, J. C., and G. M. Griffiths. 1999. Regulated secretion from hemopoietic cells. *J Cell Biol 147:1*.
- 19. Trapani, J. A., and M. J. Smyth. 2002. Functional significance of the perforin/granzyme cell death pathway. *Nat Rev Immunol 2:735*.

- 20. Davis, D. M., and M. L. Dustin. 2004. What is the importance of the immunological synapse? *Trends Immunol 25:323*.
- 21. Wajant, H. 2006. CD95L/FasL and TRAIL in tumour surveillance and cancer therapy. *Cancer Treat Res 130:141*.
- 22. Bossi, G., and G. M. Griffiths. 2005. CTL secretory lysosomes: biogenesis and secretion of a harmful organelle. *Semin Immunol* 17:87.
- Huse, M., B. F. Lillemeier, M. S. Kuhns, D. S. Chen, and M. M. Davis.
 2006. T cells use two directionally distinct pathways for cytokine secretion. *Nat Immunol* 7:247.
- 24. Lodoen, M. B., and L. L. Lanier. 2006. Natural killer cells as an initial defense against pathogens. *Curr Opin Immunol 18:391*.
- Newman, K. C., and E. M. Riley. 2007. Whatever turns you on: accessorycell-dependent activation of NK cells by pathogens. *Nat Rev Immunol* 7:279.
- Cudkowicz, G., and J. H. Stimpfling. 1964. Hybrid Resistance to Parental Marrow Grafts: Association with the K Region of H-2. *Science 144:1339*.
- Bennett, M. 1973. Prevention of marrow allograft rejection with radioactive strontium: evidence for marrow-dependent effector cells. J Immunol 110:510.
- Kiessling, R., P. S. Hochman, O. Haller, G. M. Shearer, H. Wigzell, and G. Cudkowicz. 1977. Evidence for a similar or common mechanism for natural killer cell activity and resistance to hemopoietic grafts. *Eur J Immunol* 7:655.
- 29. Yu, Y. Y., V. Kumar, and M. Bennett. 1992. Murine natural killer cells and marrow graft rejection. *Annu Rev Immunol 10:189*.
- Zijlstra, M., M. Bix, N. E. Simister, J. M. Loring, D. H. Raulet, and R. Jaenisch. 1990. Beta 2-microglobulin deficient mice lack CD4-8+ cytolytic T cells. *Nature 344:742*.
- Seong, R. H., C. A. Clayberger, A. M. Krensky, and J. R. Parnes. 1988.
 Rescue of Daudi cell HLA expression by transfection of the mouse beta 2microglobulin gene. *J Exp Med 167:288*.

- 32. Flutter, B., and B. Gao. 2004. MHC class I antigen presentation--recently trimmed and well presented. *Cell Mol Immunol 1:22*.
- Karre, K., H. G. Ljunggren, G. Piontek, and R. Kiessling. 1986. Selective rejection of H-2-deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defence strategy. *Nature 319:675*.
- Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1985. Host resistance directed selectively against H-2-deficient lymphoma variants. Analysis of the mechanism. J Exp Med 162:1745.
- 35. Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1986. Experimental strategies and interpretations in the analysis of changes in MHC gene expression during tumour progression. Opposing influences of T cell and natural killer mediated resistance? J Immunogenet 13:141.
- Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1990. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol Today 11:237*.
- Karlhofer, F. M., R. K. Ribaudo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1992. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49+ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature 358:66*.
- Kane, K. P. 1994. Ly-49 mediates EL4 lymphoma adhesion to isolated class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. *J Exp Med* 179:1011.
- 39. Moretta, A., M. Vitale, C. Bottino, A. M. Orengo, L. Morelli, R. Augugliaro, M. Barbaresi, E. Ciccone, and L. Moretta. 1993. P58 molecules as putative receptors for major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules in human natural killer (NK) cells. Anti-p58 antibodies reconstitute lysis of MHC class I-protected cells in NK clones displaying different specificities. *J Exp Med 178:597*.
- Ohlen, C., G. Kling, P. Hoglund, M. Hansson, G. Scangos, C. Bieberich,
 G. Jay, and K. Karre. 1989. Prevention of allogeneic bone marrow graft
 rejection by H-2 transgene in donor mice. *Science 246:666*.
- 41. Kane, K. P., K. J. Lavender, and B. J. Ma. 2004. Ly-49 receptors and their functions. *Crit Rev Immunol* 24:321.
- 42. Lanier, L. L. 2005. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 23:225.

- 43. Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier.
 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science 296:1323*.
- Biassoni, R., C. Cantoni, D. Pende, S. Sivori, S. Parolini, M. Vitale, C.
 Bottino, and A. Moretta. 2001. Human natural killer cell receptors and coreceptors. *Immunol Rev 181:203*.
- Valiante, N. M., M. Uhrberg, H. G. Shilling, K. Lienert-Weidenbach, K.
 L. Arnett, A. D'Andrea, J. H. Phillips, L. L. Lanier, and P. Parham. 1997.
 Functionally and structurally distinct NK cell receptor repertoires in the peripheral blood of two human donors. *Immunity 7:739*.
- 46. Salcedo, M., A. D. Diehl, M. Y. Olsson-Alheim, J. Sundback, L. Van Kaer, K. Karre, and H. G. Ljunggren. 1997. Altered expression of Ly49 inhibitory receptors on natural killer cells from MHC class I-deficient mice. *J Immunol 158:3174*.
- Hoglund, P., C. Ohlen, E. Carbone, L. Franksson, H. G. Ljunggren, A. Latour, B. Koller, and K. Karre. 1991. Recognition of beta 2-microglobulin-negative (beta 2m-) T-cell blasts by natural killer cells from normal but not from beta 2m-mice: nonresponsiveness controlled by beta 2m- bone marrow in chimeric mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:10332*.
- 48. Dorfman, J. R., J. Zerrahn, M. C. Coles, and D. H. Raulet. 1997. The basis for self-tolerance of natural killer cells in beta2-microglobulin- and TAP-1- mice. *J Immunol 159:5219*.
- Kim, S., J. Poursine-Laurent, S. M. Truscott, L. Lybarger, Y. J. Song, L. Yang, A. R. French, J. B. Sunwoo, S. Lemieux, T. H. Hansen, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2005. Licensing of natural killer cells by host major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature 436:709*.
- 50. Fernandez, N. C., E. Treiner, R. E. Vance, A. M. Jamieson, S. Lemieux, and D. H. Raulet. 2005. A subset of natural killer cells achieves selftolerance without expressing inhibitory receptors specific for self-MHC molecules. *Blood* 105:4416.

- 51. Di Santo, J. P., and C. A. Vosshenrich. 2006. Bone marrow versus thymic pathways of natural killer cell development. *Immunol Rev 214:35*.
- Ohteki, T., S. Ho, H. Suzuki, T. W. Mak, and P. S. Ohashi. 1997. Role for IL-15/IL-15 receptor beta-chain in natural killer 1.1+ T cell receptor-alpha beta+ cell development. *J Immunol 159:5931*.
- 53. Cao, X., E. W. Shores, J. Hu-Li, M. R. Anver, B. L. Kelsall, S. M. Russell, J. Drago, M. Noguchi, A. Grinberg, E. T. Bloom, and et al. 1995.
 Defective lymphoid development in mice lacking expression of the common cytokine receptor gamma chain. *Immunity 2:223*.
- Lodolce, J. P., D. L. Boone, S. Chai, R. E. Swain, T. Dassopoulos, S. Trettin, and A. Ma. 1998. IL-15 receptor maintains lymphoid homeostasis by supporting lymphocyte homing and proliferation. *Immunity 9:669*.
- Ranson, T., C. A. Vosshenrich, E. Corcuff, O. Richard, W. Muller, and J.
 P. Di Santo. 2003. IL-15 is an essential mediator of peripheral NK-cell homeostasis. *Blood 101:4887*.
- Dubois, S., J. Mariner, T. A. Waldmann, and Y. Tagaya. 2002. IL-15Ralpha recycles and presents IL-15 In trans to neighboring cells. *Immunity* 17:537.
- 57. Sandau, M. M., K. S. Schluns, L. Lefrancois, and S. C. Jameson. 2004. Cutting edge: transpresentation of IL-15 by bone marrow-derived cells necessitates expression of IL-15 and IL-15R alpha by the same cells. J Immunol 173:6537.
- 58. Schluns, K. S., E. C. Nowak, A. Cabrera-Hernandez, L. Puddington, L. Lefrancois, and H. L. Aguila. 2004. Distinct cell types control lymphoid subset development by means of IL-15 and IL-15 receptor alpha expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A 101:5616*.
- 59. Burkett, P. R., R. Koka, M. Chien, S. Chai, D. L. Boone, and A. Ma. 2004. Coordinate expression and trans presentation of interleukin (IL)-15Ralpha and IL-15 supports natural killer cell and memory CD8+ T cell homeostasis. J Exp Med 200:825.

- 60. Di Santo, J. P. 2006. Natural killer cell developmental pathways: a question of balance. *Annu Rev Immunol 24:257*.
- 61. Yokoyama, W. M., and B. F. Plougastel. 2003. Immune functions encoded by the natural killer gene complex. *Nat Rev Immunol 3:304*.
- Brown, M. G., S. Fulmek, K. Matsumoto, R. Cho, P. A. Lyons, E. R. Levy, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1997. A 2-Mb YAC contig and physical map of the natural killer gene complex on mouse chromosome 6. *Genomics* 42:16.
- Brown, M. G., J. Zhang, Y. Du, J. Stoll, W. M. Yokoyama, and A. A.
 Scalzo. 1999. Localization on a physical map of the NKC-linked Cmv1
 locus between Ly49b and the Prp gene cluster on mouse chromosome 6. J Immunol 163:1991.
- 64. Delano, M. L., and D. G. Brownstein. 1995. Innate resistance to lethal mousepox is genetically linked to the NK gene complex on chromosome 6 and correlates with early restriction of virus replication by cells with an NK phenotype. J Virol 69:5875.
- Idris, A. H., K. Iizuka, H. R. Smith, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama.
 1998. Genetic control of natural killing and in vivo tumor elimination by the Chok locus. *J Exp Med* 188:2243.
- 66. Smith, H. R., J. W. Heusel, I. K. Mehta, S. Kim, B. G. Dorner, O. V. Naidenko, K. Iizuka, H. Furukawa, D. L. Beckman, J. T. Pingel, A. A. Scalzo, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2002. Recognition of a virus-encoded ligand by a natural killer cell activation receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:8826*.
- Williams, F., A. Meenagh, C. Sleator, D. Cook, M. Fernandez-Vina, A. M. Bowcock, and D. Middleton. 2005. Activating killer cell immunoglobulinlike receptor gene KIR2DS1 is associated with psoriatic arthritis. *Hum Immunol 66:836*.
- 68. Vance, R. E., A. M. Jamieson, and D. H. Raulet. 1999. Recognition of the class Ib molecule Qa-1(b) by putative activating receptors CD94/NKG2C and CD94/NKG2E on mouse natural killer cells. *J Exp Med 190:1801*.

- 69. Yen, J. H., B. E. Moore, T. Nakajima, D. Scholl, D. J. Schaid, C. M. Weyand, and J. J. Goronzy. 2001. Major histocompatibility complex class I-recognizing receptors are disease risk genes in rheumatoid arthritis. J Exp Med 193:1159.
- Lanier, L. L., B. C. Corliss, J. Wu, C. Leong, and J. H. Phillips. 1998. Immunoreceptor DAP12 bearing a tyrosine-based activation motif is involved in activating NK cells. *Nature 391:703*.
- 71. Parham, P. 2005. Immunogenetics of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors. *Mol Immunol 42:459*.
- Biassoni, R., A. Pessino, A. Malaspina, C. Cantoni, C. Bottino, S. Sivori,
 L. Moretta, and A. Moretta. 1997. Role of amino acid position 70 in the
 binding affinity of p50.1 and p58.1 receptors for HLA-Cw4 molecules. *Eur J Immunol 27:3095*.
- 73. Stewart, C. A., F. Laugier-Anfossi, F. Vely, X. Saulquin, J. Riedmuller, A. Tisserant, L. Gauthier, F. Romagne, G. Ferracci, F. A. Arosa, A. Moretta, P. D. Sun, S. Ugolini, and E. Vivier. 2005. Recognition of peptide-MHC class I complexes by activating killer immunoglobulin-like receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:13224.
- Kane, K. P., E. T. Silver, and B. Hazes. 2001. Specificity and function of activating Ly-49 receptors. *Immunol Rev* 181:104.
- Depatie, C., S. H. Lee, A. Stafford, P. Avner, A. Belouchi, P. Gros, and S. M. Vidal. 2000. Sequence-ready BAC contig, physical, and transcriptional map of a 2-Mb region overlapping the mouse chromosome 6 host-resistance locus Cmv1. *Genomics 66:161*.
- 76. Makrigiannis, A. P., A. T. Pau, P. L. Schwartzberg, D. W. McVicar, T. W. Beck, and S. K. Anderson. 2002. A BAC contig map of the Ly49 gene cluster in 129 mice reveals extensive differences in gene content relative to C57BL/6 mice. *Genomics* 79:437.
- 77. Proteau, M. F., E. Rousselle, and A. P. Makrigiannis. 2004. Mapping of the BALB/c Ly49 cluster defines a minimal natural killer cell receptor gene repertoire. *Genomics* 84:669.

- Makrigiannis, A. P., and S. K. Anderson. 2000. Ly49 gene expression in different inbred mouse strains. *Immunol Res 21:39*.
- Silver, E. T., K. J. Lavender, D. E. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2002. Allelic variation in the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor alters its specificity for allogeneic and xenogeneic ligands. *J Immunol* 169:4752.
- 80. Osman, M. S., E. T. Silver, J. C. Varghese, C. S. Chang, D. E. Gong, G. F. Audette, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2005. Epitope mapping of Ly-49G and G-like receptors: CK-1 antibody defines a polymorphic site of functional interaction with class I ligand. *J Leukoc Biol* 77:644.
- Tai, L. H., M. L. Goulet, S. Belanger, A. D. Troke, A. G. St-Laurent, A. Mesci, N. Toyama-Sorimachi, J. R. Carlyle, and A. P. Makrigiannis. 2007. Recognition of H-2K(b) by Ly49Q suggests a role for class Ia MHC regulation of plasmacytoid dendritic cell function. *Mol Immunol 44:2638*.
- Gays, F., J. G. Aust, D. M. Reid, J. Falconer, N. Toyama-Sorimachi, P. R. Taylor, and C. G. Brooks. 2006. Ly49B is expressed on multiple subpopulations of myeloid cells. *J Immunol* 177:5840.
- Brennan, J., D. Mager, W. Jefferies, and F. Takei. 1994. Expression of different members of the Ly-49 gene family defines distinct natural killer cell subsets and cell adhesion properties. *J Exp Med* 180:2287.
- 84. Stoneman, E. R., M. Bennett, J. An, K. A. Chesnut, E. K. Wakeland, J. B. Scheerer, M. J. Siciliano, V. Kumar, and P. A. Mathew. 1995. Cloning and characterization of 5E6(Ly-49C), a receptor molecule expressed on a subset of murine natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* 182:305.
- Murphy, W. J., A. Raziuddin, L. Mason, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and D. L. Longo. 1995. NK cell subsets in the regulation of murine hematopoiesis. I. 5E6+ NK cells promote hematopoietic growth in H-2d strain mice. J Immunol 155:2911.
- Dorfman, J. R., and D. H. Raulet. 1998. Acquisition of Ly49 receptor expression by developing natural killer cells. *J Exp Med 187:609*.

- 87. Smith, H. R., H. H. Chuang, L. L. Wang, M. Salcedo, J. W. Heusel, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2000. Nonstochastic coexpression of activation receptors on murine natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* 191:1341.
- Held, W., and D. H. Raulet. 1997. Expression of the Ly49A gene in murine natural killer cell clones is predominantly but not exclusively mono-allelic. *Eur J Immunol 27:2876*.
- Held, W., J. Roland, and D. H. Raulet. 1995. Allelic exclusion of Ly49family genes encoding class I MHC-specific receptors on NK cells. *Nature 376:355.*
- Kubota, A., S. Kubota, S. Lohwasser, D. L. Mager, and F. Takei. 1999.
 Diversity of NK cell receptor repertoire in adult and neonatal mice. J Immunol 163:212.
- Saleh, A., G. E. Davies, V. Pascal, P. W. Wright, D. L. Hodge, E. H. Cho, S. J. Lockett, M. Abshari, and S. K. Anderson. 2004. Identification of probabilistic transcriptional switches in the Ly49 gene cluster: a eukaryotic mechanism for selective gene activation. *Immunity 21:55*.
- Mason, L. H., J. R. Ortaldo, H. A. Young, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and S. K. Anderson. 1995. Cloning and functional characteristics of murine large granular lymphocyte-1: a member of the Ly-49 gene family (Ly-49G2). J Exp Med 182:293.
- 93. Silver, E. T., D. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2001. Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). *J Immunol 166:2333*.
- 94. Brennan, J., G. Mahon, D. L. Mager, W. A. Jefferies, and F. Takei. 1996.
 Recognition of class I major histocompatibility complex molecules by Ly49: specificities and domain interactions. *J Exp Med* 183:1553.
- 95. Doucey, M. A., L. Scarpellino, J. Zimmer, P. Guillaume, I. F. Luescher, C. Bron, and W. Held. 2004. Cis association of Ly49A with MHC class I restricts natural killer cell inhibition. *Nat Immunol 5:328.*

- 96. Back, J., A. Chalifour, L. Scarpellino, and W. Held. 2007. Stable masking by H-2Dd cis ligand limits Ly49A relocalization to the site of NK cell/target cell contact. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:3978*.
- Scarpellino, L., F. Oeschger, P. Guillaume, J. D. Coudert, F. Levy, G. Leclercq, and W. Held. 2007. Interactions of Ly49 family receptors with MHC class I ligands in trans and cis. *J Immunol 178:1277*.
- Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature 402:623*.
- 99. Matsumoto, N., M. Mitsuki, K. Tajima, W. M. Yokoyama, and K. Yamamoto. 2001. The functional binding site for the C-type lectin-like natural killer cell receptor Ly49A spans three domains of its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. J Exp Med 193:147.
- 100. Wang, J., M. C. Whitman, K. Natarajan, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, and D. H. Margulies. 2002. Binding of the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor Ly49A to its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. Crucial contacts include both H-2Dd AND beta 2-microglobulin. *J Biol Chem* 277:1433.
- Lavender, K. J., and K. P. Kane. 2006. Cross-species dependence of Ly49 recognition on the supertype defining B-pocket of a class I MHC molecule. *J Immunol* 177:8578.
- Nakamura, M. C., P. A. Linnemeyer, E. C. Niemi, L. H. Mason, J. R.
 Ortaldo, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 1999. Mouse Ly-49D recognizes
 H-2Dd and activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med* 189:493.
- Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K.
 P. Kane. 2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2Dd. *J Immunol 165:1771*.
- 104. Smith, K. M., J. Wu, A. B. Bakker, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 1998. Ly-49D and Ly-49H associate with mouse DAP12 and form activating receptors. *J Immunol 161:7*.

- 105. McVicar, D. W., L. S. Taylor, P. Gosselin, J. Willette-Brown, A. I. Mikhael, R. L. Geahlen, M. C. Nakamura, P. Linnemeyer, W. E. Seaman, S. K. Anderson, J. R. Ortaldo, and L. H. Mason. 1998. DAP12-mediated signal transduction in natural killer cells. A dominant role for the Syk protein-tyrosine kinase. *J Biol Chem* 273:32934.
- 106. Takaki, R., S. R. Watson, and L. L. Lanier. 2006. DAP12: an adapter protein with dual functionality. *Immunol Rev 214:118*.
- 107. Bakker, A. B., R. M. Hoek, A. Cerwenka, B. Blom, L. Lucian, T. McNeil, R. Murray, L. H. Phillips, J. D. Sedgwick, and L. L. Lanier. 2000. DAP12deficient mice fail to develop autoimmunity due to impaired antigen priming. *Immunity* 13:345.
- 108. Tomasello, E., P. O. Desmoulins, K. Chemin, S. Guia, H. Cremer, J. Ortaldo, P. Love, D. Kaiserlian, and E. Vivier. 2000. Combined natural killer cell and dendritic cell functional deficiency in KARAP/DAP12 lossof-function mutant mice. *Immunity* 13:355.
- 109. Scalzo, A. A., P. A. Lyons, N. A. Fitzgerald, C. A. Forbes, W. M. Yokoyama, and G. R. Shellam. 1995. Genetic mapping of Cmv1 in the region of mouse chromosome 6 encoding the NK gene complexassociated loci Ly49 and musNKR-P1. *Genomics 27:435*.
- 110. Lee, S. H., A. Zafer, Y. de Repentigny, R. Kothary, M. L. Tremblay, P. Gros, P. Duplay, J. R. Webb, and S. M. Vidal. 2003. Transgenic expression of the activating natural killer receptor Ly49H confers resistance to cytomegalovirus in genetically susceptible mice. *J Exp Med 197:515*.
- Dighe, A., M. Rodriguez, P. Sabastian, X. Xie, M. McVoy, and M. G. Brown. 2005. Requisite H2k role in NK cell-mediated resistance in acute murine cytomegalovirus-infected MA/My mice. *J Immunol* 175:6820.
- Xie, X., A. Dighe, P. Clark, P. Sabastian, S. Buss, and M. G. Brown.
 2007. Deficient major histocompatibility complex-linked innate murine cytomegalovirus immunity in MA/My.L-H2b mice and viral downregulation of H-2k class I proteins. *J Virol 81:229*.

- 113. Diefenbach, A., E. Tomasello, M. Lucas, A. M. Jamieson, J. K. Hsia, E. Vivier, and D. H. Raulet. 2002. Selective associations with signaling proteins determine stimulatory versus costimulatory activity of NKG2D. *Nat Immunol 3:1142.*
- Bauer, S., V. Groh, J. Wu, A. Steinle, J. H. Phillips, L. L. Lanier, and T. Spies. 1999. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. *Science* 285:727.
- Raulet, D. H. 2003. Roles of the NKG2D immunoreceptor and its ligands. Nat Rev Immunol 3:781.
- 116. Cerwenka, A., A. B. Bakker, T. McClanahan, J. Wagner, J. Wu, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 2000. Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. *Immunity* 12:721.
- Diefenbach, A., E. R. Jensen, A. M. Jamieson, and D. H. Raulet. 2001.
 Rae1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. *Nature 413:165*.
- 118. Gasser, S., S. Orsulic, E. J. Brown, and D. H. Raulet. 2005. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. *Nature* 436:1186.
- Barten, R., M. Torkar, A. Haude, J. Trowsdale, and M. J. Wilson. 2001.
 Divergent and convergent evolution of NK-cell receptors. *Trends Immunol* 22:52.
- 120. Wu, J., Y. Song, A. B. Bakker, S. Bauer, T. Spies, L. L. Lanier, and J. H. Phillips. 1999. An activating immunoreceptor complex formed by NKG2D and DAP10. *Science* 285:730.
- Gilfillan, S., E. L. Ho, M. Cella, W. M. Yokoyama, and M. Colonna.
 2002. NKG2D recruits two distinct adapters to trigger NK cell activation and costimulation. *Nat Immunol 3:1150.*
- 122. Rosen, D. B., M. Araki, J. A. Hamerman, T. Chen, T. Yamamura, and L. L. Lanier. 2004. A Structural basis for the association of DAP12 with mouse, but not human, NKG2D. *J Immunol* 173:2470.

- 123. Karlhofer, F. M., and W. M. Yokoyama. 1991. Stimulation of murine natural killer (NK) cells by a monoclonal antibody specific for the NK1.1 antigen. IL-2-activated NK cells possess additional specific stimulation pathways. J Immunol 146:3662.
- Hackett, J., Jr., M. Tutt, M. Lipscomb, M. Bennett, G. Koo, and V. Kumar. 1986. Origin and differentiation of natural killer cells. II. Functional and morphologic studies of purified NK-1.1+ cells. *J Immunol* 136:3124.
- 125. Bendelac, A. 1995. Mouse NK1+ T cells. Curr Opin Immunol 7:367.
- 126. Iizuka, K., O. V. Naidenko, B. F. Plougastel, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2003. Genetically linked C-type lectin-related ligands for the NKRP1 family of natural killer cell receptors. *Nat Immunol 4:801*.
- 127. Voigt, S., A. Mesci, J. Ettinger, J. H. Fine, P. Chen, W. Chou, and J. R. Carlyle. 2007. Cytomegalovirus Evasion of Innate Immunity by Subversion of the NKR-P1B:Clr-b Missing-Self Axis. *Immunity 26:617*.
- 128. Arase, N., H. Arase, S. Y. Park, H. Ohno, C. Ra, and T. Saito. 1997. Association with FcRgamma is essential for activation signal through NKR-P1 (CD161) in natural killer (NK) cells and NK1.1+ T cells. J Exp Med 186:1957.
- 129. Ravetch, J. V., and J. P. Kinet. 1991. Fc receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 9:457.
- van de Winkel, J. G., and P. J. Capel. 1993. Human IgG Fc receptor heterogeneity: molecular aspects and clinical implications. *Immunol Today* 14:215.
- Uciechowski, P., T. Werfel, R. Leo, J. E. Gessner, J. Schubert, and R. E. Schmidt. 1992. Analysis of CD16+dim and CD16+bright lymphocytes-comparison of peripheral and clonal non-MHC-restricted T cells and NK cells. *Immunobiology* 185:28.
- Braakman, E., J. G. van de Winkel, B. A. van Krimpen, M. Jansze, and R.L. Bolhuis. 1992. CD16 on human gamma delta T lymphocytes:

expression, function, and specificity for mouse IgG isotypes. *Cell Immunol 143:97*.

- Lynch, R. G. 2000. Regulatory roles for FcgammaRIII (CD16) and FcgammaRII (CD32) in the development of T- and B-lineage lymphoid cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 67:279.
- Cassatella, M. A., I. Anegon, M. C. Cuturi, P. Griskey, G. Trinchieri, and
 B. Perussia. 1989. Fc gamma R(CD16) interaction with ligand induces
 Ca2+ mobilization and phosphoinositide turnover in human natural killer
 cells. Role of Ca2+ in Fc gamma R(CD16)-induced transcription and
 expression of lymphokine genes. *J Exp Med 169:549*.
- 135. Rothman, R. J., B. Perussia, D. Herlyn, and L. Warren. 1989. Antibodydependent cytotoxicity mediated by natural killer cells is enhanced by castanospermine-induced alterations of IgG glycosylation. *Mol Immunol* 26:1113.
- 136. Vivier, E., J. A. Nunes, and F. Vely. 2004. Natural killer cell signaling pathways. *Science 306:1517*.
- 137. Burshtyn, D. N., A. M. Scharenberg, N. Wagtmann, S. Rajagopalan, K. Berrada, T. Yi, J. P. Kinet, and E. O. Long. 1996. Recruitment of tyrosine phosphatase HCP by the killer cell inhibitor receptor. *Immunity* 4:77.
- 138. Lowin-Kropf, B., B. Kunz, F. Beermann, and W. Held. 2000. Impaired natural killing of MHC class I-deficient targets by NK cells expressing a catalytically inactive form of SHP-1. *J Immunol 165:1314*.
- Daws, M. R., M. Eriksson, L. Oberg, A. Ullen, and C. L. Sentman. 1999.
 H-2Dd engagement of Ly49A leads directly to Ly49A phosphorylation and recruitment of SHP1. *Immunology* 97:656.
- Burshtyn, D. N., J. Shin, C. Stebbins, and E. O. Long. 2000. Adhesion to target cells is disrupted by the killer cell inhibitory receptor. *Curr Biol* 10:777.
- 141. Flint, A. J., T. Tiganis, D. Barford, and N. K. Tonks. 1997. Development of "substrate-trapping" mutants to identify physiological substrates of protein tyrosine phosphatases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:1680*.

- 142. Stebbins, C. C., C. Watzl, D. D. Billadeau, P. J. Leibson, D. N. Burshtyn, and E. O. Long. 2003. Vav1 dephosphorylation by the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 as a mechanism for inhibition of cellular cytotoxicity. *Mol Cell Biol 23:6291*.
- Jiang, K., B. Zhong, D. L. Gilvary, B. C. Corliss, E. Vivier, E. Hong-Geller, S. Wei, and J. Y. Djeu. 2002. Syk regulation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase-dependent NK cell function. *J Immunol 168:3155*.
- 144. Roskoski, R., Jr. 2005. Src kinase regulation by phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 331:1*.
- 145. Veillette, A., and M. Fournel. 1990. The CD4 associated tyrosine protein kinase p56lck is positively regulated through its site of autophosphorylation. Oncogene 5:1455.
- Mason, L. H., J. Willette-Brown, L. S. Taylor, and D. W. McVicar. 2006. Regulation of Ly49D/DAP12 signal transduction by Src-family kinases and CD45. *J Immunol* 176:6615.
- 147. Hesslein, D. G., R. Takaki, M. L. Hermiston, A. Weiss, and L. L. Lanier.
 2006. Dysregulation of signaling pathways in CD45-deficient NK cells
 leads to differentially regulated cytotoxicity and cytokine production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:7012*.
- 148. Colucci, F., E. Schweighoffer, E. Tomasello, M. Turner, J. R. Ortaldo, E. Vivier, V. L. Tybulewicz, and J. P. Di Santo. 2002. Natural cytotoxicity uncoupled from the Syk and ZAP-70 intracellular kinases. *Nat Immunol* 3:288.
- 149. Tassi, I., J. Klesney-Tait, and M. Colonna. 2006. Dissecting natural killer cell activation pathways through analysis of genetic mutations in human and mouse. *Immunol Rev 214:92*.
- Pages, F., M. Ragueneau, R. Rottapel, A. Truneh, J. Nunes, J. Imbert, and D. Olive. 1994. Binding of phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase to CD28 is required for T-cell signalling. *Nature 369:327*.
- Martelli, A. M., M. Nyakern, G. Tabellini, R. Bortul, P. L. Tazzari, C.
 Evangelisti, and L. Cocco. 2006. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt signaling

pathway and its therapeutical implications for human acute myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia 20:911*.

- 152. Chang, C., J. Dietrich, A. G. Harpur, J. A. Lindquist, A. Haude, Y. W. Loke, A. King, M. Colonna, J. Trowsdale, and M. J. Wilson. 1999.
 Cutting edge: KAP10, a novel transmembrane adapter protein genetically linked to DAP12 but with unique signaling properties. *J Immunol* 163:4651.
- 153. Upshaw, J. L., L. N. Arneson, R. A. Schoon, C. J. Dick, D. D. Billadeau, and P. J. Leibson. 2006. NKG2D-mediated signaling requires a DAP10bound Grb2-Vav1 intermediate and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase in human natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol* 7:524.
- 154. Billadeau, D. D., J. L. Upshaw, R. A. Schoon, C. J. Dick, and P. J. Leibson. 2003. NKG2D-DAP10 triggers human NK cell-mediated killing via a Syk-independent regulatory pathway. *Nat Immunol 4:557*.
- 155. Wang, J., and T. A. Springer. 1998. Structural specializations of immunoglobulin superfamily members for adhesion to integrins and viruses. *Immunol Rev 163:197*.
- Peterson, E. J., M. L. Woods, S. A. Dmowski, G. Derimanov, M. S. Jordan, J. N. Wu, P. S. Myung, Q. H. Liu, J. T. Pribila, B. D. Freedman, Y. Shimizu, and G. A. Koretzky. 2001. Coupling of the TCR to integrin activation by Slap-130/Fyb. *Science 293:2263*.
- Dustin, M. L., T. G. Bivona, and M. R. Philips. 2004. Membranes as messengers in T cell adhesion signaling. *Nat Immunol 5:363*.
- 158. Springer, T. A., R. Rothlein, D. C. Anderson, S. J. Burakoff, and A. M. Krensky. 1985. The function of LFA-1 in cell-mediated killing and adhesion: studies on heritable LFA-1, Mac-1 deficiency and on lymphoid cell self-aggregation. *Adv Exp Med Biol 184:311*.
- Krensky, A. M., S. J. Mentzer, C. Clayberger, D. C. Anderson, F. C. Schmalstieg, S. J. Burakoff, and T. A. Springer. 1985. Heritable lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 deficiency: abnormalities of

cytotoxicity and proliferation associated with abnormal expression of LFA-1. *J Immunol 135:3102*.

- Fischer, A., B. Lisowska-Grospierre, D. C. Anderson, and T. A. Springer.
 1988. Leukocyte adhesion deficiency: molecular basis and functional consequences. *Immunodefic Rev 1:39*.
- Matsumoto, G., Y. Omi, U. Lee, T. Nishimura, J. Shindo, and J. M.
 Penninger. 2000. Adhesion mediated by LFA-1 is required for efficient IL-12-induced NK and NKT cell cytotoxicity. *Eur J Immunol 30:3723*.
- Matsumoto, G., M. P. Nghiem, N. Nozaki, R. Schmits, and J. M. Penninger. 1998. Cooperation between CD44 and LFA-1/CD11a adhesion receptors in lymphokine-activated killer cell cytotoxicity. *J Immunol* 160:5781.
- Miedema, F., P. A. Tetteroo, W. G. Hesselink, G. Werner, H. Spits, and C. J. Melief. 1984. Both Fc receptors and lymphocyte-function-associated antigen 1 on human T gamma lymphocytes are required for antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (killer cell activity). *Eur J Immunol* 14:518.
- 164. Schmidt, R. E., G. Bartley, H. Levine, S. F. Schlossman, and J. Ritz. 1985. Functional characterization of LFA-1 antigens in the interaction of human NK clones and target cells. *J Immunol 135:1020*.
- 165. Dustin, M. L., and T. A. Springer. 1989. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. *Nature 341:619*.
- 166. Katagiri, K., M. Imamura, and T. Kinashi. 2006. Spatiotemporal regulation of the kinase Mst1 by binding protein RAPL is critical for lymphocyte polarity and adhesion. *Nat Immunol 7:919*.
- 167. Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, D. F. Barber, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2005. Cytolytic granule polarization and degranulation controlled by different receptors in resting NK cells. *J Exp Med 202:1001*.
- Billadeau, D. D., K. M. Brumbaugh, C. J. Dick, R. A. Schoon, X. R.
 Bustelo, and P. J. Leibson. 1998. The Vav-Rac1 pathway in cytotoxic

lymphocytes regulates the generation of cell-mediated killing. *J Exp Med* 188:549.

- Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2006. Synergy among receptors on resting NK cells for the activation of natural cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. *Blood 107:159*.
- Smyth, M. J., E. Cretney, J. M. Kelly, J. A. Westwood, S. E. Street, H. Yagita, K. Takeda, S. L. van Dommelen, M. A. Degli-Foposti, and Y. Hayakawa. 2005. Activation of NK cell cytotoxicity. *Mol Immunol* 42:501.
- 171. Kumar, V., and M. E. McNerney. 2005. A new self: MHC-class-Iindependent natural-killer-cell self-tolerance. *Nat Rev Immunol 5:363*.
- Raulet, D. H., and R. E. Vance. 2006. Self-tolerance of natural killer cells. Nat Rev Immunol 6:520.

Chapter 2 - Epitope mapping of Ly-49G and G-like receptors: CK-1 antibody defines a polymorphic site of functional interaction with class I ligand^{1, 2}

Mohammed S. Osman, Elizabeth T. Silver, Jay C. Varghese, Chew Shun Chang,

Dong-Er Gong, Gerald F. Audette, Bart Hazes and Kevin P. Kane

A. Introduction

Natural killer (NK) cells are large granular lymphocytes that constitute a major component of innate resistance to tumors or viruses (1, 2). Natural killer cells mediate their protective functions by direct cytolysis or release of cytokines and chemokines (3-5). Activities of NK cells are controlled through a balance between signals generated by inhibitory and activating receptors, with response resulting from reduction of inhibitory signals or enhancement of activating signals (6, 7).

Natural killer cells express inhibitory receptors that recognize class I MHC proteins, preventing NK cell aggression toward cells expressing normal levels of self class I MHC molecules (8, 9). Virally-infected cells and transformed cells typically express reduced levels of class I MHC products, rendering them susceptible to NK cell effector functions due to reduction or absence of class I dependent NK cell inhibitory signals. Natural killer cells express a variety of activating receptors that trigger NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity or cytokine release (7). Such receptors recognize ligands expressed on virally-infected, transformed or otherwise "stressed" cells (10).

In mice, NK cell receptors that directly recognize classical MHC I molecules are members of the Ly-49 multigene family of lectin-like receptors (11). The Ly-49 gene family is encoded within the NK gene complex on mouse chromosome 6 (12, 13). The number of Ly-49 genes can vary in different inbred mouse strains, and Ly-49 genes display extensive allelic variation (14). Ly-49 receptors are disulphide-linked homo-dimers expressed on NK cells, NKT cells and some CD8⁺ memory T cells (15-17). The Ly-49 family contains two receptor types, with inhibitory Ly-49 receptors able to disrupt NK cell activation, while activating Ly-49 receptors stimulate NK cell activation (11). Each subunit of an inhibitory Ly-49 receptor contains an immuno-receptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM)³ in its cytoplasmic tail. Following Ly-49 engagement with a class I MHC ligand, the ITIMs become phosphorylated, leading to SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase recruitment and dephosphorylation of molecules in the NK cell activation cascade (18, 19). Ly-49 activating receptors generally share a high degree of amino acid identity in their ectodomains with inhibitory Ly-49 receptors, but lack an ITIM. Instead, activating Ly-49 receptors contain an arginine residue in the transmembrane segment that facilitates association with the signaling adapter protein DAP12 (20). Engagement of Ly-49 activating receptors stimulates NK cell signaling cascades associated with NK cell activation (21, 22).

In this report, we identified the amino acids controlling the specificity of two Ly-49G reactive antibodies, CK-1 and Cwy-3. We defined a critical region of functional interaction between the C57BL/6 allele product of the inhibitory Ly-49G receptor with a class I MHC ligand: the loop connecting the predicted β 4 and β 5 strands of Ly-49G. Our functional analyses employed native Ly-49 receptor ectodomains and ligands, and serological reagents to defined receptor epitopes. Thus, it was different from strategies that result in changes in primary amino acid sequences of the ectodomain, which could influence receptor conformation. In addition to distinguishing between Ly-49G allele products, we found that CK-1 recognized Ly-49M, but not the closely related Ly-49W receptor, possibly allowing the discrimination and characterization of NK cell subsets that express Ly-49M, but not one or more related activating Ly-49 receptors.

B. Materials and Methods

Antibodies

Hybridomas producing the following Abs: 4D11 (rat IgG2a), anti-Ly-49G (23); M1/42 (rat IgG2a), anti-mouse class I MHC (24); Y13–238 (rat IgG2a), anti p21^{*ras*} (25); and BB7.1 (IgG1), anti-HLA-B7 (26) were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). The Cwy-3 and CK-1 hybridomas were generated in this laboratory. The CK-1 (anti-Ly-49G, IgG1) hybridoma was generated following immunization of BALB/c mice with IL-2 activated C57BL/6 spleen cells, as described for the Cwy-3 (anti-Ly-49G, IgG1) hybridoma (27). Antibodies were prepared by ammonium sulfate precipitation, and PBS dialysis of tissue culture supernatants obtained from hybridomas grown in protein-free hybridoma medium. Purified OX-8 (IgG1) anti-rat CD8_a was purchased from BD PharMingen (San Diego, CA) (25). FITC-coupled mouse anti-rat and rat antimouse IgG secondary antibodies were purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories (West Grove, PA). Purified rat IgG was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON).

Cell lines

COS-7 SV40-transformed African green monkey kidney cells were grown in Opti-MEM I medium (Life Technologies, Burlington, ON), containing 10% heatinactivated FCS (Invitrogen Canada, Burlington, ON) and 5 x 10^{-5} M 2-mercaptoethanol. RNK-16, a spontaneous F344 rat strain NK cell leukemia (28) was maintained in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin, and 5 x 10^{-5} M 2-mercapto-ethanol (RNK medium).

Cloning of Ly-49G cDNA and site-directed mutagenesis

The cDNAs encoding the B6 and BALB/c alleles of Ly-49G, or Ly-49G-related receptors (Ly-49W1^{NOD}, Ly-49L^{BALB/c}, Ly-49M^{NOD}) were prepared by RT-PCR from total RNA isolated from IL-2-activated NK cells of corresponding strains, as described (29), then inserted into the *XbaI/Eco*RI sites of the mammalian
expression vector pCI-neo (Promega, Madison, WI). Ly-49G mutants were generated using the Stratagene QuikChange kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA).

Cell Transfection

The cDNA encoding inhibitory and activating Ly-49 receptors were transiently expressed in COS-7 cells using LipoFectamine (Life Technologies) as described (29). Vectors encoding activating receptors were co-transfected with a cDNA encoding mouse DAP12 in the pFLAG-CMV-1 expression vector (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The generation of RNK-16 cells stably expressing Ly-49G2^{B6} (clone 1B6) or a chimeric receptor consisting of the ectodomain of Ly-49G2^{B6} fused to the transmembrane and intracellular domains of Ly-49W^{NOD} (Ly-49W/G^{B6}, clone 2G2) has been described previously (25).

Flow cytometric detection of Ly-49G and related receptors

Approximately 48 h after transfection to express Ly-49 receptors, COS-7 cells were incubated with 4D11, Cwy-3, CK-1 or isotype control antibodies M1/42 or BB7.1, respectively. The appropriate FITC-coupled secondary antibodies, mouse anti-rat or rat anti-mouse, were subsequently added for an additional incubation, whereupon samples were analyzed on a flow cytometer. To examine the expression of Ly-49G epitopes expressed on the surface of RNK-16 transfectants, Cwy-3, CK-1 or their isotype control BB7.1 were directly labeled with Alexa-Fluor® 488 or 647 fluorochromes (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR), using the The RNK-Ly-49G^{B6} transfectant, 1B6, was manufacturer's instructions. resuspended at a density of 1×10^6 cells/ml and incubated with rat IgG at 40 µg/ml for 15 min to block rat Fc receptors. Saturating levels of Alexa-488 labeled Cwy-3 or BB7.1 antibodies were added to Fc receptor-blocked cells and incubated for 45 min, then saturating amounts of Alexa-647 labeled CK-1 or BB7.1 were added to the cells stained with the Alexa-488 labeled antibodies and incubated for 30 min. All incubations were conducted at 4°C. Cells incubated with labeled antibodies were fixed with 4 % p-formaldehyde in PBS, then analyzed on a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Becton-Dickinson, Mountain View, CA).

Cytotoxicity assays

Concanavalin A-activated blasts were prepared from DBA/2 and B6 strain spleen cells, as described (30). The Concanavalin A blasts were labeled at 37°C with 100–150 μ Ci of Na⁵¹CrO₄ (⁵¹Cr) (Mandel Scientific, Guelph, ON) for 1.5 h. Rat Fc receptors on RNK-16 Ly-49W/G^{B6} 2G2 effector cells were first blocked by incubation with rat IgG at 40 μ g/ml, then the effector cells were incubated for 30 min with medium, Ly-49G-specific antibodies, or isotype control antibodies prior to addition of labeled target cells. Target cells were incubated with 2G2 effector cells in the presence or absence of antibody for 4 h at 37°C in V-bottom microtiter plates at various E/T ratios in triplicate. After incubation, supernatant samples were counted in a MicroBeta TriLux liquid scintillation counter (PerkinElmer, Wellesley, MA). Percent specific lysis was determined as (experimental release - spontaneous release)/(maximum release - spontaneous release) x 100. Cytotoxicity experiments were performed four separate times.

C. Results

Ly-49 receptor specificities of alloantibodies

Individual mouse NK cells can express several Ly-49 receptors simultaneously and this is determined by a stochastic process (31). Most described serological reagents that bind Ly-49 receptors are cross-reactive and recognize multiple Ly-49 receptors, making it difficult to attribute a ligand specificity or functional property to a particular Ly-49 receptor. Ly-49G and a number of Ly-49G-related activating receptors, Ly-49W, Ly-49M and Ly-49L are reactive with the 4D11 antibody. These different receptors share a high degree of amino acid identity within the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD). Two allele products of Ly-49G, Ly-49G2^{BALB/c} and Ly-49G2^{B6}, share over 96% amino acid identity in their CRD. Nevertheless, strain-specific differences in Ly-49 gene content and allelic variation offer opportunities to generate serological reagents with highly restricted Ly-49 specificity. Such antibodies would be useful not only to detect receptor expression, but also to map receptor site(s) that are important for ligand interaction. We generated the antibody producing CK-1 hybridoma after injecting BALB/c mice with C57BL/6 IL-2 activated NK cells, similar to the generation of the Cwy-3 hybridoma (27). We compared the reactivity of CK-1, Cwy-3 and 4D11 with Ly-49G and Ly-49G-related receptors. COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with cDNAs encoding Ly-49G receptors from the C57BL/6 and BALB/c mouse strains, or Ly-49G-related activating receptors (Ly-49L^{BALB/c}, M^{NOD}, W^{NOD}) co-transfected with mouse DAP12. After 48 hours, the transfectants were stained with 4D11, Cwy-3, CK-1, or a corresponding isotypematched control. All Ly-49G and Ly-49G-related receptors were strongly expressed on the COS-7 cells, as detected by substantial rat 4D11 antibody staining (Fig. 2-1, left panels). Since the Cwy-3 and CK-1 hybridomas were produced from the BALB/c mouse, it was expected that they would recognize the BALB/c allele product of Ly-49G poorly, if at all, as is the case (Fig. 2-1, middle, right panels). However, the Cwy-3 and CK-1 antibodies both recognized the Ly-49G^{B6} receptor (Fig. 2-1, middle, right panels), and CK-1 stained cell surface Ly-49G2^{NOD} (Supp. Fig 2-1). The Cwy-3 antibody also recognized the Ly-49W

activating receptor from the NOD strain as we previously reported (29), as well as another activator from the NOD strain, Ly-49M, but the BALB/c activating receptor Ly-49L only weakly, similar to the Ly-49G^{BALB/c} control (**Fig. 2-1**, middle panels). CK-1, like Cwy-3, recognized Ly-49M^{NOD} but, unlike Cwy-3, did not recognize Ly-49W^{NOD} or Ly-49L^{BALB/c} (**Fig. 2-1**, right panels). Thus, unlike 4D11 and Cwy-3, CK-1 has the ability to detect the expression of Ly-49M, as opposed to Ly-49W.

CK-1 and Cwy-3 epitope mapping

The differential reactivity of Cwy-3 and CK-1 for Ly-49G-related receptors suggested that they may bind distinct epitopes on these receptors. Residues contributing to strong Cwy-3 staining are not present in Ly-49G2^{BALB/c} or Ly-49L^{BALB/c}, but are present in Ly-49G2^{B6}, W and M. Similarly, the CK-1 epitope may involve residues in common to Ly-49G2^{B6} and Ly-49M^{NOD}, but not the other examined Ly-49G-related receptors. To identify candidate residues that could contribute to, or define the Cwy-3 or CK-1 epitopes, we examined stalk and CRD domains for amino acid residues that differed between the BALB/c and C57BL/6 alleles of Ly-49G. To further refine potential residues that contributed to the Cwy-3 and CK-1 epitopes, residues were considered that differed between the BALB/c and B6 alleles of Ly-49G and were also consistent with the patterns of Cwy-3 and CK-1 reactivity with Ly-49G-related receptors. There were four residues in the CRD at positions 159, 214, 251, and 267, which could contribute to the Cwy-3 or CK-1 epitopes (Fig. 2-2). Polymorphisms in the stalk regions did not fulfill the criteria for residues that may define Cwy-3 or CK-1 epitopes and the four identified residues were not in positions that could affect predicted receptor glycosylation sites.

We mutated the BALB/c allele of Ly-49G to contain each of the identified candidate residues in the B6 allele that may confer Cwy-3 or CK-1 antibody reactivities. The four single amino acid mutants were examined for reactivity by 4D11, Cwy-3 and CK-1. The 4D11 antibody recognized the wild type BALB/c and B6 allele products of Ly-49G, as well as all of the mutant BALB/c Ly-49G

receptors in transfected COS-7 cells (**Fig. 2-3**, left panels). This indicated that the mutant receptors folded in a manner similar to the wild type and expression of the mutant receptors was clearly detectable. More importantly, a single amino acid substitution at position 159 (D to N) of the BALB/c Ly-49G conferred recognition by the Cwy-3 antibody, but not by the CK-1 antibody (**Fig. 2-3**, middle and right panels). In contrast, a single amino substitution at position 251, (G to D) on a BALB/c template, resulted in CK-1 reactivity similar to that toward Ly-49G^{B6}, but not Cwy-3 reactivity (**Fig. 2-3**, middle and right panels). Substitutions of residues 214 and 267 did not result in Cwy-3 or CK-1 recognition (**Fig. 2-3**, middle, right panels), suggesting that residues at these positions do not contribute to the epitopes detected by Cwy-3 or CK-1. Thus, epitopes recognized by Cwy-3 and CK-1 can be conferred with single amino acid substitutions at positions 159 and 251, respectively. The epitopes recognized by Cwy-3 and CK-1 appear to be independent, since a change at position 159 only affected CWy-3 recognition and a change at position 251 only affected CK-1 reactivity.

To confirm the importance of aspartic acid 251 for the CK-1 epitope, the C57BL/6 allele of the Ly-49G receptor was mutated at position 251 to glycine found at this position in the BALB/c allele of Ly-49G (D251G). This mutant receptor was expressed on the cell surface and folded properly, as demonstrated by 4D11 staining comparable to that of the B6 wild type receptor (**Fig. 2-4**, top and middle left panels). Substituting aspartic acid at this position with glycine results in a complete loss of CK-1 staining compared to the wild type Ly-49G2^{B6} receptor (**Fig. 2-4**, right panels), but not Cwy-3 (**Fig. 2-4** middle panels), demonstrating the critical role aspartic acid plays at this position for CK-1 recognition.

Ly-49G and Ly-49G-related receptors that are CK-1 positive such as Ly-49G^{B6} and Ly-49M contain the amino acid sequence DCD at positions 249-251, (**Figs. 2-1** and **2-2**). In addition, the mutant Ly-49G2^{BALB/c} receptor (G251D) recognized by CK-1, also contains the 249-251 sequence, DCD. We directly tested a possible

requirement for simultaneous expression of aspartic acids at positions 249 and 251 to observe CK-1 reactivity. Thus, a second mutant was constructed of the Ly-49G2^{B6} allele, substituting an alanine for the aspartic acid at position 249. This mutant receptor was expressed on the cell surface similar to wild type Ly- $49G2^{B6}$, as detected by 4D11 staining (**Fig. 2-4**, bottom left panel), and Cwy-3 binding was not affected (bottom middle panel). However, the D249A mutant was not recognized by CK-1 (**Fig. 2-4**, bottom right panel). We conclude that recognition by CK-1 requires the presence of both aspartic acids at positions 249 and 251 in Ly-49G^{B6} and likely also Ly-49G related receptors.

The preceding experiments indicate that Cwy-3 and CK-1 antibodies have distinct requirements for the presence of specific amino acids in Ly-49 receptors for recognition. This raised the possibility that these antibodies recognize nonoverlapping epitopes on Ly-49G^{B6}. To test this possibility directly, we determined whether these two antibodies could bind to Ly-49G^{B6} simultaneously. Ly-49G^{B6} transfected RNK-16 cells were stained with saturating concentrations of Cwy-3, CK-1, or both antibodies. The antibodies were labeled with distinct fluorochromes, Alexa 488 and Alexa 647. As expected, each Ly-49G^{B6} reactive antibody was able to bind the Ly-49G^{B6} transfectants (**Fig. 2-5** lower left, upper right panels); in addition, both antibodies were able to stain the transfectants simultaneously (**Fig. 2-5** lower right panel). No staining was observed with isotype controls (**Fig. 2-5** upper left panel). Thus, Cwy-3 and CK-1 bind non-overlapping epitopes, consistent with the results of the mutagenesis experiments. *Differential inhibition of Ly-49G^{B6} ectodomain functional interaction with its ligand*

We expressed a chimeric receptor which has the cytoplasmic and transmembrane domain of the Ly-49W activating receptor fused to the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G^{B6} receptor on the RNK-16 rat NK cell leukemia, as previously described (25). This approach provides a means to study Ly-49 inhibitory receptor interaction with its ligands, where recognition is detected as a direct positive NK cell response, instead of inhibition by the receptor of undefined

activating receptor functions (25). Significant expression of the chimeric Ly-49W/G^{B6} receptor on an RNK-16 transfectant clone 2G2, was demonstrated by staining with Cwv-3, CK-1 and 4D11 antibodies (Fig. 2-6A). No staining of RNK-16 cells with any of the three antibodies was detected (Supp. Fig. 2-2). Ly-49G^{B6} recognizes H-2D^d (25), and expression of the Ly-49W/G^{B6} chimera on RNK-16 cells results in cytotoxicity toward DBA/2 strain $(H-2^d)$, but not C57BL/6 (H2^b) Con A blasts (25) (Fig. 2-6B, upper panel). We compared the ability of CK-1, Cwy-3 and 4D11 antibodies to block cytotoxicity mediated by the Ly-49W/G^{B6} chimeric receptor. As shown in Figure 2-6B, CK-1 and 4D11 were very effective at inhibiting recognition by the chimeric receptor bearing the Ly-49G^{B6} ectodomain, however, the Cwy-3 antibody was completely unable to interfere, even at high antibody concentrations (Fig. 2-6B, upper and lower panels). The inhibition of recognition by CK-1 was specific, since OX-8, an IgG1 isotype control that binds to CD8 α molecules on the surface of RNK-W/G^{B6} effector cells, did not affect recognition, whereas CK-1 significantly inhibited cytolysis (Fig. 6B, lower panel). Since the CK-1 and Cwy-3 antibodies bind the Ly-49G^{B6} ectodomain at independent sites, these data indicate that CK-1, but not Cwy-3 binds a site, like 4D11, that is important for ligand interaction. Moreover, since we have mapped the residues responsible for CK-1 binding to the polymophic loop between the β 4 and β 5 strands, this indicates that this loop is involved in ligand recognition by Ly-49G^{B6}.

D. Discussion

Antibodies crossreactive for several Ly-49 family members and multiple alleles of a given Ly-49 gene have been generally useful in the study of Ly-49 receptor functions (23, 32). Since it has become apparent that the Ly-49 family contains twenty four or more members (14, 33, 34), antibodies which identify a particular Ly-49 member or a narrow subset of receptors are needed to attribute expression or function to specific receptors. We generated antibodies that discriminate between Ly-49G alleles and Ly-49G-related Ly-49 family members, by taking advantage of known polymorphic differences between inbred mouse strains (14). We demonstrated that CK-1, similar to the Cwy-3 antibody, recognizes the C57BL/6, but not BALB/c allele product of Ly-49G. More importantly, CK-1 can discriminate Ly-49M from Ly-49W, activating receptors that are very similar to Ly-49G in their ectodomains. This level of discrimination is very high, since Ly-49W and Ly-49M share 96% amino acid identity. The Cwy-3 antibody and AT8 antibodies have been used together to characterize the functionality of NK cell subsets expressing specific Ly-49G allele(s) isolated from F₁ animals (35). The CK-1 antibody provides additional discrimination between Ly-49G-related receptors, and may be useful in discerning the specificities and functions of NK cell subsets in a broader range of mouse strains that express two Ly-49G alleles and/or Ly-49G related activating receptors. However, because CK-1 recognizes both Ly-49G2^{NOD} (Supp. Fig. 2-1) and Ly-49M^{NOD}, it may be difficult to discriminate between these receptors on ex vivo NK cells from NOD mice. The significance of this limitation depends on the relative frequency of Ly-49G2 and Ly-49M expression on NOD strain NK cells, which remains to be determined.

We have identified the polymorphic amino acid residues of Ly-49G that confer binding specificity for the CK-1 and Cwy-3 antibodies. We modeled the location of the amino acids on Ly-49G in three dimensions, based on the known crystal structure of the related Ly-49A receptor (36). The CK-1 antibody requires the presence of two aspartic acids, D249 and D251, which reside on a loop between the β 4 and β 5 strand of Ly-49G^{B6}, and likely on other CK-1-recognized receptors such as Ly-49M, for interaction (Fig. 2-7A). The β 4- β 5 loop is highly polymorphic within the Ly-49 family with at least eleven different sequences identified. The Cwy-3 antibody requires an asparagine (e.g Ly-49G^{B6}) or valine (e.g. Ly-49W), but not an aspartic acid (Ly-49G^{BALB/c}) at position 159. The N or V159 is located on the β 1 strand (Fig. 2-7A), a significant distance from the CK-1 epitope, but near the Ly-49 dimer interface, which is consistent with our observation that CK-1 and Cwy-3 can bind Ly-49G^{B6} simultaneously. Like Ly-49W1^{NOD}, Lv-49L^{BALB/c} contains a Val residue at position 159; yet, it is recognized very poorly if at all by Cwy-3. This may stem from the presence of a number of non-conservative amino acid substitutions within the Ly-49L receptor dimer interface in the CRD, which may alter the conformation of the receptor and, as a consequence, eliminate the Cwy-3 epitope or the accessibility of Cwy-3 for V159. The amino acids required for CK-1 or Cwy-3 recognition are predicted to be solvent exposed (Fig. 2-7A), thus they are unlikely to influence the folding or conformation of the receptor, nor are they in positions to alter the Ly-49 dimer interface. Rather, the required amino acids are likely to interact directly with the antibodies and contribute to the respective antibody combining sites. We did not map the common epitope recognized by the pan-specific 4D11 antibody, however, this epitope is not identical to those recognized by CK-1 or Cwy-3, since mutations that eliminated CK-1 or Cwy-3 binding did not affect binding by 4D11.

Mutagenesis and co-crystal structures have provided insight into how Ly-49A and C bind their high affinity class I ligands, H-2D^d and K^b, respectively (36-38). However, there have been no studies that define specific sites on Ly-49G that mediate class I recognition. Ly-49A and G are within the same Ly-49 subfamily (25, 39), and D^d is a shared ligand for both receptors. Thus, the co-crystal of Ly-49A bound to D^d may serve as an appropriate model for interaction of MHC I with Ly-49G or Ly-49G-related activating receptors. The Ly-49A-D^d co-crystal indicates two distinct areas of potential interaction, termed site 1 and site 2 and these sites are also suggested when modeling Ly-49G^{B6} binding to D^d (**Fig. 2-7B**).

66

Site 1 primarily involves a region on one end of the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ domains of the MHC I molecule, whereas site 2 is a larger contact region beneath the peptide binding groove and includes a large cleft formed by portions of the $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 3$ domains of the MHC I heavy chain, and $\beta 2m$. The Site 2 region has been shown to be important for Ly-49A and C interactions with class I ligands; this may also be the case for Ly-49G. Focusing on site 2, co-crystal structures of Ly-49A and C with their respective ligands indicate that Ly-49A and C share a group of conserved residues within the Ly-49 family, that include S236, R239 and D/E241, which form a patch that interacts with class I ligands. Ly-49A has multiple additional contacts with class I and β 2m at site 2, beyond those observed with Ly-49C, particularly with residue Q29 of β 2m (36). These additional contacts are largely mediated by variable residues within the Ly-49 family, particularly of the β 4- β 5 loop (40). The epitope recognized by Cwy-3 maps to a site on Ly-49G^{B6} that is distant from potential sites of class I interaction (Fig. 2-7B), and is consistent with our observation that this antibody is unable to block a functional interaction of Ly-49 G^{B6} with D^d . It should be mentioned that Cwy-3 can block Ly-49G^{B6} interaction with a class I ligand, but only when a large multivalent molecule such as protein G is used as a secondary reagent, presumably enhancing steric hindrance (25). In contrast, CK-1 binds residues of the Ly-49G^{B6} B4-B5 loop, which are predicted to directly interact with class I at site 2, and site 1 (Fig. 2-7B), and we have shown that CK-1 is quite effective at disrupting functional MHC I interaction with the Ly-49 G^{B6} ectodomain. Since the β 4- β 5 loop is distinct from the conserved 236-241 patch, and utilized by Lv-49A but not Lv-49C for MHC I interaction, our results with CK-1 suggest that Ly-49G binds D^d in a manner similar to Ly-49A, but not Ly-49C. We have also shown that the β 4β5 loop is important in determining the class I allele specificity of Ly-49G-related activating receptors by mutagenesis (40). The effectiveness of CK-1 in blocking responses and the mapping of its epitope to the β 4- β 5 loop is complementary to results obtained with Ly-49 mutagenesis and co-crystal structures (36-38), and emphasizes the importance of the β 4- β 5 loop in MHC I recognition by Ly-49A and G receptors.

¹ A version of this chapter has been published in the *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* (2005) 77(5): 644-651. *Copyright 2005. The Society of Leukocyte Biology*.

² Acknowledgements: This work was supported by operating grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (to K.P. Kane and B. Hazes). K.P.K. is an Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR) Scientist, and B. H. is an AHFMR scholar. M.S.O. and E.T.S. were supported by AHFMR studentships.

E. Individual Contributions: M. Osman and K. Kane wrote and modified the paper for publication. The initial predictions regarding which residues to mutate were made by Dr. E. Silver; these were corroborated and updated by M. Osman in conjunction with Dr. K. Kane. Experimentally, Dr. E. Silver generated the wild type cDNA constructs used by J. Varghese to generate the mutant Ly-49G receptors via site-directed mutagenesis. M. Osman expressed the mutant Ly-49 receptors in COS-7 cells, assessed the relative binding affinities of the anti-Ly49G antibodies to the mutant receptors, and the antibody competition experiments using flow cytometry. He also assisted with the modeling of the Ly-49G structure crystal in collaboration with Dr. G. Audette in Dr. B. Hazes's lab. Dr. E. Silver also generated the stable RNK-16 stable transfectants. Dr. C. Chang generated both the Cwy-3 and CK-1 monoclonal antibodies, and D. Gong performed chromium release cytotoxicity assays.

³Abbreviations: β 2m, β 2-microglobulin; ⁵¹Cr, Na⁵¹CrO₄; CRD, carbohydrate recognition domain; E/T ratio, effector to target ratio; ITIM, immuno-receptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif; PDB, protein database.



Figure 2-1 The CK-1 and Cwy-3 antibodies recognize partially overlapping sets of Ly-49 receptors. COS-7 cells were transiently transfected to express the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor from C57BL/6 or BALB/c mice, or Ly-49W1, Ly-49M, or Ly-49L receptors and murine DAP12, then analyzed by flow cytometry using 4D11, Cwy-3, or CK-1 antibodies (gray), or isotype controls, M1/42 and BB7.1 (black).

Function	Receptor	Strain	← TM	
I	Ly-49G2	(BALB/c)	MSEQEVTYSTVRFHESSRLQKLVRTEEPQRPREACYRKYSVPWKLIVIACG	51
I	Ly-49G2	(C57BL/6)	<u>E</u> E	
A	Ly-49W1	(NOD)	F-AKGNRLTGK-QK-GL-VCQL-	
A	Ly-49M	(NOD)	F-AKGNRLTGKK-GL-***QL-	
A	Ly-49L	(BALB/c)	F-AKGNRLTGKK-GL-***QL-	
	-			
I	Ly-49G2	(BALB/c)	IFCFLLLVTVALLAITIFQHIQQKHELQETLNCHDNCSTT*QSDVNLKDEL	101
ī	Ly-49G2	(C57BL/6)	LP-*SxxP-*P-*	
Ā	Ly-49W1	(NOD)	LIS-RI-SV-*VNNSNKTI	
A	Ly-49M	(NOD)	LIS-RI-SV-*VNNSKTI	
A	Ly-49L	(BALB/c)	LIS-RI-SV-*VNNSNKTI	
	-	•	······	
T	Lv-49G2	(BALB/c)	LRNKS IECRPGNDLLESLNRDQKRWYSETKTFSDSSQHTGRGFEKYWFCYG	153
Ť	Lv-49G2	(C57BL/6)	SSN	
- A	Lv-49W1	(NOD)	-SSTHKE-NHKE-N	
л. А	Ly-49M	(NOD)	TKE-NRTT	
A	Lv-49L	(BALB/c)	-SSTHKE-N	
••	-	•	CRD	
I	Ly-49G2	(BALB/c)	IKCYYFDMDRKTWSGCKQTCQISSLSLLKIDNEDELKFLQNLAPSDISWIG	204
I	Ly-49G2	(C57BL/6)	N	
Ā	Ly-49W1	(NOD)	$\cdots \leftarrow \cdots \\ $	
A	Lv-49M	(NOD)	TDDD	
A	Lv-49L	(BALB/c)	KL-VSC	
	•		CRD	
-	Ly-49G2	(BALB/c)	FSYDNKKKDWAWIDNGPSKLALNTTKYNIRDGLCMSLSKTRLDNGDCGKSY	255
± +	Ly-49G2	(C57BL/6)	LYD	
1 N	Lv-49W1	(NOD)		
2	Lv-49M	(NOD)	VD	
A 2	Lv-49L	(BALB/c)	LDN-DF	
A	-1	•	•••••• CRD ••••••	
т	Ly-49G2	(BALB/c)	ICICGKRLDKFPY 267	
Ť	Lv-49G2	(C57BL/6)		
۲ م	Lv-49W1	(NOD)	H	
2	Ly-49M	(NOD)	SH	
Ä	Ly-49L	(BALB/c)	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	

Figure 2-2 Amino acid alignment of Ly-49G and Ly-49G-related receptors from different mouse strains. Regions corresponding to the cytoplasmic, transmembrane (TM), stalk and CRD are indicated with arrows. Amino acids in bold identify residues that differ between BALB/c and B6 allele products of Ly-49G2 and are consistent with the staining patterns of Ly-49G and related receptors. Determined or expected receptor function is designated by (I) inhibitory, or (A) activating. GenBank accession numbers: AF307946 (Ly-49G2^{BALB/c}), NM_014194 (Ly-49G2^{C57BL/6}), AF283250 (Ly-49W1^{NOD}), AF283252 (Ly-49M^{NOD}) and AF307947 (Ly-49L^{BALB/c}).



Figure 2-3 Recognition by Cwy-3 and CK-1 antibodies requires distinct Ly-49G^{B6} amino acid residues. COS-7 cells were transfected with Ly-49G2 from BALB/c or C57BL/6 mice, or mutants that substitute individual Ly-49G^{B6} residues for Ly-49G^{BALB/c} residues, then analyzed by flow cytometry using 4D11 to monitor Ly-49G surface expression (gray) or the M1/42 isotype control (black). Alternatively, transfected cells were analyzed using Cwy-3 or CK-1 (gray), or an isotype control (BB7.1, black), to identify mutants that conferred the epitope recognized by either Ly-49G^{B6} binding antibody.



Figure 2-4 CK-1 recognition requires two aspartic acid residues, 249 and 251 of Ly-49G2^{B6}. COS-7 cells were transfected with wild type Ly-49G2^{B6} or amino acid substitution mutants of Ly-49G2^{B6} as indicated, then analyzed by flow cytometry using 4D11 (gray) or an M1/42 isotype control (black), to monitor Ly-49G^{B6} expression. Cwy-3 or CK-1 (gray), or an isotype control (BB7.1, black) staining was performed to identify Ly-49G^{B6} mutants that affected the CK-1 recognized epitope. Differences in β_4 - β_5 loop amino acid sequences of mutant receptors are in bold.



Figure 2-5 CK-1 and Cwy-3 recognize distinct non-overlapping epitopes. RNK-16 cells stably transfected with Ly-49G2^{B6}, clone 1B6, were pre-incubated with rat IgG to block antibody binding to cell Fc receptors. 1B6 cells were treated with Alexa-488 labeled antibodies (Cwy-3, or BB7.1) followed by treatment with Alexa-647 labeled antibodies (CK-1 or BB7.1), as indicated. Alexa-488 staining is indicated on the horizontal axis, while Alexa-647 staining is on the vertical axis. All antibodies were added at saturating concentrations.

74



Figure 2-6 Epitope dependence of Ly-49G interaction with ligand. A, Expression of the Ly-49W/G^{B6} chimera on RNK-16 transfectant 2G2, detected with Cwy-3, CK-1 and 4D11 antibodies (filled), isotype controls BB7, Y13 respectively (unfilled); B, Effect of Cwy-3, CK-1 and 4D11 antibodies on the inhibition of Ly-49G2^{B6} recognition of target cells bearing its MHC I ligand. Lysis of DBA/2 Con A blasts by RNK.WG^{B6} clone 2G2, was measured with no Ab or in the presence of anti-Ly-49G Ab (Cwy-3, CK-1 or 4D11, upper and lower panels) or control Abs (OX-8 or Y13–238, respectively, lower panel), at the indicated concentrations. C57BL/6 Con A blasts were negative control target cells (upper panel). The FcR of effector cells were blocked by incubation with rat IgG (40 µg/ml) prior to addition of the indicated antibodies. Lysis was determined in standard 4-hr release assay using an E:T ratio of 12.5:1. Antibodies were at the indicated concentrations during the assay. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells, with error bars representing the respective standard deviations.



Figure 2-7 Location of Ly-49G residues that determine CK-1 and Cwy-3 binding and their interaction with H-2D^d. A, Model of the Ly-49G^{B6} monomer, based on the Ly-49A crystal structure (PDB ID # 1QO3; (36)). Residues D249, D251 (CK-1 epitope) and N159 (Cwy-3 epitope) are shown in ball-and-stick form with yellow and blue bonds, respectively. B, Interaction of Ly-49G^{B6} with D^d, based on Ly-49A-D^d complex (PBD ID # 1QO3, (36)). H-2D^d heavy chain, β 2-microglobulin, and the Ly-49G^{B6} monomers are shown in blue, green and red, respectively, and the interactions at sites 1 and 2 are boxed. Ly-49G^{B6} residues determining CK-1 (yellow) and Cwy-3 (blue) specificity are shown in ball-and-stick form. Images were created using the programs MOLSCRIPT (41), and Raster3d (42).



Supplementary Fig. 2-1. Ly-49G2^{NOD} is positive for staining with CK-1, but not Cwy-3. COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with 2 μ g of Ly-49G2^{NOD}- pCI-neo as described in the *Materials and Methods* section, then receptor surface expression was assessed using flow cytometry using either CK-1, Cwy-3 or BB7.1 as an isotype-matched control antibody.



Supplementary Figure 2-2. RNK-16 cells are not recognized by 4D11, CK-1 or Cwy-3. RNK-16 cells were stained with 4D11, Cwy-3, CK-1 or corresponding isotype-matched control as described in the *Materials and Methods* section, then analyzed using a FACScan flow cytometer.

F. References

- 1. French, A.R., Yokoyama W.M. (2003) Natural killer cells and viral infections. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **15**, 45-51.
- Smyth, M.J., Thia, K.Y.T., Street, S.E.A., Cretney, E., Trapani, J.A., Taniguchi, M., Kawano, T., Pelikan, S.B., Crowe, N.Y., Godfrey, D.I. (2000) Differential tumor surveillance by natural killer (NK) and NKT cells. J. Exp. Med. 191, 661-668.
- Biron, C.A., Nguyen, K.B., Pien, G. C., Cousens, L.P., Salazar-Mather, T.P. (1999) Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 17, 189-220.
- Ortaldo, J.R., Mason, L.H., Gregorio, T.A., Stoll, J. Winkler-Pickett, R.T. (1997) The Ly-49 family: regulation of cytokine production in murine NK cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 62, 381-388.
- Ortaldo J.R., Young, H.A. (2003) Expression of IFN-gamma upon triggering of activating Ly49D NK receptors in vitro and in vivo: costimulation with IL-12 or IL-18 overrides inhibitory receptors. J. Immunol. 170, 1763-1769.
- Eriksson, M., Leitz, G., Fallman, E., Axner, O., Ryan, J.C., Nakamura, M.C., Sentman, C.L. (1999) Inhibitory receptors alter natural killer cell interactions with target cells yet allow simultaneous killing of susceptible targets. J. Exp. Med. 190, 1005-1012.
- Lanier, L.L. (2000) Turning on natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 191, 1259-1262.
- Ljunggren, H.G., Paabo, S., Cochet, M., Kling, G., Kourilsky, P., Karre, K. (1989) Molecular analysis of H-2-deficient lymphoma lines. Distinct defects in biosynthesis and association of MHC class I heavy chains and beta 2-microglobulin observed in cells with increased sensitivity to NK cell lysis. J. Immunol. 142, 2911-2917.
- Piontek, G.E., Taniguchi, K., Ljunggren, H.G., Gronberg, A., Kiessling, R., Klein, G., Karre K. (1985) YAC-1 MHC class I variants reveal an association between decreased NK sensitivity and increased H-2

expression after interferon treatment or in vivo passage. J. Immunol. 135, 4281-4288.

- Lanier, L.L. (2001) On guard--activating NK cell receptors. *Nat. Immunol.* 2, 23-27.
- 11. Nakamura, M.C., Seaman, W.E. (2001) Ligand interaction by activating and inhibitory Ly-49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev.* 181, 138-148.
- Brown, M.G., Fulmek, S., Matsumoto, K., Cho, R., Lyons, P.A., Levy,
 E.R., Scalzo, A.A., Yokoyama, W.M. (1997) A 2-Mb YAC contig and
 physical map of the natural killer gene complex on mouse chromosome 6.
 Genomics 42, 16-25.
- Wilhelm, B.T., Gagnier, L., Mager, D.L. (2002) Sequence analysis of the ly49 cluster in C57BL/6 mice: a rapidly evolving multigene family in the immune system. *Genomics* 80, 646-661.
- Makrigiannis, A.P., Pau, A.T., Schwartzberg, P.L., McVicar, D.W., Beck, T.W., Anderson, S.K. (2002) A BAC contig map of the Ly49 gene cluster in 129 mice reveals extensive differences in gene content relative to C57BL/6 mice. *Genomics* 79, 437-444.
- 15. Ryan, J.C., Seaman, W.E. (1997) Divergent functions of lectin-like receptors on NK cells. *Immunol. Rev.* **155**, 79-89.
- Maeda, M., Lohwasser, S., Yamamura, T., Takei, F. (2001) Regulation of NKT cells by Ly49: analysis of primary NKT cells and generation of NKT cell line. *J. Immunol.* 167, 4180-4186.
- Ugolini, S., Arpin, C., Anfossi, N., Walzer, T., Cambiaggi, A., Forster, R., Lipp, M., Toes, R.E., Melief, C.J., Marvel, J., Vivier, E. (2001) Involvement of inhibitory NKRs in the survival of a subset of memoryphenotype CD8⁺ T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 2, 430-435.
- Burshtyn, D.N., Scharenberg, A.M., Wagtmann, N., Rajagopalan, S., Berrada, K., Yi, T., Kinet, J.P., Long, E.O. (1996) Recruitment of tyrosine phosphatase HCP by the killer cell inhibitor receptor. *Immunity* 4, 77-85.
- Nakamura, M.C., Niemi E.C., Fisher, M.J., Shultz, L.D., Seaman, W.E., Ryan, J.C. (1997) Mouse Ly-49A interrupts early signaling events in

natural killer cell cytotoxicity and functionally associates with the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase. *J. Exp. Med.* **185**, 673-684.

- Smith, K.M., Wu, J., Bakker, A.B., Phillips, J.H., Lanier, L.L. (1998) Ly-49D and Ly-49H associate with mouse DAP12 and form activating receptors. *J. Immunol.* 161, 7-10.
- Lanier, L.L., Corliss, B.C., Wu, J., Leong, C., Phillips, J.H. (1998) Immunoreceptor DAP12 bearing a tyrosine-based activation motif is involved in activating NK cells. *Nature* 391, 703-707.
- McVicar, D.W., Taylor, L.S., Gosselin, P., Willette-Brown, J., Mikhael, A.I., Geahlen, R.L., Nakamura, M.C., Linnemeyer, P., Seaman, W.E., Anderson, S.K., Ortaldo, J.R., Mason, L.H. (1998) DAP12-mediated signal transduction in natural killer cells. A dominant role for the Syk protein-tyrosine kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 32934-32942.
- Mason, L., Giardina, S.L., Hecht, T., Ortaldo, J., Mathieson, B.J. (1988) LGL-1: a non-polymorphic antigen expressed on a major population of mouse natural killer cells. *J. Immunol.* 140, 4403-4412.
- 24. Springer, T. A. (1980) Cell surface differentiation in the mouse.
 Characterization of "jumping" and "lineage" antigens using xenogeneic rat monoclonal antibodies. In *Monoclonal Antibodies* (Edited by Kennet R. H., McKearn T. J. Bechtol K. B.), Plenum Press, New York. 185-217.
- Silver, E.T., Lavender, K.J., Gong, D.E., Hazes, B., Kane, K.P. (2002) Allelic variation in the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor alters its specificity for allogeneic and xenogeneic ligands. *J. Immunol.* 169, 4752-4760.
- Brodsky, F.M., Parham, P., Barnstable, C.J., Crumpton, M.J., Bodmer, W.F. (1979). Monoclonal antibodies for analysis of the HLA system. *Immunol. Rev.* 47, 3-61.
- Chang, C.S., Silver, E.T., Kane, K.P. (1999) Generation of a monoclonal antibody that recognizes a polymorphic epitope of C57BL/6 Ly-49G2. *Hybridoma* 18, 423-429.

- Reynolds, C.W., Bere, E.W., Jr., Ward, J.M. (1984) Natural killer activity in the rat. III. Characterization of transplantable large granular lymphocyte (LGL) leukemias in the F344 rat. J. Immunol. 132, 534-540.
- Silver, E.T., Gong, D., Hazes, B., Kane, K.P. (2001) Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). *J. Immunol.* 166, 2333-2341.
- Silver, E.T., Gong, D.E., Chang, C.S., Amrani, A., Santamaria, P., Kane,
 K.P. (2000) Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2D^d. J.
 Immunol. 165, 1771-1781.
- Roth, C., Carlyle, J.R., Takizawa, H., Raulet, D.H. (2000) Clonal acquisition of inhibitory Ly49 receptors on developing NK cells is successively restricted and regulated by stromal class I MHC. *Immunity* 13, 143-153.
- Corral, L., Takizawa, H., Hanke, T., Jamieson, A.M., Raulet, D.H. (1999) A new monoclonal antibody reactive with several Ly49 NK cell receptors mediates redirected lysis of target cells. *Hybridoma* 18, 359-366.
- 33. Smith, H.R., Karlhofer, F.M., Yokoyama, W.M. (1994) Ly-49 multigene family expressed by IL-2-activated NK cells. *J. Immunol.* **153**, 1068-1079.
- 34. Kane, K.P., Silver, E.T., Hazes, B. (2001) Specificity and function of activating Ly-49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev.* **181**, 104-114.
- Makrigiannis, A.P., Rousselle, E., Anderson, S.K. (2004) Independent control of Ly49g alleles: Implications for NK cell repertoire selection and tumor cell killing. *J. Immunol.* 172, 1414-1425.
- Tormo, J., Natarajan, K., Margulies, D.H., Mariuzza, R.A. (1999) Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature* 402, 623-631.
- Matsumoto, N., Mitsuki, M., Tajima, K., Yokoyama, W.M., Yamamoto, K. (2001) The functional binding site for the C-type lectin-like natural killer cell receptor Ly49A spans three domains of its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. J. Exp. Med. 193, 147-158.

- Dam, J., Guan, R., Natarajan, K., Dimasi, N., Chlewicki, L.K., Kranz,
 D.M., Schuck, P., Margulies, D.H., Mariuzza, R.A. (2003) Variable MHC class I engagement by Ly49 natural killer cell receptors demonstrated by the crystal structure of Ly49C bound to H-2K(b). *Nat. Immunol.* 4, 1213-1222.
- 39. Silver, E.T., Gong, D.E., Hazes, B., Kane, K.P. (2001) Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). *J. Immunol.* 166, 2333-2341.
- Ma, B.J., Silver, E.T., Hazes, B., Kane, K.P. (2003) Reciprocal transfer of class I MHC allele specificity between activating Ly-49P and Ly-49W receptors by exchange of beta 4-beta 5 loop residues. *J. Immunol.* 171, 5337-5344.
- 41. Kraulis, P.J. (1991) Molscript a Program to Produce Both Detailed and Schematic Plots of Protein Structures. J. Appl. Crystal. 24, 946-950.
- 42. Merritt, E.A., Bacon, D.J. (1997) Raster3D: Photorealistic molecular graphics. *Macromol. Crystal. Pt B* **277**, 505-524.

Chapter 3 - Activating Ly-49 receptors regulate LFA-1 mediated adhesion by NK cells^{1, 2}

Mohammed S. Osman, Deborah N. Burshtyn and Kevin P. Kane

A. Introduction

Natural killer (NK) cells are large granular lymphocytes that are important components of innate resistance to tumors and viruses (1, 2). Natural killer cells mediate protective functions through cytolysis of virally infected cells or tumor cells, and by release of cytokines and chemokines (3-5). NK cells are controlled through a balance of signals generated by inhibitory and activating receptors, with response resulting from reduction of inhibitory signals or enhancement of activating signals (6).

NK cells express a variety of activating receptors that trigger cellmediated cytotoxicity and cytokine release (6). Activating NK cell receptors of mouse that trigger cell-mediated cytotoxicity and/or cytokine release include $Fc\gamma RIII$, natural cytotoxicity receptors, NKG2D, and activating Ly-49 receptors that directly recognize MHC-I molecules (6-12). Activating Ly-49 molecules are disulphide-linked homodimeric lectin-like receptors that contain an arginine residue in the transmembrane segment which facilitates association with the signaling adapter protein DAP12 (13). DAP12 contains an ITAM, which recruits Syk family tyrosine kinases to trigger the cytolytic cascade and cytokine release (14).

NK cells also express LFA-1 ($\alpha_L\beta_2$), a β_2 -integrin that binds ICAM-1-5 and is important for adhesion to target cells (15-17). In various cell types, signals emanating from activating receptors regulate the affinity and/or avidity of LFA-1 ultimately resulting in increased binding of ICAM-1 (18-20). LFA-1 binding of ICAM-1 stabilizes the intercellular adhesion between cytotoxic cells and their targets promoting the delivery of cytotoxic granules contents toward susceptible targets (15, 21). Inside-out signaling producing firm LFA-1 mediated adhesion, for example, between cytotoxic T cells and their targets, is triggered by signaling resulting from TCR engagement (19). In NK cells, LFA-1 provides adhesion and contributes an early activating signal that facilitates polarization of cytolytic granules toward target cells (15, 17, 21). While the signaling by activating Ly-49 engagement has some similarities with that by the TCR, such as involvement of an ITAM and Syk family kinases, there are no reports to date demonstrating inside-out signaling by an NK cell activating receptor.

In this study we show that Ly-49 activating receptors promote adhesion of NK cells through a DAP12-dependent inside-out regulation of LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1. Furthermore, we find that cross-linking with Ly-49 receptor-specific antibodies can mimic cognate ligand interaction and trigger LFA-1 mediated NK cell binding to purified ICAM-1. Together, these results establish a role for Ly-49 activating receptors in regulating adhesion to target cells through LFA-1.

B. Materials and Methods

Antibodies and cell lines

The following antibodies were produced from the hybridomas as described (22) A1 (IgG2a), anti-Ly-49A/P (23); B27M1 (IgG2a), anti-HLA-B7 (24); M1/42, anti-mouse H-2 (rat IgG2a) (25); 2.4G2 (rat IgG2b) anti-mouse Fc-y receptor (26); M17/5.2 (rat IgG2b) anti-mouse LFA-1 (27); and anti-mouse F4/80 antigen (rat IgG2b) (28). Purified G28, (IgG2a) anti-rat CD8a; WT.1, (IgG2a) anti-rat CD11a; and 4E5, (rat IgG2b), anti-Ly-49D-FITC were purchased from BD/PharMingen (San Diego, CA). FITC-coupled rat anti-mouse IgG, mouse antirat IgG and APC coupled polyclonal anti-human IgG were purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories (West Grove, PA). Purified gam³, gar, and unmodified rat IgG were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON). Rabbit anti-DAP12 serum (14), was provided by Dr. D. McVicar (Frederick, MD, USA). The pharmacological inhibitors PP2 and piceatannol were purchased from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA), and reconstituted in DMSO then stored at 4°C. RNK-16, a spontaneous rat NK leukemia was maintained as described (22, 29). The P815 mouse mastocytoma was maintained in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 5% FCS and 5 x 10^{-5} M 2-ME.

Flow Cytometry

For the detection of cell surface Ly-49P, CD8 α , or LFA-1, RNK or RNK transfectants (~ 0.3 x 10⁶ cells/sample) were incubated with normal rat serum for 10 min at RT, then the indicated mAb was added (2 µg/mL) for 30-45 min on ice. Following the incubation, the cells were washed three times using 1XPBS, then FITC-coupled secondary rat anti-mouse IgG antibodies were added, incubated for 20-30 min on ice, washed three time with 1XPBS, fixed with 4% *p*-formaldehyde in PBS then analyzed using a FACScan® flow cytometer. For the detection of Ly-49D on *ex vivo* NK cells, 4E5-FITC (2 µg/mL) was added to DX5-enriched NK cells pre-incubated with 2.4G2 (10 min RT, 10 µg/mL) for 30 min on ice, washed three times with 1XPBS, then fixed and analyzed as above.

Mutagenesis of Ly-49P

Ly-49P (22), was mutated using the QuickChange Mutagenesis kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) to encode Leu for Arg 57 in Ly-49P. The altered cDNA was verified by DNA sequencing and inserted into *XhoI/Xba*I sites of the BSR α EN vector (provided by Dr. A. Shaw [Washington University, St. Louis, MO]). RNK-16 were transfected with wild type or mutant Ly-49P cDNAs as described (22), to generate RNK-P and RNK-P(R57L).

Immuno-blotting

 $1.5-2.0 \ge 10^7$ cells were lysed in 1% Triton w/v, 0.15 M NaCl, 20 mM Tris pH 8 with protease inhibitors. Lysates were immunoprecipitated with A1 or B27M1 and protein G-agarose, separated by 12% SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions, and transferred to Immobilon-P. Membranes were blotted with rabbit antiserum and detected by chemiluminescence (Pierce; Rockford, IL).

Cytotoxicity assays

Target cells were labeled at 37°C with 100 μ Ci of Na⁵¹CrO₄ for 1-2 h. Following washing, 1 x 10^{4 51}Cr-labeled targets were incubated for 4 h at 37°C in V-bottom microtiter plates with RNK-16, RNK-P, or Ly49P(R57L) at various E:T ratios in triplicate. Following the incubation, supernatant samples were counted in a MicroBeta TriLux liquid scintillation counter (PerkinElmer, Wellesley, MA). Percent specific lysis was determined as (experimental release - spontaneous release)/(maximum release - spontaneous release) x 100. Cytotoxicity experiments were performed at least separate times.

Animals

Female C57BL/6 mice at 6–8 wk of age were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). Experiments were approved by the Animal Welfare and Policy Committee of the University of Alberta (Edmonton, Alberta, Canada).

Conjugate assays

The cell conjugate assays were performed as described (30), using red (PKH 26) and green (PKH67) membrane linker dyes (Sigma-Aldrich; Oakville, ON). For assays in the presence of blocking mAbs, the antibodies were pre-bound to soluble protein A/G (1:1 ratio) for 15 minutes at room temperature (RT), then added to RNK-16, RNK-P or RNK-P(R57L) effector cells and incubated at 4°C for 10 min. Following incubation, labeled target cells were added to the effector cells pre-incubated with normal rat serum, then the number of tight conjugates was determined (30). Results represent the means \pm SD. For adhesion assays with ex vivo NK cells, mouse ICAM-1 was affinity-purified from mouse A20 cells using a YN-1/1.7.4 sepharose column as described (31). NK cells were prepared using the Easy Sep DX5⁺ selection kit (Stem Cell Technologies; Vancouver, BC) from RBC-depleted single cell suspensions of C57BL/6 spleens. Cells were stained for Ly-49D expression using 4E5-FITC antibodies. DX5⁺ cells were treated with α -Ly-49D-FITC or α -H2 mAbs (1µg/10⁶ cells), then mixed with cell-size beads immobilized with BSA or ICAM-1 (2 μ g/10⁷ beads) in RPMI containing 0.5 mM MgCl₂ at an effector:bead ratio of 1:1, and centrifuged at 30xg for 3 min. Cell/bead mixtures treated with mAbs were cross-linked using gar (0.5 μ g/mL) for 2.5 min, then fixed with 1% *p*-formaldehyde. Ly-49D⁺ cell conjugates were determined as the percentage of $DX5^{+}/Ly49D^{+}$ cells shifted to a SSC corresponding to that of the beads, as illustrated in Fig. 5A and depicted in Fig. 5C.

Plate ICAM-1 adhesion assay

Purified ICAM-1 was immobilized on flat-bottom microtitre plates at 1 μ g/mL overnight at 4°C in PBS supplemented with 900 μ M CaCl₂ and 500 μ M MgCl₂. RNK-16, RNK-P or RNK-P(R57L) cells were labeled with ⁵¹Cr, incubated with normal rat serum for 10 min at RT, then with 5 μ g/mL of A1 or isotype control antibodies (as indicated) for 10 min at RT, and the cells (1.1 x 10⁵) were added to immobilized ICAM-1 or 2% FCS, with or without 0.5 μ g/mL gam for 30 min at 37°C. At the end of incubation, an aliquot was harvested to determine

spontaneous release, then unbound cells were removed by pipetting shear force, and the number of bound cells determined by β -counting. In all adhesion experiments, cell binding was calculated as: percent specific cell binding = 100 x [bound counts / (total counts – spontaneous release)], with results representing the mean ± SD of each triplicate. For experiments using pharmacological inhibitors, ⁵¹Cr-labeled RNK-P cells were pre-treated with the indicated concentration of the inhibitor or DMSO alone for 30 min at 37°C. Following incubation with either inhibitor, the cells were treated as above with normal rat serum and A1, then added to immobilized ICAM-1-immobilized wells containing gam for 30 min at 37°C. Subsequently, the cells were harvested as above, and the number of bound cells was determined by β -counting.

C. Results

Ly-49P dependent lysis requires LFA-1

To study the potential role of activating Ly-49 receptors in triggering NK cell adhesion to target cells, we expressed the non-obese diabetic (NOD) activating Ly-49P on rat RNK-16 leukemia cells by transfection and ensured that the transfectants expressed similar levels of CD11a and CD8a as parental cells (Fig 3-1A, upper panels). To monitor the expression of Ly-49P on the surface of RNK-16 cells, we used the A1 mAb which we have previously shown to recognize both Ly-49A and Ly-49P (22). RNK cells transfected with Ly-49P (RNK-P) expressed uniform levels of Ly-49P as expected, while no mouse Ly-49P expression was detected on the untransfected rat cells (Fig 3-1A, lower panels). We employed P815 mastocytoma cells as target cells for the Ly-49P transfectants, since they express endogenous H-2D^d and ICAM-1, ligands for Ly-49P and LFA-1, respectively (Fig. 3-1A, far right panel). The P815 target cells were efficiently lysed by RNK-P effector cells, but not parental RNK-16 (Fig. 3-1B). These results indicate that lysis of target cells is dependent on Ly-49P recognition of H-2D^d expressed by P815. Lysis of P815 was blocked by antibodies to Ly-49P, as well as LFA-1 (Fig. 3-1C) and ICAM-1 (Fig. 3-1D), but not by isotype control antibodies (Fig. 3-1C and 3-1D), indicating that by interacting with their respective ligands, Ly-49P and LFA-1 both contribute to P815 lysis.

Ly-49P promotes adhesion to susceptible target cells in an LFA-1 dependent manner

Studies using cytotoxic T cells have demonstrated that tight adhesion is an important step preceding cytotoxicity (15). Therefore, we tested whether Ly-49P promotes formation of conjugates between effector cells and susceptible targets, using two color flow cytometry (30). RNK-P, but not parental RNK-16, rapidly formed tight conjugates with P815, with maximum hetero-conjugates detected by ten minutes (**Fig. 3-2A**). Cell adhesion was dependent on engagement of Ly-49P

with H-2D^d, as blocking this interaction significantly reduced the number of tight conjugates (**Fig. 3-2B**). The tight cell adhesion was also dependent on interactions between LFA-1 and ICAM-1 as antibodies to these molecules also reduced the number of NK cell conjugates (**Fig. 3-2B** and **3-2C**). Thus, Ly-49P-mediated recognition regulates cell binding in a LFA-1 – ICAM-1 dependent manner, and promotes cytolysis of susceptible target cells.

Ly-49P-mediated adhesion is DAP12 dependent

The interaction between inhibitory Ly-49 and MHC-I is sufficient to mediate binding of cells to ligands on plates or on other cells (32, 33). To distinguish the contribution of direct binding of H-2D^d by Ly-49P toward tight cell:cell adhesion, from Ly-49P-mediated signaling events that alter LFA-1 binding, we constructed an Ly-49P mutant with an amino acid substitution at position 57, where the positively charged Arg was replaced with Leu and stably expressed this receptor on RNK-16 cells by transfection. This mutation, R57L, abrogates the ability of the receptor to associate with DAP12, and in turn its ability to signal following ligand recognition, but still allow Ly-49P(R57L) surface expression (13). RNK-P(R57L) cells expressed similar levels of Ly-49P using the A1 mAb, as well as CD11a, and CD8α as RNK-P cells ((Fig 3-3A), and Supp. Fig. 3-1). However, the DAP12 signaling adapter co-immunoprecipitates with Ly49P but not Ly-49P(R57L) from the RNK transfectants (Fig. 3-3B). Furthermore, RNK-P(R57L), unlike RNK-P, was unable to lyse P815 (Fig. 3-3C), despite retaining the ability to lyse YB2/0 directly and EL-4 cells by ADCC via CD16 (Supp. Fig. 3-1). Importantly, the tight adhesion typically observed between RNK-P and P815 was instead negligible between RNK-P(R57L) and P815 and similar to background levels obtained with untransfected RNK-16 (Fig. 3-3D). These results indicate that the ligand binding capacity of Ly-49P does not significantly increase adhesion to H-2D^d bearing target cells on its own, and instead suggests that Ly-49P promotes tight binding to susceptible target cells through DAP12-dependent signals.

Cross-linking of Ly-49P leads to DAP12 dependent inside-out signals regulating LFA-1 binding to mouse ICAM-1

To directly test whether Ly-49P could trigger changes in LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 we examined binding of RNK-P to plate bound mouse ICAM-1, upon stimulation of Ly-49P. To mimic signals generated by Ly-49P recognition of H- $2D^{d}$, we cross-linked Ly-49P, Ly-49P(R57L) or CD8 α expressed on RNK-16 or its transfectants with primary antibodies specific for Ly-49P or rat CD8a, with secondary gam antibody, then determined cell binding to mouse ICAM-1. Little binding was evident to wells immobilized with serum, or following CD8a crosslinking (Fig. 3-4A). RNK-P, but not untransfected RNK-16 or RNK-P(R57L), bound to immobilized ICAM-1 when stimulated by anti-Ly-49P (A1) and secondary antibodies (Fig. 3-4A). Furthermore, crosslinking with secondary antibodies was required (Supp. Fig. 3-2) – suggesting that activating Ly-49 clustering may promote events leading to in induced ICAM-1 binding. RNK transfectants stably expressing the activating Ly-49D receptor also bound immobilized ICAM-1 following cross-linking with anti-Ly-49D and secondary antibodies (Supp. Fig. 3-2). Therefore, engagement of activating Ly-49 receptors on RNK-16 cells triggers DAP12-dependent LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1. Furthermore, RNK-P triggered binding to ICAM-1 required both Syk and Src family kinase (SFK) activities as the specific inhibitors piceatannol and PP2, respectively, significantly inhibited binding of RNK-P cells to ICAM-1 in a dosedependent manner (Fig. 3-4B).

Ex vivo NK cells regulate LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 via Ly-49D

To determine whether triggering of LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 is a property of an activating Ly-49 receptor expressed by normal mouse NK cells, we developed a flow cytometry based ICAM-1 binding assay using resting *ex vivo* NK cells. NK cells enriched from C57BL/6 spleen by DX5 mAb selection, of which 25-30% express the activating Ly-49D receptor (34), were stimulated with α -Ly-49D or an α -H-2 control and secondary antibody in the presence of ICAM-1 or BSA beads. The number of DX5⁺/Ly-49D⁺ NK cells of each experimental group bound to the beads immobilized with ICAM-1 or BSA was determined, as

diagrammed (Fig. 3-5A). The ICAM-1 was efficiently displayed on the cell size beads as detected by flow cytometry with the YN1/1.7.4 antibody (Fig. 3-5B), and beads were easily distinguished from NK cells due to very different forward and side scatter properties (Fig. 3-5B). Conjugates between beads and $DX5^{+}/Ly49D^{+}$ NK cells were readily detected by a shift to enhanced side scatter of gated $DX5^+/Ly-49D^+$ cells, as a consequence of bead binding (Fig. 3-5C). Whereas only 4% of Ly-49D⁺ NK cells stimulated with the control α -H2 antibody bound ICAM-1 beads, approximately 23% of Ly-49D⁺ NK cells bound ICAM-1 beads upon stimulation by Ly-49D engagement (Fig. 3-5C and 3-5D). These results show that the specific engagement of an activating Ly-49 NK cell receptor expressed on ex vivo NK cells up-regulates NK cell adhesion to ICAM-1. Furthermore, the adhesion to ICAM-1 by the ex vivo NK cells was mediated by LFA-1 as antibodies to this receptor reduced NK cell binding to ICAM-1 beads to background levels (Fig. 3-5D). These results demonstrate that LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1 can be up-regulated on normal NK cells, and by a naturally expressed activating Ly-49 receptor.
D. Discussion

In this study we have shown that engagement of activating Ly-49 molecules stimulates NK cell binding to ICAM-1. Triggering LFA-1 adhesion by DAP-12 coupled receptors is likely to play an important role in how NK cells recognize target cells. Our demonstration of activating Ly-49s triggering LFA-1 binding adds a new dimension to our understanding of how these receptors stimulate cytolysis. NK cell LFA-1 binding to target cell ICAM-1 is known to be an important and likely early event in NK cell recognition of a target cell (21). Activating Ly-49 engagement may precede or more likely follow initial low affinity LFA-1 interactions with ICAM-1, but once engaged, activating Ly-49 then significantly up-regulate LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1. In turn, the substantially strengthened interaction with target cells will greatly enhance opportunities for increased interaction of activating Ly-49 and other low affinity activating NK cell receptors to engage their ligands, amplifying NK cell activation signals. Furthermore, LFA-1 engagement by ICAM-1 is known to induce cytolytic granule polarization toward target cells (21). Up-regulation of LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 through activating Ly-49 engagement may also promote this event, which combined with amplified activation signals, may lead to rapid target cell cytotoxicity. Thus, activating Ly-49 receptors may act as sensors to amplify signals for adhesion and activation.

It is well established that multiple distinct receptors expressed on NK cells cooperate to induce cytolytic function and release of cytokines (7, 21, 35, 36). In fact, resting human *ex vivo* NK cells appear to require engagement of at least two independent receptors to become activated (37). These same investigators also demonstrated that when LFA-3 or CD48, ligands for CD2 and 2B4, respectively, are co-expressed on target cells with ICAM-1, a ligand for LFA-1, this led to enhanced adhesion of resting NK cells, significantly beyond that observed to target cells expressing only ICAM-1 (38). Furthermore, in the case of LFA-1 expressed on human NK cells, it also can physically associate with DNAM-1, another adhesion and signaling receptor and regulate its phosphorylation state and ability to induce NK cell cytotoxicity (39). Although NK cell receptors clearly

cooperate and may even associate, it has not previously been demonstrated that one defined NK activating cell receptor can regulate the adhesive function of another NK cell receptor for its ligand.

Human NK cells can bind ICAM-1 directly with no direct stimulus, albeit a much lesser extent for resting human NK cells, therefore it has been to proposed that NK cells may be unique (38), and unlike T cells, in not requiring stimulation through an independent activating receptor before LFA-1 can bind tightly to ICAM-1. We did not observe significant binding of resting mouse NK cells or the rat RNK-16 cell to ICAM-1 in the absence of stimulation via an activating receptor. We do not know why there are apparent differences in regulation and/or activation state of human and mouse LFA-1 on NK cells, however, our results show that LFA-1 adhesion can be up-regulated by mouse Ly-49 activating NK cell receptors, similar to LFA-1 regulation by T cells. It remains to be determined whether LFA-1 adhesion is regulated in a similar fashion on However, given that LFA-1 mediated adhesion in resting human NK cells. human NK cells can be negatively regulated by inhibitory receptors, it seems likely that LFA-1 adhesion is modulated in human NK cells as well (30, 40).

We showed a requirement for DAP12 association in activating Ly-49 regulation of LFA-1 ligand binding activity, indicating that ITAM-dependent signals are initiating Ly-49 triggered "inside-out" signaling for LFA-1 regulation. Regulation of LFA-1 adhesion is a complex process and Ly-49 may alter LFA-1 avidity through changes in LFA-1 membrane mobility or the affinity of LFA-1 for ICAM-1 (41). Signaling for LFA-1 regulation in lymphocytes is only partially understood, but a few key components known to be involved in TCR-induced LFA-1 regulation are also expressed by mouse and rat NK cells, e.g. LAT (42, 43), SLP-76 (44) and ADAP(45). TCR signaling uses LAT to recruit and activate SLP-76 thereby linking to ADAP, with the latter specifically required for LFA-1 clustering (reviewed in (46)). The Ly-49-DAP12 receptor complex in NK cells employs LAT, but in the absence of LAT, the adapter LAB, which is not expressed in T cells, is recruited to trigger cytotoxicity (47). Given that LAT and LAB have some overlapping but many distinct activities, NK cells may have

redundancy or greater flexibility in LFA-1 regulation, compared to T cells, which may exclusively use LAT. Our data indicate that Ly-49-induced regulation of LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 requires SFK and Syk tyrosine kinase activities as the binding of RNK-P cells to ICAM-1 was effectively inhibited with doses of PP2 and piceatannol within their respective IC₅₀ values (2 and 10 μ M, respectively) in RNK-16 cells. We observe a modest increase in binding to ICAM-1 using drug doses lower than the IC₅₀ values for which we presently have no obvious explanation. The Syk and SFKs have been shown to play important roles in the regulation of Ly-49D-dependent responses (14, 48, 49). SFKs have been shown to play a pivotal role in DAP12 phosphorylation (49) and may promote formation and stability of ADAP/SKAP-55/SLP-76 complexes (45, 50, 51). Similarly, SFKs may modulate LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 following Ly-49/DAP12 induction by stimulating the activation of Syk kinases directly, and RAP-1 indirectly (49, 52, 53). Interestingly, NKG2D also associates with DAP12 and DAP10 in mouse NK cells (54, 55), and it was very recently shown that the NKG2D-dependent elimination of certain tumor cells requires LFA-1 recognition of ICAM-1(56). It remains to be determined whether NK receptors other than Ly-49s which also associate with ITAM-containing signaling adapters, or receptors such as NKG2D that can associate with distinct signaling adapters, also regulate LFA-1 adhesive properties.

In summary, we reveal a novel aspect of the regulation of NK cell effector functions by demonstrating that activating Ly-49 receptors up-regulate NK cell binding to ICAM-1 through a DAP12-dependent mechanism. The Ly-49 driven mobilization of LFA-1 binding capacity, likely represents an important proximal event leading to the eventual death of a target cell. Acknowledgements: We thank Dr. D. McVicar for providing the α -DAP12 serum, and Andy Kokaji (Edmonton, AB, Canada) for providing purified mouse ICAM-1.

Footnotes:

¹ A version of his chapter has been published in the Journal of Immunology (2007), 178 (3): 1261-1267. Copyright 2007. The American Association of Immunologists, Inc.

² This work was supported by Canadian Institutes of Health Research grants (to D.N. Burshtyn and K.P. Kane). D.N.B. is an Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR) senior scholar and K.P.K. is an AHFMR scientist. M.S.O. was supported by an AHFMR studentship.

E. Individual Contributions: All experimental studies, with the exception of cloning the wild type Ly-49P^{NOD} receptor and the purification of mouse ICAM-1, were conducted by M. Osman. Cloning of the Ly-49P^{NOD} receptor was conducted by Dr. E. Silver, and purification of mouse ICAM-1 was performed by A. Kokaji. M. Osman wrote and updated the paper with modifications provided by Dr. D. Burshtyn and Dr. K. Kane.

³Abbreviations: 51 Cr, Na 51 CrO₄; FSC, forward scatter; gam, goat anti-mouse secondary Ab; gar, goat anti-rat secondary Ab; SSC, side scatter.



Figure 3-1. Ly-49P and LFA-1 control cytolysis by RNK-P cells. (A) Expression of receptors and ligands on RNK-16, RNK-P and P815 cells. RNK-16 or RNK-P cells were stained with α -rat CD11a (dark gray), α -rat CD8 α (light gray) (upper panels) or α -Ly-49P (black, lower panels). P815 cells were stained for H-2D^d (light gray), or ICAM-1 (black) (far right panel). Corresponding isotype controls are unshaded. (B) RNK-16 or RNK-P mediated cytotoxicity was measured by ⁵¹Cr-release from P815 labeled target cells. (C, D) Ly-49 and LFA-1 both contribute to RNK-P lysis of P815 cells. Cytotoxicity was measured in the presence or absence of the indicated antibody-protein A/G complexes at an E/T ratio of 12.5/1. Standard deviation for each triplicate is indicated by the error bars.



Figure 3-2. Ly-49P regulates adhesion of RNK cells to P815 cells in a LFA-1/ICAM-1 dependent manner. (A) RNK or RNK-P cells were labeled with a red membrane linker dye, PKH26, then incubated with P815 cells labeled with the green dye, PKH67, for the indicated times at an E/T of 1/2. The percentage of NK cells in conjugates was determined using two color flow cytometry. (B, C) Ly-49P facilitates tight adhesion to target cells that is LFA-1/ICAM-1 dependent. Anti-LFA-1 (1.25 µg/mL), anti-Ly-49P (A1) (2.5 µg/mL), control anti-CD8 α (2.5 µg/mL) or isotype control (B27M1, 1.25 µg/mL) antibodies were pre-incubated with RNK-P cells. Alternatively, anti-ICAM-1 or anti-F4/80 (5 µg/ml) were incubated with P815 cells pre-incubated with 2.4G2 (10 µg/ml). Conjugate assays were conducted at the 10 min time point. For samples analyzed at the 0 min time point, cells were immediately fixed then analyzed for heteroconjugates. All panels are representative of at least three independent experiments. Results represent mean ± SD of triplicate samples.



Figure 3-3. DAP12 association with Ly-49P is required for RNK-P cell adhesion to P815 target cells. (A) RNK-P or RNK-P(R57L) cells were stained with A1 (black and gray lines, respectively), or isotype matched control (solid) followed by secondary rat anti-mouse antibodies. (B) DAP12 association with Ly-49P but not Ly-49P(R57L). Pre-cleared cell lysates were immunoprecipitated using A1 or isotype control (B27M1), and blotted with an anti-DAP12 serum. (C) Cytolysis of ⁵¹Cr-labeled P815 targets and (D) adhesion to P815 targets are induced by Ly-49P but not Ly-49P(R57L). Standard deviation for each triplicate is indicated by the error bars. Percent NK cell conjugates was determined at an E/T of 1/2 using two color flow cytometry for the indicated incubation periods. Results are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 3-4. Cross-linking of Ly-49P leads to DAP12 and Src/Syk kinase dependent upregulation of LFA-1 binding to isolated ICAM-1. (A) RNK-16, RNK-P, or RNK-P(R57L) were pre-labeled with ⁵¹Cr and the FcRs were blocked with 10 μ g/ml of normal rat serum. α -Ly49P (A1), or α -CD8 α mAbs (5 μ g/ml) were mixed with the cells which were then added to the wells immobilized with mouse ICAM-1 (1 μ g/mL), or 2% FCS, containing goat anti-mouse secondary (0.5 μ g/mL), as indicated. (B) RNK, or RNK-P cells were incubated for 30 min at 37°C in the absence or presence of PP2 or piceatannol at the indicated concentrations, and then used as in (A). Results represent mean \pm SD of each triplicate, and are representative of three or two independent experiments, respectively.



Figure 3-5. Cross-linking of Ly-49D induces ex vivo NK cells to bind ICAM-1 via LFA-1. (A) Procedure to measure Ly-49D-induced LFA-1 binding to isolated ICAM-1 with primary cells. Erythrocyte-depleted splenocytes from C57BL/6 mice were enriched for $DX5^+$ cells, then treated as indicated. (B) ICAM-1-immobilized beads express a uniform level of ICAM-1, and have a distinct SSC profile from cells. Cell-sized sepharose beads were either immobilized with BSA (top left panel), or mouse ICAM-1 (bottom left panel), blocked with BSA, then stained for mouse ICAM-1 using specific anti-mouse ICAM-1 (solid) or isotype control (unshaded) mAbs, followed by staining with secondary FITC-garat mAbs. FSC and SSC profiles of beads (top right) or cells (bottom right). (C, D) Ly-49D crosslinking results in an LFA-1 dependent increase in cellular adhesion to ICAM-1 beads. DX5-enriched cells were treated as outlined in A, then the percent adhesion of $DX5^+/Ly-49D^+$ cells was determined by first gating on the PE/FITC positive cells as illustrated in panel C, then calculating the percent of cell/bead hetero-conjugates based on FSC/SSC histogram profiles in the presence or absence of α -LFA-1(M17/5.2) or isotype control (F4/80) mAbs (5µg/ml). Data in 5D represent the mean percent cell binding \pm SD of triplicate samples. Results in 5C and D are representative of three or two independent experiments, respectively.



Supplementary Figure 3-1. Ly49P(R57L) expresses CD8 α and CD11a and can perform ADCC. A) RNK-P(R57L) cells stained with α -rat CD11a (dark gray), α -rat CD8 α (light gray), or cIgG (black). B) Cytolysis of EL-4 mouse thymoma through ADCC RNK-P(R57L) effector cells in a ⁵¹Cr-release cytotoxicity assay and either α H2 (M1/42) or crIgG (Y13) at 5 µg/mL.

 \mathbf{z}_i



Supplementary Figure 3-2. Increased ICAM-1 binding by Ly-49D requires primary mAb crosslinking by secondary antibodies. (A) Untransfected RNK-16 cells or cells stably transfected with Ly-49D were assessed for their abilities to bind to ICAM-1-immobilized wells as described in the *Materials and Methods* section in the presence of anti-Ly49D (4E5), cIgG (Y13) alone or in conjunction with gar secondary mAb. (B) The percentage of DX5-enriched *ex vivo* NK cell adhesion to BSA or ICAM-1 (as indicated) immobilized beads was determined as described in Fig. 3-5 using anti-Ly-49D (4E5) in the presence or absence of gar mAb.

F. References

- Smyth, M. J., K. Y. Thia, S. E. Street, E. Cretney, J. A. Trapani, M. Taniguchi, T. Kawano, S. B. Pelikan, N. Y. Crowe, and D. I. Godfrey. 2000. Differential tumor surveillance by natural killer (NK) and NKT cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 191:661-668.
- 2. French, A. R., and W. M. Yokoyama. 2003. Natural killer cells and viral infections. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 15:45-51.
- Biron, C. A., K. B. Nguyen, G. C. Pien, L. P. Cousens, and T. P. Salazar-Mather. 1999. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 17:189-220.
- Ortaldo, J. R., L. H. Mason, T. A. Gregorio, J. Stoll, and R. T. Winkler-Pickett. 1997. The Ly-49 family: regulation of cytokine production in murine NK cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 62:381-388.
- Ortaldo, J. R., and H. A. Young. 2003. Expression of IFN-gamma upon triggering of activating Ly49D NK receptors in vitro and in vivo: costimulation with IL-12 or IL-18 overrides inhibitory receptors. J. Immunol. 170:1763-1769.
- Lanier, L. L. 2001. On guard--activating NK cell receptors. *Nat. Immunol.* 2:23-27.
- Moretta, A., C. Bottino, M. Vitale, D. Pende, C. Cantoni, M. C. Mingari, R. Biassoni, and L. Moretta. 2001. Activating receptors and coreceptors involved in human natural killer cell-mediated cytolysis. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 19:197-223.
- 8. Kane, K. P., K. J. Lavender, and B. J. Ma. 2004. Ly-49 receptors and their functions. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 24:321-348.
- 9. Lanier, L. L. 1998. NK cell receptors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 16:359-393.
- Cerwenka, A., A. B. Bakker, T. McClanahan, J. Wagner, J. Wu, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 2000. Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. *Immunity* 12:721-727.

- Lanier, L. L., J. J. Ruitenberg, and J. H. Phillips. 1988. Functional and biochemical analysis of CD16 antigen on natural killer cells and granulocytes. J. Immunol. 141:3478-3485.
- Biassoni, R., A. Pessino, C. Bottino, D. Pende, L. Moretta, and A. Moretta. 1999. The murine homologue of the human NKp46, a triggering receptor involved in the induction of natural cytotoxicity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29:1014-1020.
- Smith, K. M., J. Wu, A. B. Bakker, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 1998. Ly-49D and Ly-49H associate with mouse DAP12 and form activating receptors. J. Immunol. 161:7-10.
- McVicar, D. W., L. S. Taylor, P. Gosselin, J. Willette-Brown, A. I. Mikhael, R. L. Geahlen, M. C. Nakamura, P. Linnemeyer, W. E. Seaman, S. K. Anderson, J. R. Ortaldo, and L. H. Mason. 1998. DAP12-mediated signal transduction in natural killer cells. A dominant role for the Syk protein-tyrosine kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 273:32934-32942.
- 15. Helander, T. S., and T. Timonen. 1998. Adhesion in NK cell function. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 230:89-99.
- van Kooyk, Y., and C. G. Figdor. 2000. Avidity regulation of integrins: the driving force in leukocyte adhesion. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 12:542-547.
- 17. Barber, D. F., M. Faure, and E. O. Long. 2004. LFA-1 contributes an early signal for NK cell cytotoxicity. *J. Immunol.* 173:3653-3659.
- del Pozo, M. A., P. Sanchez-Mateos, M. Nieto, and F. Sanchez-Madrid.
 1995. Chemokines regulate cellular polarization and adhesion receptor redistribution during lymphocyte interaction with endothelium and extracellular matrix. Involvement of cAMP signaling pathway. J. Cell Biol. 131:495-508.
- 19. Dustin, M. L., and T. A. Springer. 1989. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. *Nature 341:619-624*.
- 20. Hogg, N., M. Laschinger, K. Giles, and A. McDowall. 2003. T-cell integrins: more than just sticking points. *J. Cell Sci.* 116:4695-4705.

- Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, D. F. Barber, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2005. Cytolytic granule polarization and degranulation controlled by different receptors in resting NK cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 202:1001-1012.
- Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K.
 P. Kane. 2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2Dd. J. Immunol. 165:1771-1781.
- Nagasawa, R., J. Gross, O. Kanagawa, K. Townsend, L. L. Lanier, J. Chiller, and J. P. Allison. 1987. Identification of a novel T cell surface disulfide-bonded dimer distinct from the alpha/beta antigen receptor. J. Immunol. 138:815-824.
- Grumet, F. C., B. M. Fendly, and E. G. Engleman. 1981. Monoclonal anti-HLA-B27 antibody (B27M1): production and lack of detectable typing difference between patients with ankylosing spondylitis, Reiter's syndrome, and normal controls. *Lancet 2:174-176*.
- Springer, T. A. 1980. Cell surface differentiation in the mouse. Characterization of "jumping" and "lineage" antigens using xenogeneic rat monoclonal antibodies. In *Monoclonal Antibodies*. R. H. M. Kennet, T. J. Bechtol, K. B., ed. Plenum Press, New York, NY, p. 185-217.
- Unkeless, J. C. 1979. Characterization of a monoclonal antibody directed against mouse macrophage and lymphocyte Fc receptors. J. Exp. Med. 150:580-596.
- Sanchez-Madrid, F., D. Davignon, E. Martz, and T. A. Springer. 1982.
 Antigens involved in mouse cytolytic T-lymphocyte (CTL)-mediated killing: functional screening and topographic relationship. *Cell. Immunol.* 73:1-11.
- Leenen, P. J., M. F. de Bruijn, J. S. Voerman, P. A. Campbell, and W. van Ewijk. 1994. Markers of mouse macrophage development detected by monoclonal antibodies. J. Immunol. Methods 174:5-19.
- Reynolds, C. W., A. C. Denn, 3rd, T. Barlozzari, R. H. Wiltrout, D. A. Reichardt, and R. B. Herberman. 1984. Natural killer activity in the rat.

IV. Distribution of large granular lymphocytes (LGL) following intravenous and intraperitoneal transfer. *Cell. Immunol.* 86:371-380.

- Burshtyn, D. N., J. Shin, C. Stebbins, and E. O. Long. 2000. Adhesion to target cells is disrupted by the killer cell inhibitory receptor. *Curr. Biol.* 10:777-780.
- Welder, C. A., D. H. Lee, and F. Takei. 1993. Inhibition of cell adhesion by microspheres coated with recombinant soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1. J. Immunol. 150:2203-2210.
- Kane, K. P. 1994. Ly-49 mediates EL4 lymphoma adhesion to isolated class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. J. Exp. Med. 179:1011-1015.
- Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, C. W. McMahon, D. H. Busch, E. G. Pamer, J. D. Miller, J. D. Altman, Y. Liu, D. Cado, F. A. Lemonnier, P. J. Bjorkman, and D. H. Raulet. 1999. Direct assessment of MHC class I binding by seven Ly49 inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Immunity* 11:67-77.
- Makrigiannis, A. P., E. Rousselle, and S. K. Anderson. 2004. Independent control of Ly49g alleles: implications for NK cell repertoire selection and tumor cell killing. J. Immunol. 172:1414-1425.
- 35. Augugliaro, R., S. Parolini, R. Castriconi, E. Marcenaro, C. Cantoni, M. Nanni, L. Moretta, A. Moretta, and C. Bottino. 2003. Selective cross-talk among natural cytotoxicity receptors in human natural killer cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33:1235-1241.
- Ho, E. L., L. N. Carayannopoulos, J. Poursine-Laurent, J. Kinder, B. Plougastel, H. R. Smith, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2002. Costimulation of multiple NK cell activation receptors by NKG2D. J. Immunol. 169:3667-3675.
- Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2006.
 Synergy among receptors on resting NK cells for the activation of natural cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. *Blood 107:159-166*.

- Barber, D. F., and E. O. Long. 2003. Coexpression of CD58 or CD48 with intercellular adhesion molecule 1 on target cells enhances adhesion of resting NK cells. J. Immunol. 170:294-299.
- Shibuya, K., L. L. Lanier, J. H. Phillips, H. D. Ochs, K. Shimizu, E. Nakayama, H. Nakauchi, and A. Shibuya. 1999. Physical and functional association of LFA-1 with DNAM-1 adhesion molecule. *Immunity* 11:615-623.
- 40. Vyas, Y. M., H. Maniar, C. E. Lyddane, M. Sadelain, and B. Dupont.
 2004. Ligand binding to inhibitory killer cell Ig-like receptors induce colocalization with Src homology domain 2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1 and interruption of ongoing activation signals. *J. Immunol.* 173:1571-1578.
- 41. Dustin, M. L., T. G. Bivona, and M. R. Philips. 2004. Membranes as messengers in T cell adhesion signaling. *Nat. Immunol.* 5:363-372.
- Weber, J. R., S. Orstavik, K. M. Torgersen, N. C. Danbolt, S. F. Berg, J. C. Ryan, K. Tasken, J. B. Imboden, and J. T. Vaage. 1998. Molecular cloning of the cDNA encoding pp36, a tyrosine-phosphorylated adaptor protein selectively expressed by T cells and natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 187:1157-1161.
- Zhang, W., C. L. Sommers, D. N. Burshtyn, C. C. Stebbins, J. B. DeJarnette, R. P. Trible, A. Grinberg, H. C. Tsay, H. M. Jacobs, C. M. Kessler, E. O. Long, P. E. Love, and L. E. Samelson. 1999. Essential role of LAT in T cell development. *Immunity 10:323-332*.
- Peterson, E. J., J. L. Clements, Z. K. Ballas, and G. A. Koretzky. 1999.
 NK cytokine secretion and cytotoxicity occur independently of the SLP-76 adaptor protein. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29:2223-2232.
- Peterson, E. J., M. L. Woods, S. A. Dmowski, G. Derimanov, M. S. Jordan, J. N. Wu, P. S. Myung, Q. H. Liu, J. T. Pribila, B. D. Freedman, Y. Shimizu, and G. A. Koretzky. 2001. Coupling of the TCR to integrin activation by Slap-130/Fyb. *Science 293:2263-2265*.

- 46. Kinashi, T. 2005. Intracellular signalling controlling integrin activation in lymphocytes. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5:546-559.
- 47. Chiesa, S., M. Mingueneau, N. Fuseri, B. Malissen, D. H. Raulet, M. Malissen, E. Vivier, and E. Tomasello. 2006. Multiplicity and plasticity of natural killer cell signaling pathways. *Blood 107:2364-2372*.
- Huntington, N. D., Y. Xu, S. L. Nutt, and D. M. Tarlinton. 2005. A requirement for CD45 distinguishes Ly49D-mediated cytokine and chemokine production from killing in primary natural killer cells. *J. Exp. Med. 201:1421-1433*.
- Mason, L. H., J. Willette-Brown, L. S. Taylor, and D. W. McVicar. 2006. Regulation of Ly49D/DAP12 signal transduction by Src-family kinases and CD45. J. Immunol. 176:6615-6623.
- Hunter, A. J., N. Ottoson, N. Boerth, G. A. Koretzky, and Y. Shimizu.
 2000. Cutting edge: a novel function for the SLAP-130/FYB adapter protein in beta 1 integrin signaling and T lymphocyte migration. J. Immunol. 164:1143-1147.
- 51. Wang, H., E. Y. Moon, A. Azouz, X. Wu, A. Smith, H. Schneider, N. Hogg, and C. E. Rudd. 2003. SKAP-55 regulates integrin adhesion and formation of T cell-APC conjugates. *Nat. Immunol.* 4:366-374.
- Katagiri, K., M. Shimonaka, and T. Kinashi. 2004. Rap1-mediated lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 activation by the T cell antigen receptor is dependent on phospholipase C-gamma1. J. Biol. Chem. 279:11875-11881.
- Sebzda, E., M. Bracke, T. Tugal, N. Hogg, and D. A. Cantrell. 2002. Rap1A positively regulates T cells via integrin activation rather than inhibiting lymphocyte signaling. *Nat. Immunol.* 3:251-258.
- Gilfillan, S., E. L. Ho, M. Cella, W. M. Yokoyama, and M. Colonna.
 2002. NKG2D recruits two distinct adapters to trigger NK cell activation and costimulation. *Nat. Immunol. 3:1150-1155*.
- Diefenbach, A., E. Tomasello, M. Lucas, A. M. Jamieson, J. K. Hsia, E.
 Vivier, and D. H. Raulet. 2002. Selective associations with signaling

proteins determine stimulatory versus costimulatory activity of NKG2D. *Nat. Immunol. 3:1142-1149.*

56. Abdool, K., E. Cretney, A. D. Brooks, J. M. Kelly, J. Swann, A. Shanker,
E. W. Bere, Jr., W. M. Yokoyama, J. R. Ortaldo, M. J. Smyth, and T. J.
Sayers. 2006. NK Cells Use NKG2D to Recognize a Mouse Renal Cancer
(Renca), yet Require Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1 Expression on the
Tumor Cells for Optimal Perforin-Dependent Effector Function. J. *Immunol.* 177:2575-2583.

Chapter 4 - Multiple NK Activating Receptors Regulate LFA-1 Adhesion by *ex vivo* NK cells¹

Mohammed S. Osman, Deborah N. Burshtyn and Kevin P. Kane

A. Introduction

Natural killer (NK) cells play a prominent role in innate immunity by virtue of their ability to recognize and eliminate tumor cells or virally infected cells, while remaining inert to normal self cells (1-3). NK cells confer their protective functions through either the release of cytokines which modulate the immune response, or by directly destroying 'altered' cells through cytotoxic mechanisms (4, 5). Activities of NK cells are regulated by the net signal of combined inputs generated from activating, and inhibitory receptors (1).

NK cells express a variety of activating receptors that regulate their functions. In mice, NK activating receptors are either members of immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily of receptors such as CD16 – the receptor responsible for antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), or the C-type lectin family of receptors which include NKG2D and activating members of the NKRP-1 or Ly-49 receptor families. CD16, or FcγRIII, binds immune complexes with a low affinity (6). In mice, NK cells and NKT cells are the only lymphoid cells that express this receptor (6-8). CD16 does not have an intrinsic signaling capacity. Instead, it associates with the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) containing FcR- γ signaling adapter through an intramembrane electrostatic interaction (6). FcR- γ is a disulfide-bonded homodimer that contains an ITAM on the cytoplasmic tail of each subunit (9).

Like CD16, activating members of the NKRP-1 family associate with the signaling adapter FcR- γ in order to mediate their NK functional effects (10). NKRP-1 family receptors are C-type lectins that are type II homodimeric membrane glycoproteins. This family includes the activating receptor NKRP-1C (NK1.1) (11) originally identified as a marker for NK and NKT cells in C57BL/6 mice (12, 13). The ligand for NKRP-1C has not been clearly defined. However, the responses of NK cells to NKRP-1C ligation are similar to that of CD16, as the

cross-linking of the receptor by mAb ultimately leads to NK cytokine release or the polarized exocytosis of cytotoxic granules (10).

NKG2D is another member of the C-type lectin receptor family of NK receptors. It recognizes members of the retinoic acid early transcript (RAE) family of tumor associated antigens, or the MHC-like antigens H-60 and Mult1 Similar to NKRP-1C, NKG2D is expressed as a disulfide-linked (14, 15). homodimer, on the surface of NK cells and some T cells. In mice, NKG2D is expressed as two isoforms. Unstimulated NK cells express a full length form of the receptor (NKG2D-L), while IL-2, or poly $I:C^2$ activated cells express the NKG2D-L form or a shorter form (NKG2D-S) that results from alternate splicing. NKG2D-L exclusively associates with the homodimeric signaling DAP10 adapter to mediate its activating receptor effector functions, while NKG2D-S associates with either DAP10 or another disulfide-bonded ITAM-containing homodimeric signaling adapter, DAP12 (16, 17). DAP10, unlike FcR-y or DAP12, does not employ ITAMs to initiate biochemical signaling cascades. Instead, it contains a YxNM motif that uses phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K) as its primary signaling effector molecule (18).

Activating Ly49 receptors are also disulfide-linked homodimeric glycoproteins (19). Their association with the signaling adapter DAP12 is important and essential for their induction of NK cell cytotoxicity or cytokine responses (20-22). Activating Ly-49 receptors play an integral role in conferring immunity to MCMV and in the destruction of tumor cells by recognizing MHC I or MHC I-like ligands (23-25). For example, Ly-49H directly recognizes the mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) MHC I-like m157 gene product, while Ly-49P confers immunity to MCMV through an H-2D^k-dependent mechanism in mouse strains not expressing Ly-49H (25, 26). Likewise, Ly-49D recognizes H-2D^d, and a xenogeneic ligand on chinese hamster ovary (CHO) tumor cells (23, 27).

NK cells also express LFA-1 ($\alpha_L\beta_2$), a β_2 -integrin that recognizes ICAM-1-5, which is important for regulating adhesion to target cells (28-30). In various cell types, signals emanating from activating receptors regulate the affinity and/or avidity of LFA-1, ultimately resulting in increased binding of ICAM-1 (31-33). LFA-1-mediated tight adhesion to target cells stabilizes the intercellular adhesion between cytotoxic cells and their targets thereby facilitating the delivery of NK cytotoxic granules to target cells (28, 34). Inside-out signaling producing firm LFA-1 mediated adhesion, for example, between cytotoxic T cells and their targets, is triggered by signaling resulting from TCR engagement (32). Although NK receptors that associate with ITAM-containing signaling adapters share some similarities with the TCR, such as involvement of an ITAM and Syk family kinases in transmembrane signaling, it has only recently been demonstrated that activating Ly-49 receptors regulate LFA-1 adhesion through inside-out signaling (35). In addition, the properties of activating Ly-49-dependent activation of LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 have not been closely examined. Furthermore, the role NKG2D plays in this process has not been established.

In this study we show that CD16, NKG2D, NKRP-1C and Ly-49D receptors all can promote adhesion of NK cells to ICAM-1 in an LFA-1-dependent mechanism. We also show that the crosslinked Ly-49D receptor exhibited different kinetics and sensitivity to ICAM-1 compared to other activating receptors. Together, these results highlight the role activating NK receptors play in regulating adhesion to target cells through LFA-1.

B. Materials and Methods

Animals and injections

Female C57BL/6 mice at 6–8 wk of age were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). For *in vivo* injections, mice were injected i.p. with 200 μ g of poly I:C in PBS (1mg/mL) (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON) or sterile-filtered phosphate buffered saline (PBS). After 20 h, mice were euthanized and the spleens were harvested. Experiments were approved by the Animal Welfare and Policy Committee of the University of Alberta (Edmonton, Alberta, Canada).

NK cell purification, cell lines and antibodies

NK cells were prepared using the Easy Sep DX5⁺ selection kit (Stem Cell Technologies; Vancouver, BC) from RBC-depleted single cell suspensions of C57BL/6 spleens. Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHO), Daudi human Burkitt's lymphoma cells, and YAC-1 mouse T lymphoma cells were obtained from American Type Culture Collection. YAC-1 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10 % FCS, while Daudi and CHO cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, and 0.1 mM nonessential amino acids. The following antibodies were produced from the hybridomas as described (36): YN-1/1.7.4, anti-mouse ICAM-1 (rat IgG2b) (37); M1/42, anti-mouse H-2 (rat IgG2a) (38); (Y13), anti-rat p21^{ras} (rat IgG2a) (37), 2.4G2 (rat IgG2b) anti-mouse Fc-y receptor (39); PK136, anti-NK1.1 (mouse IgG2a) (40), 28-14-8S anti-H2D^b α3 region (41); B27M1, anti-HLA-B27 (mouse IgG2a) (42); M17/5.2, anti-mouse LFA-1 (rat IgG2b) (43), and anti-mouse F4/80 antigen (rat IgG2b) (44). Functional grade MI-6, anti-mouse NKG2D (rat IgG2a); 93, anti-mouse CD16/32 (rat IgG2a), antimouse NKG2D (rat IgG2b), biotin-conjugated M17/4, anti-mouse LFA-1; and streptavidin-APC were purchased from e-Bioscience (San Diego, CA). In addition, purified or FITC-conjugated 4E5, anti-Ly49D (rat IgG2a), was purchased from BD/PharMingen (San Diego, CA). MI-6, PK136, 93 mAbs and Y13 were directly coupled to Alexa-Fluor® 488, using the manufacturer's instructions. FITC-coupled rat anti-mouse IgG or mouse anti-rat IgG were

purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories (West Grove, PA). Purified gαm, gαr, and unmodified rat IgG were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON).

Flow Cytometry

For the detection of cell surface receptors, $DX5^+$ cells were pre-incubated with 5 μ g/mL of 2.4G2 (unless CD16 was being measured) for 15 min at RT then the indicated FITC conjugated mAb was added (2 μ g/mL) for 30-45 min on ice. Following the incubation, the cells were washed two times using PBS, were then fixed with 2% *p*-formaldehyde in PBS, then analyzed using a FACSCalibur® flow cytometer. For the detection of cell surface CD16, single color analysis was used using 2.4G2-FITC (for CD16) or Y13-FITC (cIgG) and the percentage of CD16 positive cells was determined. Unless otherwise indicated, the frequency of expression for other receptors was determined using two-color flow cytometry. For the detection of cell surface CD11a, biotin conjugated anti-mouse LFA-1 antibodies (1 μ g/mL) were added to cells for 30 min on ice. Subsequently, the cells were washed two times using PBS, then streptavidin-APC was added to the cells for 15 min on ice, then the cells were washed two additional times before their analysis using a FACSCalibur® flow cytometer.

Purification of mouse ICAM-1 and the immobilization of ICAM-1 on cell-sized beads

Briefly, mouse ICAM-1 (mICAM-1) was affinity-purified from mouse A20 cells using a YN-1/1.7.4 gravity sepharose column as described (45). Following the collection of sequential 1 mL fractions, each fraction was measured for total protein content using a microBCA kit (Amersham Biosciences, NJ) and for ICAM-1 bioactivity via solid-phase ELISA with YN-1/1.7.4 as the primary antibody, and goat anti-rat-horse radish peroxidase (Jackson Immunoresearch) for detection. Following its purification, mICAM-1 was immobilized to cell-sized latex beads, by dilution in PBS, then adding 10⁷ diluted beads to the diluted ICAM-1 with rotation for 30-45 min at 4° C. Subsequently, unbound sites on the cell-sized beads were blocked with 2 % bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS at 4° C overnight.

Cytotoxicity assays

Ex vivo fresh or poly I:C activated DX5-enriched NK cells were used as effector cells for all cytotoxicity assays. Target cells were labeled at 37°C with 100 μ Ci of Na⁵¹CrO₄ for 1-2h. Following extensive washing, 1 x 10⁴ ⁵¹Cr-labeled targets were incubated for 4 h at 37°C in V-bottom microtiter plates at various E/T ratios in triplicate as described (36). For redirected lysis assays, FcR-expressing Daudi cells labeled with ⁵¹Cr were pre-incubated for 15 min with 5 μ g/ml of MI-6, Y13, 2.4G2, F4/80, PK136 or B27M1 mAbs in RPMI-1640 media, then *ex vivo* DX5-enriched NK cells expressing the receptors recognized by the specific mAb (effector to target ratio (E/T) 6/1) were co-incubated for 4 h and cytotoxicity was measured as described above.

Conjugate assays

Adhesion assays with *ex vivo* NK cells were conducted as previously described (35). Briefly, DX5⁺ cells were treated with α -Ly-49D-FITC, α -CD16 (clone 93 (rIgG2a), or 2.4G2 (rIgG2b)), α -NKG2D (clone MI-6), α -NK1.1, α -H2 mAbs (M1/42 or 28-14-8S) or F4/80 at 1µg/10⁶ cells for 5 min at room temperature, then mixed with cell-size beads with immobilized BSA or ICAM-1 (ICAM-1 concentrations as indicated) in PBS containing 1.0 mM MgCl₂ and 0.9 mM CaCl₂ at an effector/bead ratio of 3/2, then centrifuged at 30 x g for 3 min. Cell/bead mixtures treated with mAbs were cross-linked using gar or gam (0.5 µg/mL) for 0 to120 min at 37 ° C (as indicated), then fixed with 1% *p*-formaldehyde. Ly-49D⁺ cell conjugates were determined as the percentage of DX5⁺/Ly49D⁺ cells shifted to a SSC corresponding to that of the beads as previously described (35). Similarly, cross-linking studies using CD16, NK1.1, or NKG2D, cell conjugates

were determined as the percentage of $DX5^+$ -PE cells shifted to a SSC profile of the beads.

C. Results

Ex vivo NK cells regulate LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1 via Ly-49D, CD16, NKG2D and NKRP-1C

We had previously demonstrated that activating Ly-49 regulate adhesion to ICAM-1 by ex vivo NK cells (35). Because Ly-49D is only expressed on ~ 27 % of $DX5^+$ NK cells (Fig. 4-1A), we employed the use of a single cell flow cytometric bead-based adhesion assay to measure the adhesion of the $Ly-49D^+$ subset of NK cells following soluble mAb crosslinking of the receptor (35). The Ly-49D dependent adhesion to ICAM-1 detected was LFA-1 dependent, as blocking mAbs to the LFA-1 CD11a subunit substantially reduced the level of adhesion (35). To understand whether other activating receptors non-covalently associating with other signaling adapters also regulate LFA-1-specific adhesion, we adapted a similar strategy as that employed for Ly-49D and examined CD16, NKRP-1C, and NKG2D. Unlike Ly-49D, these receptors are expressed on a large subset of DX5⁺ NK cells. In fact, CD16 is expressed on over 85 % of enriched NK cells (based on single color flow cytometry using CD16-FITC), and the frequency of both the NKRP-1C and NKG2D expressing NK cells was over 70 % **Fig. 4-1A**. In addition, the expression level of these receptors on *ex vivo* cells, albeit based on staining with different antibodies, appeared to be lower than that observed for Ly-49D (Fig. 4-1A). In contrast, LFA-1 on ex vivo NK cells was uniformly present at high levels (Fig. 4-1A).

Upon crosslinking with mAbs recognizing the individual receptors, an increase in the number of DX5⁺ NK cells adhering to ICAM-1 beads is observed only with the antibodies recognizing the NK receptors but not isotype matched control antibodies (**Fig 4-1B**). Moreover, the adhesion is specific for the interaction of ICAM-1 on the beads with LFA-1, as little NK cell binding is observed with BSA beads and blocking mAb to LFA-1 completely inhibits the NK cell adhesion, whereas corresponding isotype matched control antibodies do not block (**Fig. 4-1B**). These results indicate that engagement of a number of

other NK cell activating receptors of distinct families or subfamilies are also capable of inducing LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1, including CD16, NKG2D and NKRP-1C, in addition to activating Ly-49 receptors.

LFA-1 is more responsive at lower ICAM-1 densities by Ly-49D-induced adhesion than NKG2D, NKRP-1C or CD16-dependent adhesion

We next examined the increase in NK cell adhesion induced by the individual activating NK receptors, using ICAM-1 beads immobilized with increasing concentrations of purified mouse ICAM-1. To determine the relative density of ICAM-1 immobilized on the cell-sized beads, the mean fluorescent intensities of ICAM-1 beads was measured using anti-ICAM-1 mAb and flow cytometry. As shown in Fig. 2A, ICAM-1 was efficiently immobilized onto the cell-sized beads at homogeneous densities for each amount of ICAM-1 (**Fig. 4-2A**). In addition, the increase in mean fluorescence intensity of antibody binding to ICAM-1 was directly proportional to the amounts incubated with the beads (**Fig. 4-2B**).

Upon close examination of NK cell adhesion to beads immobilized with different amounts of purified mouse ICAM-1, the maximal levels of NK cell binding induced by Ly-49D ligation appeared to be profoundly higher than that observed for the other receptors. The frequency of Ly-49D⁺ NK cells bound to ICAM-1 beads increased linearly with higher amounts of immobilized ICAM-1 (**Fig. 4-2C**). This direct relationship was maintained until 2.0 μ g ICAM-1 beads were used; however, it was not at higher ICAM-1 concentrations suggesting that the physiological response induced by this receptor complex was reaching its saturation point (**Fig. 4-2C**). In contrast to Ly-49D, the frequency of adhesion induced following CD16 and NKG2D crosslinking was only detectable when 2 μ g of ICAM-1 were immobilized on the beads (**Fig. 4-2C**), whereas a detectable increase in adhesion following NKRP-1C crosslinking was evident with 0.5 μ g ICAM-1 beads (**Fig. 4-2D**). Interestingly, Ly-49D-induced triggered binding was substantially detected with beads immobilized with as little as 0.25 μ g ICAM-1 (**Fig. 4-2E**) and increased when beads with higher amounts of bound ICAM-1 were used when compared to the isotype matched control. In fact, a detectable frequency of adhesion was only evident when 2 μ g ICAM-1 beads were used with cells crosslinked with NKG2D and CD16. Together, it can be suggested that the ability of the Ly-49D/DAP12 complex is more potent in regulating LFA-1-dependent adhesion to ICAM-1 than the CD16/FcR- γ , NKG2D-L/DAP10, or NKRP-1C/FcR- γ receptor complexes.

Ly-49D/DAP12 triggered binding via LFA-1 is kinetically distinct from that induced by CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C

Studies using T cells have clearly demonstrated that the TCR/CD3 complex induces a rapid, but transient upregulation of LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1, lasting approximately 30 min (32). In order to understand whether the various NK activating receptor complexes exhibited similar properties, we examined their LFA-1 induced adhesion over time using beads immobilized with 2 µg of ICAM-1. Ly-49D stimulation rapidly induced a very rapid (peak at 3 min) and substantial increase in adhesion that was transient (Fig. 4-3A). In fact, the LFA-1-dependent Ly-49D-induced adhesion was reduced to background levels within 30 min following its stimulus (Fig. 4-3A), suggesting that the upregulation in LFA-1 triggered by Ly-49D/DAP12 was similar in its properties as the TCR. In contrast, the kinetics of CD16, NKG2D and NKRP-1C triggered LFA-1 binding were very different. In the presence of the ICAM-1-immobilized beads, there was a profound increase in LFA-1 mediated NK cell adhesion from background levels; however, this increase was not altered over time when triggered by CD16, NKG2D (Fig. 4-3B), or NKRP-1C (Fig. 4-3C). In fact, the adhesion levels induced by these receptors following antibody crosslinking were comparable to those measured with Ly-49D that were in decline after 30 min. Together, these results suggest that Ly-49D and the TCR induced LFA-1 binding share common transient kinetics and possibly a similar mechanism, while CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C induced LFA-1 binding is distinct kinetically and long lasting.

Ly-49D, CD16, and NKRP-1C but not NKG2D receptor complexes can trigger a cytotoxic response against tumor targets using ex vivo NK cells

Studies using unstimulated human NK cells have suggested that not all activating receptors can trigger NK cytotoxic or cytokine responses. For example, crosslinking NKG2D in a redirected lysis assay does not result in the cytolysis of To determine the activating receptor-induced cytotoxic P815 targets (46). capacity of Ly-49D, CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C on ex vivo mouse NK cells, the cytolysis of mouse YAC-1 lymphoma cells (for natural cytotoxicity), CHO cells (for Ly-49D-dependent xenorecognition of a ligand expressed on the surface of these cells) (27), or redirected lysis using FcR⁺ Daudi cells and mAbs for NKG2D, CD16, NKRP-1C or isotype matched controls was conducted. Upon the engagement of YAC-1 and CHO cells were efficiently lysed by ex vivo NK cells (Fig. 4-4A). In the redirected lysis assays, FcR^+ target cells labeled with ⁵¹Cr were pre-incubated with mAb specific to activating receptors expressed on the surfaces of effector NK cells. Upon their co-incubation with ex vivo effector cells, activating receptors on NK cells are crosslinked and a cytolytic activation signal was induced. To this end, cytolysis was detected when mAbs for CD16, and NKRP-1C were used in a redirected cytolysis assay, but not with NKG2D or isotype matched controls, as the levels of cytolysis they induced were undetectable (Fig. 4-4B).

Poly I:C activation of NK cells does not regulate LFA-1-mediated adhesion

In mice, NK cells can be activated *in vivo* through an i.p. injection of the artificial TLR 3 agonist poly I:C. Following its injection, NK cells are activated and a large proportion migrate from the spleen and blood into the liver within 24 h (47). In addition, the NK cells remaining in the spleen are highly potent in mediating direct cytotoxicity, and in ADCC (48). It has been suggested that NK cells derived from mice injected with poly I:C are 'primed' or activated by DC-derived IL-15 (48). To test the role of DC priming in regulating NK activating receptor-induced LFA-1-dependent adhesion to ICAM-1, mice were injected with poly I:C

in vivo, then cells were purified from mice either injected with PBS or poly I:C. Following the purification of DX5⁺ cells, it was clear that the numbers of NK cells derived from poly I:C injected mice were substantially lower than those from the control-injected mice. Importantly, the Ly-49D or LFA-1 receptor levels were unaffected (Fig. 4-5A). Although the CD16 and NKG2D receptor levels were not examined due to a substantial reduction in the numbers of NK cells purified from mice injected with poly I:C, it has been previously established that NK cells derived from mice injected with poly I:C have enhanced levels of ADCC and express higher levels of NKG2D (17, 49). As predicted, NK cells derived from poly I:C injected mice more efficiently lysed YAC-1 tumor cells (Fig. 4-5B). Interestingly, there was no change in the frequencies of Ly-49D, CD16, or NKG2D-induced adhesion to ICAM-1 $(2 \mu g)$ immobilized beads as the detectable adhesion was comparable to those observed for control injected mice (Fig. 4-5C). Thus, although additional NK priming is important for the destruction of NK targets, it appears that the ability of NK cells to undergo activating receptor induced adhesion to ICAM-1 is unaffected.

D. Discussion

In this study we have shown that crosslinking different individual NK activating receptors by soluble antibodies stimulate mouse ex vivo NK cell binding to ICAM-1 immobilized on cell-sized beads in an LFA-1 dependent manner. LFA-1 engagement of ICAM-1 on target cells is an important step in NK-mediated destruction of target cells (34). The ability of multiple NK receptors to regulate LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1 suggests that the regulation of tight adhesion may be a global mechanism involved in the regulation of NK effector responses. The modulation of LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1 by activating receptors may provide a mechanism to lower the ligand density or receptor/ligand affinity required for an effective response. For example, although the RAE-18 NKG2D ligand binds to its receptor with a weak affinity (50), NK cells can still eliminate tumor cells expressing RAE-1 δ in vivo (51). In addition, the recruitment of LFA-1 at the site of cell contact can lower the threshold required for T cell antigen receptor-dependent activation by virtue of its interaction with proteins anchored to the actin cytoskeleton (52). Similarly, studies using B cells have suggested a role for the interaction between LFA-1 and ICAM-1 in lowering the threshold required for B cell activation by lowering the level of specific antigen required to form a mature immunological synapse (53).

Our results suggest that different receptors may not have the same capacity or properties in regulating *ex vivo* NK cell adhesion to ICAM-1 expressing cells. For example, the Ly-49D/DAP12 receptor is expressed at higher levels than CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C (**Fig. 4-1A**), and induces a higher frequency of Ly-49D⁺ NK cell adhesion to ICAM-1 (**Fig. 4-2, 3**). Unlike the other receptor complexes examined, Ly-49D exclusively associates with DAP12, and this intermolecular association is required for the regulation LFA-1 triggering (35). This receptor complex can mediate adhesion to ICAM-1 at much lower densities than the other receptors; i.e. it sensitizes LFA-1 to low ICAM-1 levels (**Fig. 4-2**). The enhanced sensitivity to ICAM-1 by activating Ly49 may stem from a direct association of DAP12 with LFA-1. Studies using the NK activating

receptor DNAM-1 have shown that the C-terminal end of the cytoplasmic tail of this receptor contains the conserved sequence SRRPK (between mouse and human). DNAM-1 constitutively associates with LFA-1 in human NK cells, and can inducibly associate with LFA-1 following anti-TCR crosslinking in T cells (54). The association in T cells requires the phosphorylation of the Ser residue in the SRRPK sequence (54). Interestingly, DAP12, but not the DAP10 or FcR- γ signaling adapters, contains a highly conserved homologous sequence, TRKxR/H, eight amino acids upstream of the cytosolic ITAM; however, there is no direct evidence supporting the notion that DAP12 associates with LFA-1 via this sequence.

Alternatively, the increased sensitivity to ICAM-1 induced by the Ly-49D/DAP12 receptor complex may stem from an increased LFA-1 concentration at the site of ICAM-1 contact resulting from increased LFA-1 lateral mobility in response to activating Ly-49 receptor crosslinking. Studies using the TCR have shown that LFA-1 lateral mobility increases following receptor crosslinking (55). The increased lateral mobility evident with the TCR is coupled to an increased LFA-1 affinity for ICAM-1 and results in a robust transient increased binding to ICAM-1 (32). Our results indicate that Ly-49D/DAP12 crosslinking also results in a strong but transient induction of Ly-49D⁺ NK cells adhering to ICAM-1 beads (**Fig. 4-3**), suggesting that the mechanism employed by this receptor system may resemble that used by the TCR.

Signaling for LFA-1 regulation in lymphocytes is only partially understood, but a few key components known to be involved in TCR-induced LFA-1 regulation are also expressed in murine NK cells, e.g. LAT (56, 57), SLP-76 (58), Vav (59), ADAP (60), Rap1, and Mst1 (61). TCR signaling uses LAT to recruit and activate SLP-76 thereby linking it to ADAP, with the latter specifically required for LFA-1 clustering (reviewed in (62)). The adapter protein RIAM, can in turn, link LAT/SLP-76 signals to Rap1/RapL and Mst1 (61) via ADAP/SKAP55 (63). The contributions of these proteins to Ly-49D/DAP12 triggering of LFA-1 by NK cells is worthy of investigation.

Our data do not support the notion that NK activating receptors other than activating Ly-49 utilize a TCR-like mechanism to regulate adhesion. For example, unlike the TCR or Ly-49D, CD16/FcR-y and NKRP-1C/FcR-y or NKG2D/DAP10, generate a sustained lower frequency of NK cell adhesion that is only detectable at higher concentrations of ICAM-1 (Fig. 4-2, 4-3). The low frequency of adhesion evident upon CD16, NKG2D, or NKRP-1C crosslinking may directly stem from the individual receptor complexes as reminiscent of studies illustrating changes in LFA-1 affinity for ICAM-1 in the presence of LFA-1 adapts three conformations with low, chemokine stimuli (64). intermediate or high affinity for ICAM-1 (62). The low affinity form limits its ligand binding domain to a proximal location to the membrane, while the higher affinity forms apparently project the integrin stalk away from the cell membrane (62). The intermediate affinity form can be induced by inside-out signals such as those generated by PI3K (62). This form of LFA-1 can further be stabilized upon ICAM-1 binding (65). Future studies using soluble ICAM-1 molecules (66), may provide some insight regarding the role of FcR-y or DAP10 receptor complexes in regulating LFA-1 conformation and affinity level.

Activating receptors expressed by human NK cells have been shown to generate synergistic signals (46). In fact, the same authors demonstrated that the NKG2D/DAP10 receptor complex is unable to induce a cytolytic response in unstimulated NK cells, while the CD16 receptor complex is functionally competent (46). Upon activation of the NK cells using IL-2, NKG2D cytolytic responses were generated (46). Our results suggest that *ex vivo* mouse NK cells behave in a similar manner as human unstimulated *ex vivo* NK cells, as Ly49D/DAP12, NKRP-1C/FcR- γ , and CD16/FcR- γ were able to induce the lysis of target cells, but NKG2D-L/DAP10 was not (**Fig. 4-4**). The relatively low specific lysis measured using *ex vivo* mouse NK cells in redirected lysis by CD16 or NKRP-1C may stem from the low expression of proteins involved in granule mediated cytotoxicity, e.g. perforin, granzyme B, as these NK cells have not been adequately (48). In addition, it may also result from the use of human target cells

expressing human ICAM-1, which may not be optimal for mouse LFA-1 engagement as previously observed (11). Previous studies using *ex vivo* NK cells have suggested that mouse NK cells express functional CD16 and Ly-49D receptor complexes (67, 68), although it was not clear whether they express a functional NKRP-1C receptor complex. Our results suggest that *ex vivo* NK cells express surface CD16, Ly-49D and NKRP-1C receptor complexes capable of generating a cytolytic response. They also suggest that the signals generated by the NKG2D/DAP10 receptor complexes are sufficient to trigger mild changes in LFA-1 binding for ICAM-1, but are not sufficient to mobilize the cytolytic machinery.

Examining possible synergism between multiple NK receptors with respect to increased adhesion and cytolysis will be an area of active future research. In fact, the increased background adhesion frequently evident upon crosslinking with the isotype-matched control for anti-NKRP-1C, but lower than those achieved with anti-NKRP-1C, at higher ICAM-1 concentrations indirectly supports this notion (Fig. 4-2D). This mAb belongs to the IgG2a isotype which inherently bind with a much higher affinity to CD16 than other mAb isotypes (6) - thereby suggesting that synergistic signals are present between NK1.1 and CD16. As a result, the use of $(Fab)_2$ forms of PK136 or its isotype matched control will be necessary in future studies to discriminate between the individual contributions of the NKRP-1C and CD16 receptor complexes in regulating LFA-1 adhesion. Synergism between multiple receptors has been shown to play an important role in regulating NK cell functions. For example, DNAM-1 synergizes with natural cytotoxicity receptors to regulate the lysis of dendritic cells (69). Together, these findings are consistent with studies suggesting that resting human ex vivo NK cells require the engagement of at least two independent receptors to become activated (46). As NK receptors express an extensive repertoire of activating receptors, the synergy between different receptors may be of significant importance in the regulation of different aspects of NK effector functions.

Recently, an additional dimension in NK cell recognition of target cells has been revealed. Pathogen-activated DC present IL-15 in trans to NK cells, and this presentation is required for an effective NK anti-viral response (48). The authors used poly I:C as an artificial TLR agonist to demonstrate that NK cells from a mouse injected with this TLR 3 ligand are more cytolytic. However, primed NK cells do not spontaneously produce IFN-y or mediate cytotoxicity (48). Our results corroborate this observation as DX5-enriched NK cells from a poly I:C injected mouse can more efficiently lyse YAC-1 tumor target cells than unstimulated control mice (Fig. 4-5B). In addition, our results suggest that NK priming by DCs does not affect the increased adhesion by Ly-49D, NKG2D or CD16 (Fig. 4-5C). Thus, the IL-15-mediated enhanced NK effector functions likely stems from increased gene expression of effector molecules involved in cytotoxicity eg. granzymes and FasL (70). However, studies directly examining the role of IL-15 trans presentation in NK cell activating receptor regulated adhesion will be required to understand the role this cytokine plays in this process.

In summary, we demonstrate that multiple NK receptors up-regulate NK cell binding to ICAM-1. We also provide evidence indicating that the nature of LFA-1 binding induced by various NK cells can differ, with that by activating Ly-49 being strong, rapidly induced and transient, while that of other activating NK receptors is less pronounced, yet sustained. Activating NK cell receptor enhancement of LFA-1 binding capacity, likely represents an important proximal event leading to augmented signaling, which ultimately lowers the threshold required for NK activation and destruction of susceptible target cells.

Acknowledgements: We thank Dong-ER Gong (Edmonton, AB) for providing excellent technical support throughout these studies, and for performing the mouse injections.

Footnotes:

¹This work was supported by Canadian Institutes of Health Research grants (to D.N. Burshtyn and K.P. Kane). D.N.B. is an Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR) senior scholar and K.P.K. is an AHFMR scientist. M.S.O. was supported by an AHFMR studentship.

E. Individual Contributions: All experimental studies were conducted by M. Osman. M. Osman wrote and updated the chapter with the modifications suggested by Dr. D. Burshtyn and Dr. K. Kane.

²**Abbreviations**: APC, allophycocyanin; ⁵¹Cr, Na⁵¹CrO₄; FSC, forward scatter; gαm, goat anti-mouse secondary Ab; gαr, goat anti-rat secondary Ab; i.p., intraperitoneal; ITAM, immunoreceptor tyrosine based activation motif; MFI, mean fluorescence intensity; mICAM-1, mouse intercellular adhesion molecule 1; poly I:C, poly inosinic acid:cytodylic acid; SSC, side scatter.


Figure 4-1. Engagement of CD16, NKG2D, NKRP-1C and Ly-49D increases adhesion of NK cells to ICAM-1 in an LFA-1 dependent manner. (A) Expression of CD11a, Ly-49D, NKG2D, CD16, and NKRP-1C (NK1.1) on the surface of *ex vivo* DX5-enriched C57BL/6 NK cells. NK cell FcRs were preblocked with 2.4G2 (unless CD16 expression was monitored), and the cell surface expression of the indicated receptors was determined using either two color or single color flow cytometry (for CD16) as outlined in the *Materials and Methods* section. The frequency of receptor expression for each NK activating receptor is indicated in the top right corner of each corresponding plot. (B) NK adhesion to BSA or ICAM-1-immobilized beads (2 μ g/10⁷ beads) was either determined within the Ly-49D subset or for total DX5⁺ cells following the crosslinking of the indicated primary antibodies with gar or gam antibodies in the presence or absence of anti-LFA-1 α chain blocking antibodies or isotype matched controls as described in the *Materials and Methods* section. These results represent two and three independent experiments, for panels A and B respectively.



Figure 4-2. CD16, NKG2D, NKRP-1C and Ly-49D increase adhesion of NK cells to ICAM-1 in an LFA-1 dependent manner. (A) Expression of immobilized ICAM-1 on the surface of cell sized beads. Cell sized beads were immobilized with the indicated amounts of mouse ICAM-1 ($\mu g/10^7$ beads); then the amount of ICAM-1 immobilized was determined using flow cytometry. Shaded and unshaded histograms represent the relative fluorescence of detected ICAM-1 or BSA (0 µg of ICAM-1) using anti-ICAM-1 specific antibodies, (B) The mean fluorescence intensities (MFI) for ICAM-1 respectively. immobilized on cell-sized beads was plotted against the concentrations of ICAM-The solid line represents the plot representing the MFI vs ICAM-1 1. concentration, while the dotted line represents the graph's trendline. (C and D) NK adhesion was measured following the crosslinking of the indicated primary antibody using gar or gam to BSA beads, (0 µg of ICAM-1), or increasing amounts of immobilized ICAM-1 (at the indicated concentrations) for 3 min. These results are representative of at least two independent experiments. (E) An expanded view for NK cell adhesion to ICAM-1 beads of data from panel C (0- $0.5 \ \mu g \ ICAM-1/10^7$), following stimulation of NK cells with anti-Ly49D, CD16, NKG2D, or MHC I mAbs.



Figure 4-3. Ly-49D induces a very rapid but transient and substantial adhesion of NK cells to ICAM-1 beads, while CD16, NKG2D, and NKRP-1C induce a mild but sustained level of adhesion. NK cell adhesion to BSA or ICAM-1 (2 $\mu g/10^7$) beads was measured in response to crosslinking of (A) Ly-49D, (B) CD16 or NKG2D, and (C) NKRP-1C, or the corresponding rat or mouse isotype matched controls, with secondary antibodies, for the indicated times at 37 ° C. These results are representative of three (panels A or B) or two (panel C) independent experiments, respectively.



Figure 4-4. Ly-49D, CD16, and NKRP-1C can trigger a cytotoxic NK response in *ex vivo* NK cells. *Ex vivo* DX5-enriched NK cells were used as effector cells in a (A) ⁵¹Cr-release assay using YAC-1 or CHO cells as targets. (B) DX5-enriched *ex vivo* NK cells were used in a redirected cytolysis assay with human FcR^+ Daudi target cells (E/T 6/1) pre-loaded with the antibodies recognizing the specific receptor. These results represent the mean values \pm SD.



Figure 4-5. NK priming *in vivo* does not increase activating receptor-induced adhesion of LFA-1 for ICAM-1. C57BL/6 mice were injected i.p. with PBS or 50 μ g of poly I:C in PBS for 20 h, then DX5+ cells were purified and (A) used for the detection of surface Ly-49D, or LFA-1; (B) cytolysis of YAC-1 tumor target cells; or (C) the Ly-49D, NKG2D, or CD16-induced adhesion to BSA or ICAM-1 (2 μ g/10⁷) beads at 3 min at 37 ° C. These results are representative of two independent experiments with error bars representing mean ± SD.

F. References

- 1. Lanier, L. L. 2005. NK cell recognition. Annu Rev Immunol 23:225.
- Kiessling, R., E. Klein, H. Pross, and H. Wigzell. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. II. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Characteristics of the killer cell. *Eur J Immunol 5:117*.
- Kiessling, R., E. Klein, and H. Wigzell. 1975. "Natural" killer cells in the mouse. I. Cytotoxic cells with specificity for mouse Moloney leukemia cells. Specificity and distribution according to genotype. *Eur J Immunol* 5:112.
- Henderson, R. B., J. A. Hobbs, M. Mathies, and N. Hogg. 2003. Rapid recruitment of inflammatory monocytes is independent of neutrophil migration. *Blood 102:328*.
- 5. Hamerman, J. A., K. Ogasawara, and L. L. Lanier. 2005. NK cells in innate immunity. *Curr Opin Immunol 17:29*.
- 6. Ravetch, J. V., and J. P. Kinet. 1991. Fc receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* 9:457.
- Lynch, R. G. 2000. Regulatory roles for FcgammaRIII (CD16) and FcgammaRII (CD32) in the development of T- and B-lineage lymphoid cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 67:279.
- Kim, H. Y., S. Kim, and D. H. Chung. 2006. FcgammaRIII engagement provides activating signals to NKT cells in antibody-induced joint inflammation. *J Clin Invest 116:2484*.
- 9. Cambier, J. C. 1995. Antigen and Fc receptor signaling. The awesome power of the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM). *J Immunol 155:3281*.
- Arase, N., H. Arase, S. Y. Park, H. Ohno, C. Ra, and T. Saito. 1997. Association with FcRgamma is essential for activation signal through NKR-P1 (CD161) in natural killer (NK) cells and NK1.1+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 186:1957.
- 11. Karlhofer, F. M., and W. M. Yokoyama. 1991. Stimulation of murine natural killer (NK) cells by a monoclonal antibody specific for the NK1.1

antigen. IL-2-activated NK cells possess additional specific stimulation pathways. *J Immunol 146:3662*.

- Hackett, J., Jr., M. Tutt, M. Lipscomb, M. Bennett, G. Koo, and V. Kumar. 1986. Origin and differentiation of natural killer cells. II. Functional and morphologic studies of purified NK-1.1+ cells. *J Immunol* 136:3124.
- 13. Bendelac, A. 1995. Mouse NK1+ T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* 7:367.
- Cerwenka, A., A. B. Bakker, T. McClanahan, J. Wagner, J. Wu, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 2000. Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. *Immunity* 12:721.
- Diefenbach, A., E. R. Jensen, A. M. Jamieson, and D. H. Raulet. 2001. Rae1 and H60 ligands of the NKG2D receptor stimulate tumour immunity. *Nature 413:165*.
- Diefenbach, A., E. Tomasello, M. Lucas, A. M. Jamieson, J. K. Hsia, E. Vivier, and D. H. Raulet. 2002. Selective associations with signaling proteins determine stimulatory versus costimulatory activity of NKG2D. *Nat Immunol 3:1142.*
- Gilfillan, S., E. L. Ho, M. Cella, W. M. Yokoyama, and M. Colonna.
 2002. NKG2D recruits two distinct adapters to trigger NK cell activation and costimulation. *Nat Immunol 3:1150*.
- Wu, J., Y. Song, A. B. Bakker, S. Bauer, T. Spies, L. L. Lanier, and J. H. Phillips. 1999. An activating immunoreceptor complex formed by NKG2D and DAP10. *Science* 285:730.
- 19. Kane, K. P., K. J. Lavender, and B. J. Ma. 2004. Ly-49 receptors and their functions. *Crit Rev Immunol 24:321*.
- Smith, K. M., J. Wu, A. B. Bakker, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 1998. Ly-49D and Ly-49H associate with mouse DAP12 and form activating receptors. *J Immunol 161:7*.
- Bakker, A. B., R. M. Hoek, A. Cerwenka, B. Blom, L. Lucian, T. McNeil,
 R. Murray, L. H. Phillips, J. D. Sedgwick, and L. L. Lanier. 2000. DAP12-

deficient mice fail to develop autoimmunity due to impaired antigen priming. *Immunity 13:345*.

- Lanier, L. L., and A. B. Bakker. 2000. The ITAM-bearing transmembrane adaptor DAP12 in lymphoid and myeloid cell function. *Immunol Today* 21:611.
- Nakamura, M. C., P. A. Linnemeyer, E. C. Niemi, L. H. Mason, J. R.
 Ortaldo, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 1999. Mouse Ly-49D recognizes
 H-2Dd and activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med 189:493*.
- Idris, A. H., K. Iizuka, H. R. Smith, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama.
 1998. Genetic control of natural killing and in vivo tumor elimination by the Chok locus. *J Exp Med 188:2243*.
- Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier.
 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science 296:1323*.
- Dighe, A., M. Rodriguez, P. Sabastian, X. Xie, M. McVoy, and M. G.
 Brown. 2005. Requisite H2k role in NK cell-mediated resistance in acute murine cytomegalovirus-infected MA/My mice. *J Immunol* 175:6820.
- Idris, A. H., H. R. Smith, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1999. The natural killer gene complex genetic locus Chok encodes Ly-49D, a target recognition receptor that activates natural killing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:6330*.
- Helander, T. S., and T. Timonen. 1998. Adhesion in NK cell function. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 230:89.
- 29. van Kooyk, Y., and C. G. Figdor. 2000. Avidity regulation of integrins: the driving force in leukocyte adhesion. *Curr Opin Cell Biol 12:542*.
- Barber, D. F., M. Faure, and E. O. Long. 2004. LFA-1 contributes an early signal for NK cell cytotoxicity. *J Immunol 173:3653*.
- del Pozo, M. A., P. Sanchez-Mateos, M. Nieto, and F. Sanchez-Madrid.
 1995. Chemokines regulate cellular polarization and adhesion receptor redistribution during lymphocyte interaction with endothelium and

extracellular matrix. Involvement of cAMP signaling pathway. *J Cell Biol* 131:495.

- 32. Dustin, M. L., and T. A. Springer. 1989. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. *Nature 341:619*.
- 33. Hogg, N., M. Laschinger, K. Giles, and A. McDowall. 2003. T-cell integrins: more than just sticking points. *J Cell Sci 116:4695*.
- Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, D. F. Barber, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2005. Cytolytic granule polarization and degranulation controlled by different receptors in resting NK cells. *J Exp Med 202:1001*.
- Osman, M. S., D. N. Burshtyn, and K. P. Kane. 2007. Activating Ly-49 receptors regulate LFA-1-mediated adhesion by NK cells. *J Immunol* 178:1261.
- Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K.
 P. Kane. 2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2Dd. *J Immunol 165:1771*.
- 37. Kumasaka, T., W. M. Quinlan, N. A. Doyle, T. P. Condon, J. Sligh, F. Takei, A. Beaudet, C. F. Bennett, and C. M. Doerschuk. 1996. Role of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1(ICAM-1) in endotoxin-induced pneumonia evaluated using ICAM-1 antisense oligonucleotides, anti-ICAM-1 monoclonal antibodies, and ICAM-1 mutant mice. *J Clin Invest* 97:2362.
- Springer, T. A. 1980. Cell surface differentiation in the mouse. Characterization of "jumping" and "lineage" antigens using xenogeneic rat monoclonal antibodies. In *Monoclonal Antibodies*. R. H. M. Kennet, T. J. Bechtol, K. B., ed. Plenum Press, New York, NY, p. 185.
- 39. Daeron, M., C. Neauport-Sautes, U. Blank, and W. H. Fridman. 1986.
 2.4G2, a monoclonal antibody to macrophage Fc gamma receptors, reacts with murine T cell Fc gamma receptors and IgG-binding factors. *Eur J Immunol 16:1545*.
- 40. Koo, G. C., and J. R. Peppard. 1984. Establishment of monoclonal anti-Nk-1.1 antibody. *Hybridoma 3:301*.

- Ozato, K., and D. H. Sachs. 1981. Monoclonal antibodies to mouse MHC antigens. III. Hybridoma antibodies reacting to antigens of the H-2b haplotype reveal genetic control of isotype expression. *J Immunol* 126:317.
- Grumet, F. C., B. M. Fendly, and E. G. Engleman. 1981. Monoclonal anti-HLA-B27 antibody (B27M1): production and lack of detectable typing difference between patients with ankylosing spondylitis, Reiter's syndrome, and normal controls. *Lancet 2:174*.
- 43. Sanchez-Madrid, F., D. Davignon, E. Martz, and T. A. Springer. 1982.
 Antigens involved in mouse cytolytic T-lymphocyte (CTL)-mediated killing: functional screening and topographic relationship. *Cell Immunol* 73:1.
- Leenen, P. J., M. F. de Bruijn, J. S. Voerman, P. A. Campbell, and W. van Ewijk. 1994. Markers of mouse macrophage development detected by monoclonal antibodies. *J Immunol Methods 174:5*.
- Welder, C. A., D. H. Lee, and F. Takei. 1993. Inhibition of cell adhesion by microspheres coated with recombinant soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1. *J Immunol 150:2203*.
- Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2006.
 Synergy among receptors on resting NK cells for the activation of natural cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. *Blood 107:159*.
- Wang, J., J. Xu, W. Zhang, H. Wei, and Z. Tian. 2005. TLR3 ligandinduced accumulation of activated splenic natural killer cells into liver. *Cell Mol Immunol 2:449*.
- Lucas, M., W. Schachterle, K. Oberle, P. Aichele, and A. Diefenbach.
 2007. Dendritic cells prime natural killer cells by trans-presenting interleukin 15. *Immunity 26:503*.
- Gabrilovac, J., J. Tomasic, M. Boranic, I. Martin-Kleiner, and M. Osmak.
 1989. In vivo and in vitro modulation of NK and ADCC activities of mouse spleen cells by peptidoglycan monomer (PGM). *Res Exp Med* (*Berl*) 189:265.

- Carayannopoulos, L. N., O. V. Naidenko, J. Kinder, E. L. Ho, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2002. Ligands for murine NKG2D display heterogeneous binding behavior. *Eur J Immunol 32:597*.
- 51. Cerwenka, A., J. L. Baron, and L. L. Lanier. 2001. Ectopic expression of retinoic acid early inducible-1 gene (RAE-1) permits natural killer cellmediated rejection of a MHC class I-bearing tumor in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:11521.*
- 52. Suzuki, J., S. Yamasaki, J. Wu, G. A. Koretzky, and T. Saito. 2007. The actin cloud induced by LFA-1-mediated outside-in signals lowers the threshold for T-cell activation. *Blood 109:168*.
- Carrasco, Y. R., S. J. Fleire, T. Cameron, M. L. Dustin, and F. D. Batista.
 2004. LFA-1/ICAM-1 interaction lowers the threshold of B cell activation by facilitating B cell adhesion and synapse formation. *Immunity 20:589*.
- Shibuya, K., L. L. Lanier, J. H. Phillips, H. D. Ochs, K. Shimizu, E.
 Nakayama, H. Nakauchi, and A. Shibuya. 1999. Physical and functional association of LFA-1 with DNAM-1 adhesion molecule. *Immunity* 11:615.
- 55. van Kooyk, Y., P. van de Wiel-van Kemenade, P. Weder, T. W. Kuijpers, and C. G. Figdor. 1989. Enhancement of LFA-1-mediated cell adhesion by triggering through CD2 or CD3 on T lymphocytes. *Nature 342:811*.
- 56. Weber, J. R., S. Orstavik, K. M. Torgersen, N. C. Danbolt, S. F. Berg, J. C. Ryan, K. Tasken, J. B. Imboden, and J. T. Vaage. 1998. Molecular cloning of the cDNA encoding pp36, a tyrosine-phosphorylated adaptor protein selectively expressed by T cells and natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* 187:1157.
- 57. Zhang, W., C. L. Sommers, D. N. Burshtyn, C. C. Stebbins, J. B. DeJarnette, R. P. Trible, A. Grinberg, H. C. Tsay, H. M. Jacobs, C. M. Kessler, E. O. Long, P. E. Love, and L. E. Samelson. 1999. Essential role of LAT in T cell development. *Immunity 10:323*.
- Peterson, E. J., J. L. Clements, Z. K. Ballas, and G. A. Koretzky. 1999. NK cytokine secretion and cytotoxicity occur independently of the SLP-76 adaptor protein. *Eur J Immunol 29:2223*.

- Cella, M., K. Fujikawa, I. Tassi, S. Kim, K. Latinis, S. Nishi, W. Yokoyama, M. Colonna, and W. Swat. 2004. Differential requirements for Vav proteins in DAP10- and ITAM-mediated NK cell cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med 200:817*.
- Peterson, E. J., M. L. Woods, S. A. Dmowski, G. Derimanov, M. S. Jordan, J. N. Wu, P. S. Myung, Q. H. Liu, J. T. Pribila, B. D. Freedman, Y. Shimizu, and G. A. Koretzky. 2001. Coupling of the TCR to integrin activation by Slap-130/Fyb. *Science 293:2263*.
- 61. Katagiri, K., M. Imamura, and T. Kinashi. 2006. Spatiotemporal regulation of the kinase Mst1 by binding protein RAPL is critical for lymphocyte polarity and adhesion. *Nat Immunol 7:919*.
- 62. Kinashi, T. 2005. Intracellular signalling controlling integrin activation in lymphocytes. *Nat Rev Immunol 5:546*.
- Menasche, G., S. Kliche, E. J. Chen, T. E. Stradal, B. Schraven, and G. Koretzky. 2007. RIAM links the ADAP/SKAP-55 signaling module to Rap1, facilitating T-cell-receptor-mediated integrin activation. *Mol Cell Biol 27:4070*.
- Lollo, B. A., K. W. Chan, E. M. Hanson, V. T. Moy, and A. A. Brian.
 1993. Direct evidence for two affinity states for lymphocyte functionassociated antigen 1 on activated T cells. *J Biol Chem 268:21693*.
- 65. Cabanas, C., and N. Hogg. 1993. Ligand intercellular adhesion molecule 1 has a necessary role in activation of integrin lymphocyte functionassociated molecule 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:5838*.
- 66. Labadia, M. E., D. D. Jeanfavre, G. O. Caviness, and M. M. Morelock.
 1998. Molecular regulation of the interaction between leukocyte functionassociated antigen-1 and soluble ICAM-1 by divalent metal cations. J Immunol 161:836.
- 67. Ojo, E., and H. Wigzell. 1978. Natural killer cells may be the only cells in normal mouse lymphoid cell populations endowed with cytolytic ability for antibody-coated tumour target cells. *Scand J Immunol* 7:297.

- Kim, S., J. Poursine-Laurent, S. M. Truscott, L. Lybarger, Y. J. Song, L. Yang, A. R. French, J. B. Sunwoo, S. Lemieux, T. H. Hansen, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2005. Licensing of natural killer cells by host major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature 436:709*.
- 69. Pende, D., R. Castriconi, P. Romagnani, G. M. Spaggiari, S. Marcenaro,
 A. Dondero, E. Lazzeri, L. Lasagni, S. Martini, P. Rivera, A. Capobianco,
 L. Moretta, A. Moretta, and C. Bottino. 2006. Expression of the DNAM-1
 ligands, Nectin-2 (CD112) and poliovirus receptor (CD155), on dendritic
 cells: relevance for natural killer-dendritic cell interaction. *Blood*107:2030.
- 70. Ye, W., J. D. Young, and C. C. Liu. 1996. Interleukin-15 induces the expression of mRNAs of cytolytic mediators and augments cytotoxic activities in primary murine lymphocytes. *Cell Immunol 174:54*.

Chapter 5 - General Discussion and Conclusions

A. Ly-49 Allele specificity – a role for the β 4- β 5 loop and CK-1

Ly-49 receptors recognize MHC I in an allele specific manner (1-3). As previously discussed, the "site 2" between the CRD of the Ly-49A and its H-2D^d ligand is the region for Ly-49 recognition of MHC I (4, 5). The specificity of Ly-49 receptors for MHC I is dictated by amino acids within the β 4– β 5 loop as highlighted by studies involving the reciprocal substitution of amino acids between two Ly-49 receptors with different MHC I specificities resulted in the transfer of corresponding receptor specificities (6).

The β 4- β 5 loop may contribute to or define the specificities of MHC I allele recognition for Ly-49A and its related receptors (ex. Ly-49P, Ly-49D, Ly-49W, Ly-49G, Ly-49L). These receptors share a group of solvent exposed residues primarily residing within the β 4- β 5 loop that interact with class I and β 2m at site 2 (7). In chapter two, I identified the epitope for the CK-1 mAb to a region lying within the β 4- β 5 loop of Ly49GB⁶. In addition, CK-1 was clearly able to disrupt the interaction between Ly-49G^{B6} and its H-2D^d ligand – suggesting that CK-1 was binding at the β 4- β 5 loop and disrupting MHC I recognition. These results further emphasize the importance of the β 4- β 5 loop in regulating Ly-49 MHC I allele specificity.

B. CK-1 and Cwy-3 are useful for studying Ly-49 receptors in vitro and in vivo

The identification and characterization of the CK-1 and Cwy-3 mAb epitopes will be useful in studying Ly-49 receptors with CK-1 or Cwy-3 epitopes. For example, Ly-49M is an activating receptor expressed in the NOD mouse strain (**Table 1-2**) that is stained by all available anti-Ly-49G mAbs – CK-1, Cwy-3 and 4D11 (**Fig. 2-1**). NK cells from NOD mice probably express Ly-49G, Ly-49M, or Ly-49W individually, or in combination, as the cDNAs encoding these receptors were cloned from IL-2 activated NOD NK cells. Ly-49M and Ly-49G but not Ly-49W are recognized by CK-1, and Ly-49M and Ly-49W are recognized by CWy-3 (**Fig. 2-1**, **Supp. Fig. 2-2**). Thus, a combinatorial antibody

143

strategy can be employed to examine NOD NK cell subsets expressing Ly- $49M^+Ly-49G^+Ly-49W^+$ cells, as NK cells simultaneously expressing all three receptors will stain positive for both antibodies, in addition to NK cells that are only positive for Ly-49M (as predicted using **Fig. 2-1**).

Studies using the NOD mouse strain have mapped the type I diabetes susceptibility locus *Idd6* to a region in the NKC (8). NOD NK cell *in vivo* activation through the chronic injection of poly I:C has been associated with reduction in the onset of type I diabetes (9). Thus, the role of NK cell subsets expressing Ly-49G, Ly-49M, or Ly-49W can be closely examined using these antibodies. For example, these antibodies can be used to selectively deplete Ly-49M⁺ and Ly-49W⁺ or Ly-49G⁺ and Ly-49M⁺ cells *in vivo* using Cwy-3 or CK-1, respectively. Alternatively, Ly-49M/Ly-49W or Ly-49G/Ly49M can be simultaneously co-crosslinked on NK cell or T cell subsets expressing these receptor combinations via Cwy-3 or CK-1, respectively, to measure LFA-1 triggering (10), cytokine production (11) or NK cytotoxic granule release (12).

As the number of identified Ly-49 receptors are rapidly expanding, CK-1 and Cwy-3 can be used to stain and examine the surface expression of unidentified receptors that share the protein sequences composing their epitopes. Alternatively, the proper protein folding of known Ly-49 receptors subjected to site directed mutagenesis can be monitored using either Cwy-3 or CK-1. For example, Ly-49W is not recognized by CK-1 but is recognized by Cwy-3 and 4D11 (**Fig. 2-1**). In order to ensure proper protein folding, both 4D11 and Cwy-3 can be employed to ensure that the proper global protein conformations have been adapted by virtue of the preservation of their respective epitopes. Furthermore, the expression of Ly-49G, Ly-49W, or Ly-49M alleles or the function of NK cell subsets expressing these receptors from F₁ animals (e.g. NOD, and BALB/c) can be examined using both CK-1 and Cwy-3 as previously employed by the AT8 and Cwy-3 antibodies (13).

C. Activating Ly-49 receptors lower the threshold for *ex vivo* NK activation by regulating LFA-1-dependent adhesion

The binding affinities for activating and inhibitory immune receptors sharing the same ligand illustrate an interesting paradigm present in immune cells. In many cases, inhibitory receptors have evolved to possess a greater intrinsic binding capacity for their ligand than activating receptors sharing that ligand; however, in some cases this observation is not evident. The Ig-like CD28 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated protein-4 (CTLA-4) receptors are prototypical examples highlighting this phenemonen. Both CD28 and CTLA-4 are expressed on the surfaces of T cells, and recognize the B7 family of receptors present on antigen presenting cells. CD28 provides resting T cells with a positive costimulatory signal for cell activation, while CTLA-4 provides a negative signal (14). Interestingly, CTLA-4 is expressed on the surface of only activated T cells, and binds to B7 with a much higher affinity than CD28 (K_d ~ 12 nM and 200 nM, respectively) (14), thereby outcompeting CD28 for B7 when both receptors are present.

A similar situation is evident with activating and inhibitory MHC Ispecific NK receptors. As previously discussed, certain activating KIR are highly homologous to inhibitory KIR within their extracellular domains, and share the same MHC I ligand. For example, the activating KIR2DS1 and the inhibitory KIR2DL1 both bind to the HLA-Cw4 allele product (15). KIR2DL1 interacts with HLA-Cw4 with a much higher affinity than KIR2DS1 (16). Interestingly, the affinity of KIR2DS1 can be substantially augmented by a single amino acid substitution in the extra-cellular domain (16). Although there are no direct studies assessing the differential binding affinities of activating and inhibitory Ly-49 for the same MHC I allele, several indirect observations have suggested that activating Ly-49, like activating KIR, are not as effective as inhibitory Ly-49 in binding to their ligands. For example, Ly-49A and Ly-49D both recognize H-2D^d (1, 17). When H-2D^d is expressed in plate-adhered COS-7 cells, Ly-49A⁺ cells bind to these cells at much higher levels than Ly-49D⁺ cells (18). In contrast, the binding capacity of Ly-49D for H-2D^d tetramers is substantially enhanced upon the elimination of an N-linked glycosylation site within the CRD region (19). These studies, however, did not directly measure the binding affinities of Ly-49A and Ly-49D, or Ly-49D glycosylation mutants for H-2D^d. Similarly, surface plasmon resonance studies assessing the binding affinities of activating Ly-49H and inhibitory Ly-49I for the MCMV MHC-like m157 gene product have demonstrated that the Ly-49H affinity for m157 was substantially lower than that determined for inhibitory Ly-49I, suggesting that the MHC-like m157 viral protein has evolved to quell NK cell activation by expressing a ligand that can bind the inhibitory Ly-49I more effectively than activating Ly49H, resulting in a dominant negative signal (20).

From our studies, we have defined the regulation of NK cell adhesion to susceptible target cells as a novel function of MHC I specific NK activating We showed that Ly-49P stably expressed in RNK-16 cells receptors. substantially increases NK cell adhesion and cytolysis to cells expressing its H-2D^d ligand in an Ly-49/MHC I and LFA-1/ICAM-1 dependent manner (Fig. 3-2). Moreover, crosslinking the cell surface activating Ly49 with a soluble antibody mimics this phenomenon as cells expressing a wild type Ly-49, but not cells expressing a mutant receptor unable to associate with DAP12, have an enhanced binding to plates or cell-sized beads coated with purified ICAM-1 (Fig. 3-4, 3-5). Together, these studies highlight the regulation of LFA-1 binding of ICAM-1 by DAP12 associated Ly-49 receptors through inside-out signaling. This principle can be extended to include human cells because I have also shown that IL-2 activated KIR2DS1⁺ human NK clones increase the adhesion and cytolysis of NK cells to target cells expressing the KIR HLA ligand in a KIR-dependent manner (Appendix 3).

The regulation of LFA-1 by inside-out signaling through activating Ly-49/DAP12 receptor complexes may provide a mechanism that compensates for the apparent lower affinity, when compared to their inhibitory receptor counterparts, of activating receptors for their ligands. Upon the activation of Ly-49/DAP12 signals by soluble antibody crosslinking or ligand recognition, insideout signals acting on LFA-1 triggers its ICAM-1 binding capacity. As there are no mouse specific serological reagents that can distinguish between the different LFA-1 forms, we have not definitively determined the form adopted by LFA-1 in response to Ly-49/DAP12 stimulation. Our studies strongly suggest that a higher affinity form is adopted as the level of cell/cell, cell/ICAM-1 bead, or cell/ICAM-1 immobilized beads is substantially induced (**Fig. 3-2, 3-4, 3-5**). LFA-1 adopts three conformations – a low affinity form ($K_d \sim 1$ mM) present on circulating lymphocytes; an intermediate affinity form ($K_d \sim 10 \mu$ M) that is laterally mobile and is induced by inside-out signals from antigen receptors such as the TcR; and a high affinity form ($K_d \sim 100$ nM) that forms stable interactions with ICAM-1, and promotes tight adhesion between lymphocytes and cells expressing ICAM-1 (21).

Activating receptors which associate with ITAM-containing signaling adapters have different affinities for their ligands, e.g. TCR $K_a \ 10^3 - 10^5 \ M^{-1}$ (22), Fc γ RIII for IC K_a 10⁷ M⁻¹ (23), BCR K_a 10⁶-10¹¹ M⁻¹ (24). Receptors that have lower intrinsic binding affinities for their ligands, such as the TCR or activating Ly-49, may require increased adhesion of LFA-1 for ICAM-1 in order to generate a productive signal. Tight and sustained adhesion between LFA-1 and ICAM-1 would facilitate the multiple engagement of different receptors with a single ligand to trigger a productive signaling cascade as evident with the TCR (25). This suggestion is corroborated by our observations indicating that the Ly-49D/DAP12 receptor complex is capable of triggering tight adhesion to low densities of ICAM-1 on ex vivo NK cells (Fig. 4-2C). The triggered activation of LFA-1 adhesion by the Ly-49/DAP12 receptor complex induces a rapid but transient upregulation of LFA-1-dependent tight adhesion peaking at 3 min, that is substantially reduced by 30 min (Fig. 4-3A). The kinetics observed for Ly-49D/DAP12 mediated LFA-1/ICAM-1 tight adhesion are in line with the kinetics observed for cytolysis, as several groups have reported that the rate of NK cell mediated cytotoxicity declines after 1 hour, and cytotoxic granule release, through the detection of cell surface CD107a, is also significantly detected within 30 min (12, 26-28), although the kinetics of Ly-49 mediated degranulation have not been established. Similarly, the TCR/CD3 complex has also been shown to induce a transient upregulation of LFA-1 binding for ICAM-1 that peaks after 30 min (29), and cytotoxic granule release by CTL is also detectable within 30 min (30).

Upon close examination of some of the signaling mediators required for the regulation of Ly-49/DAP12 of LFA-1 triggered adhesion, certain key players play a prominent role. From our studies, it is clear that the association between DAP12 and the activating Ly-49 is required for this event (**Fig. 3-4A**). In addition, SFKs and Syk family kinases are important for tight adhesion (**Fig. 3B**), and Ly-49-mediated cytolysis (**Appendix 2**). Furthermore, biochemical studies examining wild type NK cells or NK cells derived from CD45 deficient mice have suggested that the SFK p56^{Lck} and p59^{Fyn} are important effectors in Ly-49 activating receptor membrane proximal signaling events (31). Together, these studies highlight the importance of receptor recognition, and membrane proximal signaling events such as DAP12 association, SFK phosphorylation of DAP12 ITAMs, and Syk family kinase activity in regulating inside-out activation of LFA-1 adhesion and cytolytic responses in NK cells (See **Fig. 5-2**).

Upon antigen receptor engagement, LFA-1 is recruited to the site of cell/cell contact through a variety of mechanisms where it can increase cellular adhesion through its interaction with ICAM-1, or it can provide biochemical signals which can further potentiate signals generated by the antigen receptor complex. For example, LFA-1 can generate co-stimulatory signals for both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells through PI3K activity leading to enhanced proliferation (32). In addition, studies using peripheral blood T cells have suggested that LFA-1-dependent signaling events directly initiate actin polymerization and reorganization to strengthen its adhesion to ICAM-1 (33). In fact, it has recently been suggested that LFA-1 signals generate an "actin cloud" – or a region above the contact site highly enriched in actin, requiring the activities of the signaling proteins ADAP and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), which augment T-cell activation and lower the threshold required for T cell activation (34).

Upon its activation, high affinity forms of LFA-1 at the site of cell contact are preferentially enriched in lipid rafts (35), or cholesterol-rich detergent insoluble microdomains. These regions are enriched in a number of signaling molecules such as SFK (e.g. p56^{Lck}, p59^{Fyn}), and the adapter proteins LAT and NTAL, shown to be important for T and NK cell activation (36, 37). In fact, it has been suggested that chemotactic signals induce the internalization of LFA-1 from the cell surface into recycling endosomes, and subsequent LFA-1 targeting to rafts (38). LFA-1 enriched in rafts, can in turn generate outside-in signals. For example, LFA-1 can generate its own unique signal in NK cells, and perhaps CTL, as it induces the polarization of cytotoxic granules towards targets cells (39).

Several studies have suggested a role for Syk in regulating integrin outside-in signaling. For instance, crosslinking LFA-1 in neutrophils results in neutrophil degranulation, in contrast, cells derived from Syk^{-/-} mice are unable to release oxidative mediators (40). In addition, integrin crosslinking also results in the co-localization of Syk with CD18, and enhanced Syk phosphorylation (40). Similarly, Syk is required for chemokine-dependent B cell polarization (41). Moreover, it has recently been suggested that the ITAM containing adapters DAP12 and FcR- γ are required for integrin outside-in signaling as macrophages and neutrophils deficient in DAP12 and FcR-y have a reduction in migration, and degranulation in response to integrin crosslinking (42). In other words, important effector molecules required for the inside-out activation of LFA-1 (e.g. Syk, DAP12) are also required for LFA-1 outside-in functions following the binding of LFA-1 for its ligands. Because lipid rafts are enriched in SFKs, activated forms of LFA-1 and Syk, it can be suggested that these microdomains may provide a link that can directly modulate integrin activity. NK activating receptors, for example, may be enriched or actively targeted to rafts following ligand recognition, thereby recruiting signaling effectors to rafts and promoting outsidein signals. This idea is supported by the observation that NKG2D is enriched in rafts following its recognition of target cells expressing MIC-A in human NK cells (43); however, the enrichment of activating Ly-49 receptors in rafts has not been established. In other words, positive signals from activating receptors can prime NK cells for generating LFA-1-dependent outside-in signals in rafts that together may synergize to regulate cytotoxicity, and NK effector functions.

From our results, it can be suggested that the activation of LFA-1 lowers the threshold required for NK cell effector functions, as activating Ly-49 receptors provide signals that generate a form of LFA-1 that binds to ICAM-1 with high affinity – a form presumably enriched in lipid rafts. Our studies support a model where LFA-1 activation and NK cytotoxicity require the presence of an additional activating signal provided by Ly-49/DAP12 receptor complexes (Fig. 5-2). We propose that the combined signals generated from the activated form of LFA-1 and from the activating Ly-49 receptor synergize to overcome the signaling barrier required for cellular activation. This model is supported by our observation that ex vivo NK cells do not bind to ICAM-1 at a high frequency in the absence of Ly-49 stimuli, and Ly-49/DAP12-dependent destruction of target cells requires the engagement of LFA-1 with ICAM-1. It is also supported by studies from Eric Long's laboratory suggesting that LFA-1 provides signals in freshly isolated NK cells that promote cytotoxic granule polarization, but not degranulation (39). Similar models have been proposed using other lymphocytes. For example, studies using B cells have suggested a role for the interaction between LFA-1 and ICAM-1 in lowering the threshold required for B cell activation by lowering the level of specific antigen required to form a mature immunological synapse (24). Similarly, LFA-1 engagement of ICAM-1 has been shown to lower the threshold required for T cell activation through a cytohesin/JAB – dependent mechanism (44) – suggesting that the regulation of lymphocyte adhesion receptors by antigen receptors may be a pervasive mechanism in lowering the threshold required for the activation of unstimulated lymphocytes.

D. Non-DAP12 associated NK receptors regulate increased LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 – a unique role for activating Ly-49 or DAP12?

From our studies examining CD16, NKRP-1C, and NKG2D, it is clear that these receptors are able to modulate LFA-1 binding to ICAM-1 following receptor crosslinking. It is peculiar that only 10-12 % of the cells participate in binding to ICAM-1 despite the relatively high frequency of expression of these receptors on *ex vivo* NK cells (**Fig. 4-1, 4-2**). In addition, it is highly interesting

how the adhesion they generate is long lived kinetically, and is clearly distinct from the behavior of the Ly-49D/DAP12 receptor complex that induces a rapid but transient increase in the frequency of LFA-1 triggered adhesion to ICAM-1. These observations may stem from a synchronized response by the Ly-49D⁺ NK cell subset when saturating concentrations of anti-Ly49D mAb are used. Whereas, cells expressing CD16, NKG2D, or NKRP-1C may be sequentially triggered to increase their LFA-1 adhesion to ICAM-1 when their receptors are crosslinked with saturating mAb.

From our studies using RNK cells stably expressing a mutant receptor unable to associate with DAP12 (RNK-P(R57L)), it can be suggested that Ly-49 driven inside-out signaling requires the association of DAP12, and is likely mediated through a DAP12-dependent mechanism. We have not examined insideout signaling using ex vivo NK cells derived from DAP12 deficient mice because Ly-49D surface expression is significantly reduced (45). In addition, although ex vivo NK cells from mice expressing DAP12 containing an ITAM^{null} version express normal cell surface levels of Ly-49D, studies using cells from these mice will only highlight the importance of Tyr residues within the ITAM for Ly-49 induced inside-out signals (46). Interestingly, DAP12 shares a high degree of amino acid similarity with FcR- γ , but is not similar to DAP10. Both DAP12 and FcR-y signaling adapters are disulfide linked homodimers expressing a single ITAM within the cytoplasmic tail of each monomer, whereas DAP10 does not contain an ITAM, but uses a YxNM motif to activate PI3K signaling (reviewed in (47)). In addition, DAP10 employs Vav-1 to mediate its cytotoxicity, while both FcR-y and DAP12 cytotoxic signaling require Vav-2 and Vav-3 as highlighted from studies using mice deficient in these signaling proteins (48). Furthermore, cytotoxic signals through NKRP-1C, CD16 and Ly-49 receptors complexes require a functional SFK (31, 49). Thus, it is highly interesting that the Ly-49D receptor, which associates with DAP12, behaves very differently with respect to regulating adhesion from the CD16 or NKRP-1C receptors, which both associate with the FcR-y signaling chain.

The differences we observe between Ly-49/DAP12 and NKRP-1C/FcR-y or CD16/FcR-y receptor complexes with respect to LFA-1 mediated adhesion may stem from differences inherent to the cells expressing these receptors as a consequence of undefined developmental predispositions, or they may result from an undefined property inherent to DAP12 or the Ly-49 receptors. For example, NK cells that develop in a host deficient in MHC I, or cells that do not express an inhibitory Ly-49 receptor that recognizes self-MHC I exhibit a substantially reduced functionality when compared to NK cells expressing an inhibitory receptor for self MHC I in an MHC I sufficient environment (11, 50). These responding or "licensed" NK cells express the Ly-49C and Ly-49I inhibitory receptors specific for self-MHC I in a B6 mouse $(H-2^b)$ (11). Interestingly, NK cells from B6 mice expressing Ly-49H are also predisposed to express Ly-49D, as approximately 70 % of the Ly-49H⁺ cells are also Ly-49D⁺ (51). In addition, about 68 % of the Ly-49H+ cells are also Ly-49C/ I^+ (51). In other words, Ly- $49D^+$ cells are also polarized to be Ly- $49H^+$, and might have a large fraction of "licensed" (approximately 48 %) cells by virtue of their expression of inhibitory receptors specific for self-MHC I. Thus, it may be possible that licensed NK cells within the $Ly-49D^+$ NK cell subset may be pre-disposed to regulate LFA-1 mediated adhesion and also responding upon the cross-linking of other activating receptors, such as through CD16, NKG2D, or NKRP-1C. These ideas can simply be tested by staining CD16, NKRP-1C, or NKG2D cross-linked B6 NK cells coincubated with ICAM-1 beads with anti-Ly-49D and/or anti-Ly-49H mAbs, and by staining Ly-49D crosslinked B6 NK cells co-incubated with ICAM-1 with anti-Ly-49C/I mAb.

Alternatively, DAP12 may play a unique role in NK cells that has not been defined. DAP12 is a relatively short polypeptide of only 113–114 amino acids, containing a cytoplasmic ITAM. The ITAM is the only signaling domain that has been identified in the DAP12 polypeptide, and it mediates all of its known effector functions to date (46). When the sequence of its cytoplasmic tail is compared with the FcR- γ signaling adapter, it is apparent that the sequence TRKxR/H eight amino acids from the ITAM is conserved in DAP12, but not FcR- γ

 γ . Studies using the NK activating receptor DNAM-1 have shown that the Cterminal end of the cytoplasmic tail of this receptor contains the conserved sequence (between mouse and human) SRRPK, a sequence corresponding to the consensus site for protein kinase C phosphorylation. DNAM-1 constitutively associates with LFA-1 in human NK cells, and can inducibly associate with LFA-1 following in lipid rafts anti-TCR crosslinking in T cells (52). The association in T cells requires the phosphorylation of the Ser residue in the SRRPK sequence (52). In other words, an additional motif unique to the DAP12 cytoplasmic tail may be responsible for regulating LFA-1 inside-out activation, possibly through a protein kinase C dependent mechanism.

A different but interesting idea that may explain the observed difference between Ly-49D and NKRP-1C, CD16, or NKG2D receptors may stem from the enrichment of Ly-49D in lipid rafts. Upon close examination of activating Ly-49 receptor sequences, a membrane proximal cytosolic Val-Cys-Ser sequence permissive for the reversible addition of palmitic acid moieties is present (in Ly49D, H, P, M and W), but not present in CD16, NKRP-1C or NKG2D. Proteins enriched in lipid rafts, such as LAT, are highly palmitoylated, and palmitoylation is important for their raft recruitment (53). In addition, the initiation of TCR membrane proximal signaling events following the recognition of peptide MHC complexes requires the activities of proteins resident to lipid rafts, such as SFK, and LAT (reviewed in (54)). Thus activating Ly-49 constitutive, or induced palmitoylation, may enhance and amplify signals generated from these receptor complexes by recruiting them into microdomains enriched in signaling proteins and activated LFA-1, which can in turn enhance LFA-1 dependent outside-in signals.

E. Future Directions:

Activating NK Receptors and the Regulation of LFA-1 Adhesion

Inside-out activation of LFA-1 results in changes in LFA-1 affinity, or lateral mobility in the membrane. Studies conducted in T cells have identified some of the key players involved in these processes which include the proteins talin, Rap-1, LAT (55, 56), SLP-76 (57) and ADAP(58). TCR signaling uses LAT to recruit and activate SLP-76 thereby linking to ADAP, with the latter specifically required for LFA-1 clustering (reviewed in (59)). ADAP, in turn activates Rap1 through RIAM (60) which recruits RapL to the LFA-1 α chain to increase its clustering and affinity for ICAM-1 (61), (**Fig. 5-2**). The role(s) of these molecules in the mechanism employed to trigger LFA-1 activation via activating NK receptors has not been defined. In order to examine the roles of these molecules, the use of animals deficient in these signaling molecules followed by the examination of LFA-1 activation would be very informative. For example, the capacity of LFA-1 activation by antigen receptors is severely compromised in Rap-1 deficient B and T cells (62). In addition, the use of ADAP and SLP-76 deficient mice may also be informative. Alternatively, preventing Rap1 activation by the overexpression of a GFP-tagged RapGAP (e.g. Spa I) in RNK-P cells or *ex vivo* NK cells may also be informative in defining the role Rap GTPases play in NK activating receptor mediated inside-out activation of LFA-1 as previously described (63).

Following antigen receptor stimulation, LFA-1 distribution changes from a uniform level to a polarized redistribution profile when detected with confocal microscopy (61). Consequently, it will be important to define the LFA-1 redistribution on RNK cells stably expressing activating Ly-49 receptors and *ex vivo* NK cells using confocal microscopy. In addition, this increased redistribution and commensurate enhancement of "avidity" of LFA-1 can be examined using soluble ICAM-1-Fc (sICAM-1) complexes, as previously described (64), and as employed to examine Ly-49D induced changes in LFA-1 avidity (**Appendix 4**). Because this assay cannot discriminate between changes in LFA-1 affinity and avidity, it will be necessary to measure changes in affinity using sICAM-1 as previously described (65).

Signaling Adapters and their roles in regulating LFA-1 through inside-out signaling

In order to directly compare the intrinsic capacities of the different signaling adapters, DAP12, DAP10, and FcR- γ which associate with activating NK receptors through an intermolecular interaction for inducing enhanced LFA-1

binding to ICAM-1, it would be important to uncouple the receptor-mediated recognition event from signaling cascades that modulate inside-out signaling. In addition, the heterogeneous expression of different activating receptors as monitored by specific mAbs provides an obstacle when comparing the relative frequencies of LFA-1 mediated triggered cell binding. To overcome these problems, we propose the use of human CD4-fusion proteins that contain extracellular/transmembrane human CD4 domains and the cytoplasmic tails of the different signaling adapters, or a truncated CD4 receptor containing only the extracellular/transmembrane domains, then stably expressing the individual receptors at similar levels in RNK-16 cells (Fig. 5-3). Thus, a single and common mAb stimulus through anti-CD4 can be used to trigger the activation of these receptors, and also monitor inside-out signaling though the measurement of LFA-1 dependent adhesion to ICAM-1 in cells expressing the individual fusion proteins. This receptor system may also be useful for defining the LFA-1 surface distribution in the presence of CD4 mAbs and extended to define the exact regions within the cytoplasmic tails of the signaling adapter sequences through the use of deletion mutants. Furthermore, the functionality of these receptors can be determined using redirected lysis assays with P815 targets, which are normally resistant to RNK-16 mediated lysis (Fig. 3-1). CD4-fusion proteins of the type described have been used previously in defining the contribution of Grb2 in DAP10 mediated signaling (66), indicating the practical application of such CD4fusion constructs in the proposed future studies.

Role of palmitoylation in Ly-49 Activating receptor promotion of LFA-1 inside-out signaling

Protein palmitoylation involves the reversible formation of a thioester bond between a free Cys residue, and a palmitate moiety. Thus, in the absence of the accepting free Cys residue, the addition of a palmitate residue is abrogated resulting in altered protein localization as demonstrated for LAT raft recruitment (67). Interestingly, Ly-49 activators (Ly-49D, H, and W) are expressed, as detected by RT-PCR, as two different splice variants in IL-2 activated NK cells – one form contains a membrane proximal VCS sequence, and the other form does not (68). To date, only the VCS-containing form of Ly-49P has been reported. Thus, a single point mutation changing the Cys to an Ala mutation within this sequence can be made (**Fig. 5-4**), followed by stably expressing this mutant receptor and the wild type Ly-49P receptor in RNK-16 cells, to assess the ability of cells expressing the individual different receptors to bind to ICAM-1 immobilized plates upon crosslinking Ly-49P. In addition, the role of receptor palmitoylation in inside-out signaling can be corroborated using reversible palmitoyl transferase inhibitors. Furthermore, the palmitoylation of this Cys in the wild type or mutant receptor can be assessed using ³H-palmitate.

F. Conclusion

By demonstrating that activating NK receptors regulate inside-out activation of LFA-1 binding for ICAM-1, I propose that this is an integral mechanism that lowers the threshold for activating NK cell effector functions. I demonstrated for the first time, that activating Ly-49 receptors, and non-DAP12 associated receptors, regulate LFA-1 with distinct properties. Furthermore, I suggest that activating Ly-49 receptors and DAP12 in NK cells likely parallel the TCR/CD3 complex not only in triggering effector functions, but also likely in the biochemical mechanisms. Moreover, we define the epitopes of the CK-1 and Cwy-3 anti-Ly49G antibodies and underscore their value as useful tools that can be employed for understanding NK cell MHC I allele specificity, and in defining the function of NK cell subsets *in vivo* and the roles they may play in the development of diabetes in the NOD mouse. Finally, I also propose studies that may provide a new dimension in our understanding of NK cell activating receptors and their regulation of LFA-1 triggered adhesion.

A) Circulating NK cell



B) NK cell engaged with target cells expressing Ly-49 ligand



Figure 5-1. Activating Ly-49 receptors lower the threshold for NK cell activation through the induction of inside-out signaling culminating in the activation of LFA-1. (A) Circulating NK cells that have not engaged target cells expressing a ligand for an activating Ly-49 receptor have a form of LFA-1 with a low binding affinity for ICAM-1. (B) (i) Upon ligand recognition, an inside-out signal requiring DAP12 association, and SFK/Syk kinase activity is initiated (ii), which increases LFA-1 lateral mobility, through the liberation from the cytoskeleton and/or the targeting of LFA-1 in recycling endosomes to the site of cell contact, and affinity for ICAM-1. (iii) The activated form of LFA-1 generates signals which combine with the activating Ly-49 derived signals, and together lower the threshold for NK cell activation and trigger NK cell effector functions. The role of inside-out signaling in lowering the threshold for NK cell activation may be extended to include other NK activating receptors such as NKG2D, CD16 and NKRP-1C.



Figure 5-2. Proposed inside-out signaling mediators in response to Ly-49D induction.



Figure 5-3. Schematic representation of the CD4 chimeric receptors. FLAGtagged human CD4 extracellular/TM domains were fused with the indicated signaling adapter's cytoplasmic tail.



Figure 5-4. Schematic representation of the wild type Ly-49P1 receptor, and a mutant receptor with a C39A amino acid substitution.

G. References

- Karlhofer, F. M., R. K. Ribaudo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1992. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49+ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature 358:66*.
- Mason, L. H., J. R. Ortaldo, H. A. Young, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and S. K. Anderson. 1995. Cloning and functional characteristics of murine large granular lymphocyte-1: a member of the Ly-49 gene family (Ly-49G2). J Exp Med 182:293.
- Silver, E. T., D. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2001. Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). *J Immunol 166:2333*.
- Matsumoto, N., M. Mitsuki, K. Tajima, W. M. Yokoyama, and K. Yamamoto. 2001. The functional binding site for the C-type lectin-like natural killer cell receptor Ly49A spans three domains of its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. J Exp Med 193:147.
- Wang, J., M. C. Whitman, K. Natarajan, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, and D. H. Margulies. 2002. Binding of the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor Ly49A to its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. Crucial contacts include both H-2Dd AND beta 2-microglobulin. *J Biol Chem* 277:1433.
- Ma, B. J., E. T. Silver, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2003. Reciprocal transfer of class I MHC allele specificity between activating Ly-49P and Ly-49W receptors by exchange of beta 4-beta 5 loop residues. *J Immunol* 171:5337.
- Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature 402:623*.
- Carnaud, C., J. Gombert, O. Donnars, H. Garchon, and A. Herbelin. 2001.
 Protection against diabetes and improved NK/NKT cell performance in NOD.NK1.1 mice congenic at the NK complex. *J Immunol 166:2404*.

- 9. Zhou, R., H. Wei, and Z. Tian. 2007. NK3-like NK cells are involved in protective effect of polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid on type 1 diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. *J Immunol* 178:2141.
- Osman, M. S., D. N. Burshtyn, and K. P. Kane. 2007. Activating Ly-49 receptors regulate LFA-1-mediated adhesion by NK cells. *J Immunol* 178:1261.
- Kim, S., J. Poursine-Laurent, S. M. Truscott, L. Lybarger, Y. J. Song, L. Yang, A. R. French, J. B. Sunwoo, S. Lemieux, T. H. Hansen, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2005. Licensing of natural killer cells by host major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Nature 436:709*.
- Alter, G., J. M. Malenfant, and M. Altfeld. 2004. CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity. *J Immunol Methods 294:15*.
- Proteau, M. F., E. Rousselle, and A. P. Makrigiannis. 2004. Mapping of the BALB/c Ly49 cluster defines a minimal natural killer cell receptor gene repertoire. *Genomics* 84:669.
- Linsley, P. S., and J. A. Ledbetter. 1993. The role of the CD28 receptor during T cell responses to antigen. *Annu Rev Immunol 11:191*.
- Moretta, A., S. Sivori, M. Vitale, D. Pende, L. Morelli, R. Augugliaro, C. Bottino, and L. Moretta. 1995. Existence of both inhibitory (p58) and activatory (p50) receptors for HLA-C molecules in human natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* 182:875.
- Biassoni, R., A. Pessino, A. Malaspina, C. Cantoni, C. Bottino, S. Sivori, L. Moretta, and A. Moretta. 1997. Role of amino acid position 70 in the binding affinity of p50.1 and p58.1 receptors for HLA-Cw4 molecules. *Eur J Immunol 27:3095*.
- Nakamura, M. C., P. A. Linnemeyer, E. C. Niemi, L. H. Mason, J. R.
 Ortaldo, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 1999. Mouse Ly-49D recognizes
 H-2Dd and activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med* 189:493.
- Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, C. W. McMahon, D. H. Busch, E. G. Pamer, J.
 D. Miller, J. D. Altman, Y. Liu, D. Cado, F. A. Lemonnier, P. J.

Bjorkman, and D. H. Raulet. 1999. Direct assessment of MHC class I binding by seven Ly49 inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Immunity* 11:67.

- Mason, L. H., J. Willette-Brown, S. K. Anderson, W. G. Alvord, R. L. Klabansky, H. A. Young, and J. R. Ortaldo. 2003. Receptor glycosylation regulates Ly-49 binding to MHC class I. *J Immunol 171:4235*.
- Adams, E. J., Z. S. Juo, R. T. Venook, M. J. Boulanger, H. Arase, L. L. Lanier, and K. C. Garcia. 2007. Structural elucidation of the m157 mouse cytomegalovirus ligand for Ly49 natural killer cell receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:10128*.
- 21. Dustin, M. L., T. G. Bivona, and M. R. Philips. 2004. Membranes as messengers in T cell adhesion signaling. *Nat Immunol 5:363*.
- 22. van der Merwe, P. A., and S. J. Davis. 2003. Molecular interactions mediating T cell antigen recognition. *Annu Rev Immunol 21:659*.
- 23. Gessner, J. E., H. Heiken, A. Tamm, and R. E. Schmidt. 1998. The IgG Fc receptor family. *Ann Hematol* 76:231.
- 24. Carrasco, Y. R., S. J. Fleire, T. Cameron, M. L. Dustin, and F. D. Batista.
 2004. LFA-1/ICAM-1 interaction lowers the threshold of B cell activation by facilitating B cell adhesion and synapse formation. *Immunity 20:589*.
- Irvine, D. J., M. A. Purbhoo, M. Krogsgaard, and M. M. Davis. 2002.
 Direct observation of ligand recognition by T cells. *Nature 419:845*.
- Callewaert, D. M., P. Meyers, J. Hiernaux, and G. Radcliff. 1988. Kinetics of cellular cytotoxicity mediated by cloned cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Immunobiology 178:203*.
- Mahle, N. H., G. Radcliff, C. L. Sevilla, J. Kornbluth, and D. M.
 Callewaert. 1989. Kinetics of cellular cytotoxicity mediated by a cloned human natural killer cell line. *Immunobiology* 179:230.
- Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2006. Synergy among receptors on resting NK cells for the activation of natural cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. *Blood 107:159*.
- 29. Dustin, M. L., and T. A. Springer. 1989. T-cell receptor cross-linking transiently stimulates adhesiveness through LFA-1. *Nature 341:619*.

- Betts, M. R., J. M. Brenchley, D. A. Price, S. C. De Rosa, D. C. Douek, M. Roederer, and R. A. Koup. 2003. Sensitive and viable identification of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells by a flow cytometric assay for degranulation. *J Immunol Methods 281:65*.
- Mason, L. H., J. Willette-Brown, L. S. Taylor, and D. W. McVicar. 2006. Regulation of Ly49D/DAP12 signal transduction by Src-family kinases and CD45. *J Immunol* 176:6615.
- Ni, H. T., M. J. Deeths, W. Li, D. L. Mueller, and M. F. Mescher. 1999.
 Signaling pathways activated by leukocyte function-associated Ag-1dependent costimulation. *J Immunol 162:5183*.
- 33. Porter, J. C., M. Bracke, A. Smith, D. Davies, and N. Hogg. 2002.
 Signaling through integrin LFA-1 leads to filamentous actin polymerization and remodeling, resulting in enhanced T cell adhesion. J Immunol 168:6330.
- Suzuki, J., S. Yamasaki, J. Wu, G. A. Koretzky, and T. Saito. 2007. The actin cloud induced by LFA-1-mediated outside-in signals lowers the threshold for T-cell activation. *Blood 109:168*.
- 35. Leitinger, B., and N. Hogg. 2002. The involvement of lipid rafts in the regulation of integrin function. *J Cell Sci 115:963*.
- Kabouridis, P. S. 2006. Lipid rafts in T cell receptor signalling. Mol Membr Biol 23:49.
- Chiesa, S., M. Mingueneau, N. Fuseri, B. Malissen, D. H. Raulet, M. Malissen, E. Vivier, and E. Tomasello. 2006. Multiplicity and plasticity of natural killer cell signaling pathways. *Blood 107:2364*.
- 38. Fabbri, M., S. Di Meglio, M. C. Gagliani, E. Consonni, R. Molteni, J. R. Bender, C. Tacchetti, and R. Pardi. 2005. Dynamic partitioning into lipid rafts controls the endo-exocytic cycle of the alphaL/beta2 integrin, LFA-1, during leukocyte chemotaxis. *Mol Biol Cell 16:5793*.
- Bryceson, Y. T., M. E. March, D. F. Barber, H. G. Ljunggren, and E. O. Long. 2005. Cytolytic granule polarization and degranulation controlled by different receptors in resting NK cells. *J Exp Med 202:1001*.
- Mocsai, A., M. Zhou, F. Meng, V. L. Tybulewicz, and C. A. Lowell.
 2002. Syk is required for integrin signaling in neutrophils. *Immunity* 16:547.
- Matsusaka, S., Y. Tohyama, J. He, Y. Shi, R. Hazama, T. Kadono, R. Kurihara, K. Tohyama, and H. Yamamura. 2005. Protein-tyrosine kinase, Syk, is required for CXCL12-induced polarization of B cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun 328:1163*.
- Mocsai, A., C. L. Abram, Z. Jakus, Y. Hu, L. L. Lanier, and C. A. Lowell.
 2006. Integrin signaling in neutrophils and macrophages uses adaptors containing immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs. *Nat Immunol* 7:1326.
- Masilamani, M., C. Nguyen, J. Kabat, F. Borrego, and J. E. Coligan. 2006. CD94/NKG2A inhibits NK cell activation by disrupting the actin network at the immunological synapse. *J Immunol 177:3590*.
- Perez, O. D., D. Mitchell, G. C. Jager, S. South, C. Murriel, J. McBride, L.
 A. Herzenberg, S. Kinoshita, and G. P. Nolan. 2003. Leukocyte functional antigen 1 lowers T cell activation thresholds and signaling through cytohesin-1 and Jun-activating binding protein 1. *Nat Immunol 4:1083*.
- 45. Lanier, L. L., and A. B. Bakker. 2000. The ITAM-bearing transmembrane adaptor DAP12 in lymphoid and myeloid cell function. *Immunol Today* 21:611.
- Tomasello, E., P. O. Desmoulins, K. Chemin, S. Guia, H. Cremer, J. Ortaldo, P. Love, D. Kaiserlian, and E. Vivier. 2000. Combined natural killer cell and dendritic cell functional deficiency in KARAP/DAP12 loss-of-function mutant mice. *Immunity* 13:355.
- 47. Kirwan, S. E., and D. N. Burshtyn. 2007. Regulation of natural killer cell activity. *Curr Opin Immunol 19:46*.
- Cella, M., K. Fujikawa, I. Tassi, S. Kim, K. Latinis, S. Nishi, W. Yokoyama, M. Colonna, and W. Swat. 2004. Differential requirements for Vav proteins in DAP10- and ITAM-mediated NK cell cytotoxicity. *J Exp Med 200:817*.

- Ljutic, B., J. R. Carlyle, D. Filipp, R. Nakagawa, M. Julius, and J. C. Zuniga-Pflucker. 2005. Functional requirements for signaling through the stimulatory and inhibitory mouse NKR-P1 (CD161) NK cell receptors. J Immunol 174:4789.
- 50. Fernandez, N. C., E. Treiner, R. E. Vance, A. M. Jamieson, S. Lemieux, and D. H. Raulet. 2005. A subset of natural killer cells achieves selftolerance without expressing inhibitory receptors specific for self-MHC molecules. *Blood 105:4416*.
- Smith, H. R., H. H. Chuang, L. L. Wang, M. Salcedo, J. W. Heusel, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2000. Nonstochastic coexpression of activation receptors on murine natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* 191:1341.
- Shibuya, K., L. L. Lanier, J. H. Phillips, H. D. Ochs, K. Shimizu, E. Nakayama, H. Nakauchi, and A. Shibuya. 1999. Physical and functional association of LFA-1 with DNAM-1 adhesion molecule. *Immunity* 11:615.
- Tanimura, N., S. Saitoh, S. Kawano, A. Kosugi, and K. Miyake. 2006.
 Palmitoylation of LAT contributes to its subcellular localization and stability. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 341:1177.
- 54. He, H. T., A. Lellouch, and D. Marguet. 2005. Lipid rafts and the initiation of T cell receptor signaling. *Semin Immunol* 17:23.
- 55. Weber, J. R., S. Orstavik, K. M. Torgersen, N. C. Danbolt, S. F. Berg, J. C. Ryan, K. Tasken, J. B. Imboden, and J. T. Vaage. 1998. Molecular cloning of the cDNA encoding pp36, a tyrosine-phosphorylated adaptor protein selectively expressed by T cells and natural killer cells. *J Exp Med* 187:1157.
- Zhang, W., C. L. Sommers, D. N. Burshtyn, C. C. Stebbins, J. B. DeJarnette, R. P. Trible, A. Grinberg, H. C. Tsay, H. M. Jacobs, C. M. Kessler, E. O. Long, P. E. Love, and L. E. Samelson. 1999. Essential role of LAT in T cell development. *Immunity 10:323*.
- Peterson, E. J., J. L. Clements, Z. K. Ballas, and G. A. Koretzky. 1999.
 NK cytokine secretion and cytotoxicity occur independently of the SLP-76 adaptor protein. *Eur J Immunol 29:2223*.

- Peterson, E. J., M. L. Woods, S. A. Dmowski, G. Derimanov, M. S. Jordan, J. N. Wu, P. S. Myung, Q. H. Liu, J. T. Pribila, B. D. Freedman, Y. Shimizu, and G. A. Koretzky. 2001. Coupling of the TCR to integrin activation by Slap-130/Fyb. *Science 293:2263*.
- 59. Kinashi, T. 2005. Intracellular signalling controlling integrin activation in lymphocytes. *Nat Rev Immunol 5:546*.
- Menasche, G., S. Kliche, E. J. Chen, T. E. Stradal, B. Schraven, and G. Koretzky. 2007. RIAM links the ADAP/SKAP-55 signaling module to Rap1, facilitating T-cell-receptor-mediated integrin activation. *Mol Cell Biol 27:4070*.
- Katagiri, K., M. Shimonaka, and T. Kinashi. 2004. Rap1-mediated lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 activation by the T cell antigen receptor is dependent on phospholipase C-gamma1. *J Biol Chem* 279:11875.
- Duchniewicz, M., T. Zemojtel, M. Kolanczyk, S. Grossmann, J. S.
 Scheele, and F. J. Zwartkruis. 2006. Rap1A-deficient T and B cells show impaired integrin-mediated cell adhesion. *Mol Cell Biol 26:643*.
- McLeod, S. J., A. J. Shum, R. L. Lee, F. Takei, and M. R. Gold. 2004. The Rap GTPases regulate integrin-mediated adhesion, cell spreading, actin polymerization, and Pyk2 tyrosine phosphorylation in B lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 279:12009.
- Konstandin, M. H., U. Sester, M. Klemke, T. Weschenfelder, G. H.
 Wabnitz, and Y. Samstag. 2006. A novel flow-cytometry-based assay for quantification of affinity and avidity changes of integrins. *J Immunol Methods* 310:67.
- 65. Labadia, M. E., D. D. Jeanfavre, G. O. Caviness, and M. M. Morelock.
 1998. Molecular regulation of the interaction between leukocyte functionassociated antigen-1 and soluble ICAM-1 by divalent metal cations. J Immunol 161:836.

- Billadeau, D. D., J. L. Upshaw, R. A. Schoon, C. J. Dick, and P. J. Leibson. 2003. NKG2D-DAP10 triggers human NK cell-mediated killing via a Syk-independent regulatory pathway. *Nat Immunol 4:557*.
- Zhang, W., R. P. Trible, and L. E. Samelson. 1998. LAT palmitoylation: its essential role in membrane microdomain targeting and tyrosine phosphorylation during T cell activation. *Immunity* 9:239.
- Silver, E. T., J. F. Elliott, and K. P. Kane. 1996. Alternatively spliced Ly-49D and H transcripts are found in IL-2-activated NK cells. *Immunogenetics* 44:478.

Appendix



Appendix 1. Ly49A disrupts adhesion between NK cells and susceptible target cells its ligand H-2D^d. RNK-16 cells stably expressing Ly-49A were co-incubated (E/T 2/1) with YB2/0 target cells, or YB2/0 cells stably transfected with H-2D^d, and the percent adhesion was determined over time as outlined in the *Materials and Methods* section in Chapter 3.



Appendix 2. Ly-49-mediated lysis requires SFK and Syk kinase activity. RNK-P effector cells were co-incubated with ⁵¹Cr-labeled P815 target cells (E/T 12.5/1) in the presence of the indicated concentrations of the SFK inhibitor PP2, or the Syk inhibitor piceatannol as outlined in the *Materials and Methods* section in **Chapter 3**. These results are representative of two independent experiments with results representing the mean values \pm SD.



Appendix 3. Activating KIR increase adhesion of human NK clones to target cells bearing their MHC I ligand. (A) Human KIR2DS positive NK clones specifically lyse 721.221 cells expressing HLA-Cw15, but not HLA-Cw7. Human NK clones were prepared from healthy donors. Selected clones were pre-incubated with HP3E4 (anti-KIR) or control IgM then incubated with 51 Cr labeled Cw7, or Cw15 expressing targets in a 51 Cr release cytotoxicity assay. (B) KIR2D positive human NK clones specifically increase adhesion to susceptible target cells. Selected human NK clones were harvested, labeled with PKH dyes then co-incubated with labeled 221-Cw15 cells (E/T 1/3) for 10 min at 37 ° C. For antibody blocking, cells were incubated with HP3E4 or cIgM for 10 mins at RT, targets were added, then incubated at 37 ° C for 10 mins. Data represent the mean of triplicate samples ± SD.



Appendix 4. Ly-49D crosslinking on ex vivo NK cells results in increased LFA-1 affinity and avidity. Changes in LFA-1 avidity were measured as previously described (1). DX5-enriched NK cells were treated with anti-Ly49D or anti-H2 (M1/42) mAb ($1\mu g/10^6$ cells) and gor secondary mAb (0.5 $\mu g/mL$), or PMA (50 µg/mL) then added to pre-formed sICAM-1-Fc complexes in the presence or absence of either anti-LFA-1 blocking antibodies, or F4/80 (5µg/mL) for 0 or 2 min at 37 ° C. sICAM-1-Fc complexes were generated by mixing 1 µg of sICAM-1 with 0.5 µg/mL of polyclonal goat anti-human IgG1-(Fab)₂^{APC} for each sample in a teflon tube, then diluting to a volume of 10 μ L using PBS containing 1 mM MgCl₂, and 0.9 mM CaCl₂. At the indicated times, NK cells were fixed using room temperature 2 % p-formaldehyde then the percentage of sICAM-1-Fc complex binding to the cells was assessed. sICAM-1-Fc complex staining of untreated DX5-enriched NK cells were used to determine background levels of sICAM-1 staining, which were subsequently used to normalize the percentage of soluble complex (APC) positive cells within the Ly-49D⁺ NK cell subset using three color flow cytometry (DX5/Ly49D^{FITC}/sICAM complex ^{APC}). Mean values were derived from duplicate samples, with SD. These results are a representation of two independent experiments.

 Konstandin, M. H., U. Sester, M. Klemke, T. Weschenfelder, G. H. Wabnitz, and Y. Samstag. 2006. A novel flow-cytometry-based assay for quantification of affinity and avidity changes of integrins. *J Immunol Methods 310:67*.